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REGISTRATION NOS. 333-73138 AND 333-81906

[LOEWS LOGO]
35,000,000 SHARES
LOEWS CORPORATION

CAROLINA GROUP STOCK

$28.00 PER SHARE

Loews Corporation is offering 35,000,000 shares of a new class of its
common stock which we refer to as "Carolina Group stock." This stock is designed
to track the performance of the Carolina Group, which will initially consist of
our ownership interest in our wholly owned subsidiary, Lorillard, Inc., together
with the notional, intergroup debt and certain other liabilities that we
describe in this prospectus. Holders of Carolina Group stock will be common
stockholders of Loews and subject to all the risks of an equity investment in
Loews and all of its businesses, assets and liabilities. No public market
currently exists for Carolina Group stock. Following this offering, Loews will
own all of the remaining economic interest in the Carolina Group. Loews has
granted the underwriters an option to purchase up to 5,250,000 additional shares
of Carolina Group stock to cover over-allotments.

Carolina Group stock has been approved for listing on the New York Stock
Exchange under the symbol "CG."

INVESTING IN CAROLINA GROUP STOCK INVOLVES RISKS. SEE "RISK FACTORS —--—
CAROLINA GROUP STOCK" AND "RISK FACTORS —-- THE CAROLINA GROUP" BEGINNING ON
PAGES 13 AND 21, RESPECTIVELY.

Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor any other securities
regulator has approved or disapproved of these securities or determined if this
prospectus is truthful or complete. Any representation to the contrary is a
criminal offense.

PER SHARE TOTAL
Public Offering Price $28.00 $980,000, 000
Underwriting Discount $ 1.33 $ 46,550,000
Proceeds to Loews, before expenses $26.67 $933,450,000

The underwriters expect to deliver the shares to purchasers on or about
February 6, 2002.

SALOMON SMITH BARNEY MORGAN STANLEY

CREDIT SUISSE FIRST BOSTON
GOLDMAN, SACHS & CO.
LEHMAN BROTHERS
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BANC OF AMERICA SECURITIES LLC JPMORGAN

January 31, 2002

[ARTWORK: PICTURES OF BRAND LOGOS AND PACKAGING]

UBS WARBURG

You should rely only on the information contained in, or incorporated by
reference in, this prospectus. We have not authorized anyone to provide you with
different information. We are not making an offer of these securities in any
state where the offer is not permitted. You should not assume that the
information contained in this prospectus is accurate as of any date other than

the date on the front of this prospectus.
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This summary highlights selected information from this document and may not
contain all of the information that is important to you. To better understand
as well as those
additional documents to which we refer you. See "Where You Can Find More

this offering you should read this entire document carefully,

Information” on page 111. All references to "we," "our," or

"yg"

in this
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prospectus are to Loews Corporation. All references to Lorillard are to
Lorillard, Inc. and its subsidiaries.

THE CAROLINA GROUP
GENERAL

The principal asset attributed to the Carolina Group is Loews's 100% stock
ownership interest in Lorillard, Inc. Lorillard engages in the production and
sale of cigarettes in the United States, including Puerto Rico and certain U.S.
territories. Founded in 1760 by Pierre Lorillard in New York, Lorillard is the
oldest continuously operating tobacco company in the United States. Lorillard
has a long history of taking innovative steps in the tobacco industry. In 1926,
Lorillard introduced its first blended cigarette product under the 0ld Gold
label. Lorillard launched its first filter cigarette, Kent, in 1952. In 1957,
Lorillard introduced its current leading brand, Newport, and premiered True in
1966. Lorillard became a wholly owned subsidiary of Loews in 1971.

Lorillard ranked fourth overall in the U.S. cigarette industry with a 9.3%
share of the market in 2000. Total shipments for the U.S. cigarette market in
2000 were approximately 435.0 billion units. Newport, a menthol flavored premium
brand, and Lorillard's largest selling brand, was the second largest selling
brand in the United States in 2000. Newport accounted for approximately 7.3% of
units shipped in the United States in 2000, second only to Marlboro, Philip
Morris's leading brand. Newport is the largest selling brand in the menthol
segment of the U.S. cigarette market, with a 29.4% share of that segment in
2000. Newport accounted for approximately 80% of Lorillard's units shipped in
2000 and approximately 84% of Lorillard's units shipped in the nine-month period
ended September 30, 2001. The Lorillard product line is comprised of eight brand
families consisting of 63 combinations of price, taste, flavor, length and
packaging. In addition to Newport, Lorillard currently markets cigarettes under
the Kent, True, Maverick, 0ld Gold, Max, Satin and Triumph brand names.

STRATEGY

Lorillard's primary long-term business objective is to increase earnings
and profits while responsibly marketing high-quality tobacco products to adult
smokers within the current regulatory and statutory framework. Lorillard aims to
meet this objective through the focused advertising and promotion of the Newport
brand, which is the leading menthol brand and second largest overall brand in
the U.S. cigarette market.

An important component of Lorillard's long-term business strategy involves
product line extensions. In January of 2001, Lorillard introduced Newport
Medium, the latest Newport product. Lorillard believes that this line extension
will strengthen Newport's overall appeal to adult smokers by offering an
additional menthol taste option. Lorillard expects to consider additional
Newport and other line extensions from time to time in the future.

In order to complement its primary emphasis on Newport, Lorillard makes
selective marketing expenditures on its other brands based on its assessment of
marketplace opportunity and the prospect for profitable returns on those
expenditures. As a general matter, Lorillard will support a particular brand
only if it believes that it can maintain or increase individual brand
profitability.

Like all Lorillard brands, Lorillard's discount brands are managed for
profitability. Lorillard's discount brands fill out the Lorillard brand
portfolio and enhance retail representation of Lorillard brands by providing
retailers and adult smokers a broader range of Lorillard product offerings.
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In its effort to increase earnings and profits, Lorillard continuously
explores opportunities to reduce costs and otherwise improve operating
efficiencies in all areas of its business, including manufacturing processes and
raw material procurement. Lorillard manages its production processes to promote
efficiency and quality control.

COMPETITIVE STRENGTHS

The Newport Brand. As the leading brand in the menthol segment and the
number two U.S. brand overall, Newport enjoys strong brand recognition.
Introduced in 1957, Newport has a 44-year history and is the largest selling
U.S. menthol brand. Lorillard introduced "pleasure," its Newport marketing
theme, in 1972. Lorillard reinforces the Newport "pleasure" theme in all aspects
of its advertising and promotion of Newport. Lorillard believes that this
consistent marketing focus enhances the value of the Newport brand.

Strength in the Menthol Cigarette Segment. The menthol segment has
consistently accounted for approximately 25% of the overall U.S. cigarette
market over the last five years. With a 29.4% share of the U.S. menthol segment
in 2000, Lorillard believes that Newport is well positioned in this relatively
stable category of the U.S. cigarette market, despite the Philip Morris Retail
Leaders program, which Lorillard believes has substantially restrained its
ability to advertise, promote and market Newport more effectively.

Emphasis on the Premium Segment. Lorillard focuses its marketing efforts
on the relatively more profitable premium segment of the U.S. cigarette
industry. In 2000, premium cigarettes comprised 87.3% of total units shipped by
Lorillard and Lorillard accounted for 11.5% of all premium cigarettes shipped in
the United States.

Superior Profitability. Among Lorillard, Philip Morris and R.J. Reynolds,
Lorillard was the most profitable U.S. cigarette company, as measured by
operating income per 1,000 units shipped in the United States, for the years
2000, 1999 and 1998. Lorillard believes it could have been even more profitable
but for the Philip Morris Retail Leaders program, which Lorillard believes has
had an anti-competitive effect on it.

CAROLINA GROUP ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

We will initially attribute the following assets and liabilities to the
Carolina Group:

- Loews's 100% stock ownership interest in Lorillard, Inc.;

- $2.5 billion of notional, intergroup debt owed by the Carolina Group to
the Loews Group, bearing interest at the annual rate of 8.0% and, subject
to optional prepayment, due December 31, 2021; and

- any and all liabilities, costs and expenses of Loews and Lorillard, Inc.
and the subsidiaries and predecessors of Lorillard, Inc., arising out of
or related to tobacco or otherwise arising out of the past, present or
future business of Lorillard, Inc. or its subsidiaries or predecessors,
or claims arising out of or related to the sale of any businesses
previously sold by Lorillard, Inc. or its subsidiaries or predecessors,
in each case, whether grounded in tort, contract, statute or otherwise,
whether pending or asserted in the future.

2

We will also attribute the following additional assets and liabilities to
the Carolina Group:
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— all net income or net losses arising from the assets and liabilities that
are reflected in the Carolina Group and all net proceeds from any
disposition of those assets, in each case, after deductions to reflect
dividends paid to holders of Carolina Group stock or credited to the
Loews Group in respect of its intergroup interest; and

- any acquisitions or investments made from assets reflected in the
Carolina Group.

THE LOEWS GROUP

The Loews Group will initially consist of all of Loews's assets and
liabilities other than the ownership interest in the Carolina Group represented
by any outstanding Carolina Group stock, and will include as an asset the
notional, intergroup debt of the Carolina Group. The principal assets of the
Loews Group will thus include:

- CNA Financial Corporation (89% ownership) -- one of the largest property
and casualty insurance organizations in the United States;

— Loews Hotels Holding Corporation (wholly owned) —-- operates 17 hotels and
resorts;
— Diamond Offshore Drilling, Inc. (53% ownership) -- one of the world's

largest offshore drilling companies;

- Bulova Corporation (97% ownership) -- a major distributor and marketer of
watches and clocks;

- Carolina Group (majority of economic interest represented by an
intergroup interest); and

— Subsidiaries engaged in the ownership and operation of crude oil tankers.

Our principal executive offices are at 667 Madison Avenue, New York, New York
10021-8087. Our telephone number is (212) 521-2000. We are incorporated under
the laws of the State of Delaware.

PRINCIPAL TERMS OF CAROLINA GROUP STOCK
VOTING RIGHTS

Each outstanding share of Carolina Group stock will initially have 1/10 of
a vote per share. The voting rights of Carolina Group stock will be subject to
adjustments to reflect stock splits, reverse stock splits, stock dividends or
certain stock distributions with respect to Loews common stock and Carolina
Group stock. Except as otherwise required by Delaware law or any special voting
rights of any class or series of Loews preferred stock or any other class of
Loews common shares, holders of shares of Carolina Group stock will vote as one
class with holders of shares of Loews common stock with respect to all matters
to be voted on by the shareholders of Loews.

3

DIVIDENDS

Dividends on Carolina Group stock are limited to an available dividend
amount equal to the lesser of:

— the assets of Loews legally available for dividends; and

— the amount that would legally be available for dividends on Carolina
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Group stock if the Carolina Group were a separate Delaware corporation.

Any dividend paid on one class of stock will reduce the amount available to
pay future dividends on both classes of common stock. While we can offer no
assurance that we will do so, we currently intend to pay a quarterly dividend on
Carolina Group stock of $0.445 per share following its issuance. The first
dividend is expected to be declared in May of 2002 and payable in June of 2002.
The first dividend payment will cover the first three months of the year even
though the Carolina Group stock will have been outstanding for less than three
months. The payment of dividends on Carolina Group stock will be a business
decision that our board of directors makes from time to time based upon the
dividends paid to Loews by its subsidiaries, the capital requirements of Loews
and other factors that our board of directors considers relevant. The failure of
the independent boards of directors of Lorillard Tobacco Company or Lorillard,
Inc. to pay dividends could lead to our decreasing or eliminating dividends on
Carolina Group stock.

REDEMPTION

Redemption in exchange for shares of Loews common stock or cash following a
tax event. At any time following the occurrence of a tax event, our board of
directors, in its sole discretion, may redeem all outstanding shares of Carolina
Group stock for (1) shares of Loews common stock at 100% of market value or (2)
cash at 105% of market value.

Redemption in exchange for shares of Loews common stock or cash following
the second anniversary of the public issuance of Carolina Group stock. At any
time following the second anniversary of the date that Carolina Group stock is
initially issued until the 90th day after the occurrence of a disposition of all
or substantially all of the assets attributed to the Carolina Group, our board
of directors, in its sole discretion, may redeem all outstanding shares of
Carolina Group stock for (1) shares of Loews common stock at 115% of market
value or (2) cash at 120% of market wvalue.

Redemption in exchange for stock of qualifying subsidiaries. Loews may, in
its sole discretion, at any time, without shareholder approval, redeem all
outstanding shares of Carolina Group stock in exchange for common stock of a
subsidiary of Loews that satisfies certain requirements under the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and that directly or indirectly holds all of
the assets and liabilities of the Carolina Group (and no other material assets
or liabilities).

Redemption in connection with significant transactions. If 80% or more of
the assets attributed to the Carolina Group are sold:

- Loews will pay a special dividend to holders of Carolina Group Stock in
an amount equal to their pro rata share of the net proceeds (subject to
reduction for repayment of notional debt, amounts not distributed from
Lorillard to Loews and the creation by Loews of reserves for
tobacco-related contingent liabilities and future costs) from the
disposition in the form of cash and/or securities (other than Loews
common stock);

— Loews will redeem shares of Carolina Group stock for cash and/or
securities (other than Loews common stock) in an amount equal to the pro
rata share of the net proceeds (subject to reduction for repayment of
notional debt) from the disposition;

4

— Loews will redeem shares of Carolina Group stock for shares of Loews
common stock at a 15% premium based on the respective market values of
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Carolina Group stock and Loews common stock during the 20 consecutive
trading days ending on the 5th trading day prior to announcement of the

sale; or

— Loews will take some combination of the actions described above.

Our board of directors has the discretion to choose among the foregoing options.

If, on the 91st day following the sale of 80% or more of the assets
attributed to the Carolina Group, Loews has not redeemed all of the outstanding
shares of Carolina Group stock and if Lorillard subsequently distributes to
Loews any previously undistributed portion of the net proceeds and/or Loews
subsequently releases any amount of net proceeds previously retained by Loews as
a reserve for tobacco-related contingent liabilities or future costs, Loews will
distribute the pro rata share of such amounts to holders of Carolina Group

stock. At any time after:

— Lorillard has distributed to Loews all previously undistributed portions

of the net proceeds;

- no amounts remain in reserve in respect of tobacco-related contingent

liabilities and future costs; and

- the remaining assets of the Carolina Group consist solely of cash and/or

cash equivalents,

Loews may redeem all of the outstanding shares of Carolina Group stock for the
greater of (1) the pro rata share of the remaining assets of the Carolina Group,

and (2) $.001 per share of Carolina Group stock.

RISK FACTORS

See "Risk Factors —-- Carolina Group Stock" and "Risk Factors —-- The
Carolina Group," beginning on pages 13 and 21, respectively, for a discussion of
risk factors relating to an investment in the Carolina Group stock offered
through this prospectus and the business of the Carolina Group.

5

THE OFFERING

Carolina Group stock offered.......... ...,

Carolina Group stock to be outstanding after this
[ a1 o L

Loews Group intergroup interest expressed in Carolina
Group share equivalents........coiiiiiiiinnnneennnn

Shares and Carolina Group share equivalents to be
outstanding after this offering....................

New York Stock Exchange symbol............iiiieeennn..
USe Of PrOCEEAS . v i ittt ittt ittt et ettt eaeeeeeeeens

35,000,000 shares (representing 20.1% of t

economic interest in the Carolina Group)

35,000,000 shares (representing 20.1% of t

economic interest in the Carolina Group)

138,750,000 shares (representing 79.9% of

the economic interest in the Carolina Grou

173,750,000 shares (representing 100% of t

economic interest in the Carolina Group)
IICGII

The net proceeds from this offering,
estimated to be approximately $930.5
million, after deducting underwriting
discounts and commissions and estimated
offering expenses of approximately $49.6
million, will be allocated to the Loews
Group and used for its general corporate

7
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purposes.

The number of shares of Carolina Group stock to be outstanding after this
offering does not include shares of Carolina Group stock underlying stock option
awards that we expect to issue to officers, employees, non-employee directors
and consultants of Lorillard upon completion of this offering and assumes no
exercise of the underwriters' over-allotment option. We have granted to 49
officers, employees and non-employee directors of Lorillard options with respect
to an aggregate of 208,000 shares of Carolina Group stock at an exercise price
equal to the public offering price.

Following this offering, the remaining interest in the Carolina Group not
represented by the Carolina Group stock issued in this offering will be
reflected in the financial statements of the Loews Group as an "intergroup
interest" in the Carolina Group.

SUMMARY HISTORICAL FINANCIAL DATA

This information is only a summary and you should read it together with the
financial information we include elsewhere in this prospectus or that we
incorporate by reference in this prospectus. For copies of the financial
information we incorporate by reference, see "Where You Can Find More
Information” on page 111.

LOEWS CORPORATION

In the table below, we provide you with summary historical consolidated
financial data of Loews. We prepared this information using our consolidated
financial statements at and for each of the fiscal years in the five-year period
ended December 31, 2000 and at and for the nine-month periods ended September
30, 2001 and 2000. We derived the historical consolidated results of operations
data below for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31,
2000, and the historical consolidated balance sheet data at December 31, 2000
and 1999 from consolidated financial statements incorporated by reference in
this prospectus audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, independent auditors. We
derived the historical consolidated results of operations data below for each of
the years in the two-year period ended December 31, 1997 and the historical
consolidated balance sheet data at December 31, 1998, 1997 and 1996 from audited
consolidated financial statements not included or incorporated by reference in
this prospectus. We derived the remaining data from unaudited consolidated
financial statements for the periods presented.

In the table below, we also present pro forma income (loss) data for the
Loews Group and the Carolina Group. We have included unaudited pro forma
financial statements for the Carolina Group starting on page F-54 of this
prospectus.

NINE MONTHS ENDED

SEPTEMBER 30 YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31

(IN MILLIONS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA)

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS:

Revenues(l) ................ $14,263.4 $15,727.0 $21,261.2 $21,442.7 $21,296.0

Income (loss) before taxes,

$20,266.
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minority interest and
cumulative effect of
changes in accounting

principles -- net........ $(1,169.4) $ 2,346.2 $ 3,205.9 $ 944.2 $ 1,077.4 $ 1,593.
Income (loss) before
cumulative effect of
accounting changes....... S (723.9) $ 1,373.8 $ 1,876.7 S 521.1 S 464.8 S 793.
Cumulative effect of
changes in accounting
principles —-— net........ (53.3) (157.9)
Net income (1l0oSS).......... $ (777.2) $ 1,373.8 $ 1,876.7 S 363.2 $ 464.8 $ 793
INCOME (LOSS) PER SHARE:
Income (loss) before
cumulative effect of
accounting changes....... S (3.68) S 6.90 S 9.44 S 2.40 S 2.03 S 3.4
Cumulative effect of
changes in accounting
principles —-— net........ (0.27) (0.73)
Net income (loSS) .......o... S (3.95) S 6.90 S 9.44 S 1.67 S 2.03 S 3.4
7
NINE MONTHS YEAR ENDED
ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2001 DECEMBER 31,

(IN MILLIONS,

PRO FORMA INCOME
Loews Group (2)

(LOSS)

Income (loss) before cumulative effect of

accounting changes. .. ...ttt et eeeeeeennnns $(801.2)
LS = o = = S (4.07)
Shares of Loews common stock outstanding........... 196.7

Carolina Group (3)

Income (loss) before cumulative effect of

accounting changes. .. ...ttt te e eeannns $ 77.3
Per SNAT . ittt ettt ettt e e e e e e $ 2.21
Shares of Carolina Group stock outstanding......... 35.0

EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA)

$1,750.1
$ 8.81
198.7
$ 126.6
$ 3.62
35.0

(1) Certain amounts applicable to prior periods have been reclassified to
conform to the presentation followed in 2001.
(2) Pro forma income (loss) before cumulative effect of accounting changes for
the Loews Group gives effect to the following pro forma adjustments:
(a) To accrue interest income on $2.5 billion of notional, intergroup debt
at a rate of 8.0% per annum, net of taxes.
(b) To reflect the Loews Group's 79.9% intergroup interest in the earnings
of the Carolina Group.
(3) Pro forma income (loss) before cumulative effect of accounting changes for
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the Carolina Group gives effect to the following pro forma adjustments:

(a) To accrue interest expense on $2.5 billion of notional, intergroup
debt at a rate of 8.0% per annum, net of taxes.

(b) To reflect completion of the offering of shares of Carolina Group
stock described in this prospectus.

(c) Net of reduction for the Loews Group's 79.9% intergroup interest in
the earnings of the Carolina Group.

(4) Principal payments on notional debt in accordance with the Carolina Group
policy statement have not been included in the pro forma adjustments.

DECEMBER 31

SEPTEMBER 30  ——— == oo e

2001 2000 1999 1998

(IN MILLIONS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA)

FINANCIAL POSITION:

Investments.......oiiiiennennn. $41,404.4 $40,395.6 $40,633.0 $42,705.2
Total assets. ..., 75,597.4 70,877.1 69,463.7 70,979.4
Long-term debt........ ... ... ..., 5,442.8 6,040.0 5,706.3 5,966.7
Shareholders' equity.............. 9,710.0 11,191.1 9,977.7 10,201.2
Cash dividends per common share... 0.43 0.50 0.50 0.50
Book value per share.............. 50.71 56.74 47.75 45.31
Shares of common stock

outstanding............ .. 191.5 197.2 209.0 225.2

8

THE CAROLINA GROUP

In the table below, we provide you with summary historical combined
financial data of the Carolina Group. We prepared this information using our
combined financial statements at and for each of the fiscal years in the
five-year period ended December 31, 2000 and at and for the nine-month periods
ended September 30, 2001 and 2000. We derived the combined results of operations
data below for the nine-month period ended September 30, 2001, and each of the
years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2000, and the combined balance
sheet data at September 30, 2001 and December 31, 2000 and 1999 from combined
financial statements included in this prospectus, audited by Deloitte & Touche
LLP, independent auditors. We derived the combined results of operations data
below for each of the years in the two-year period ended December 31, 1997 and
the combined balance sheet data at December 31, 1998, 1997 and 1996 from audited
combined financial statements not included or incorporated by reference in this
prospectus. We derived the remaining data from unaudited combined financial
statements for the periods presented.

NINE MONTHS
ENDED SEPTEMBER 30 YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31

$41,
69,
5,
9,

619.
983.
752.
665.

0.50
42.02

oo e e

230.0

(IN MILLIONS)

10
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS:

Net sales (including
federal excise taxes
of $476.4, $508.4,
$667.9, $512.6,
$495.3, $491.0 and

o R A N $3,389. $3,194. $4,233.8 $3,991.3 $2,807.5 $2,391.0 $2,21
Cost of sales........... 1,699. 1,689. 2,197.7 2,069.1 979.3 973.8 93
Selling, advertising and

administrative........ 976. 670. 918.7 900.2 712.9 668.9 58
Fixed non-unit based

settlement costs...... 579.0 198.8
Operating income........ 712. 833. 1,117.4 1,022.0 536.3 549.5 68
Net investment income... 70. 70 104.9 57.4 56.8 25.1 2
Income before income

LAXES . e e ettt iieeeennnn 782 904 1,222.3 1,079.4 593.1 574.6 71
Income taxesS......oeue... 307 345 469.5 427.6 241.6 211.6 277
Net income.............. S 475 $ 558 $ 752.8 $ 651.8 $ 351.5 $ 363.0 S 44
OTHER DATA:

EBITDA (L) ¢ vt v v eeeeenn S 802. $ 924 $1,248.9 $1,118.2 S 616.9 $ 596.5 S 73

EBIT(Ll) e vv e e iiieeeenn 783. 905. 1,223.8 1,094.3 594.5 575.5 71

Cash provided by

operating
activities(2)...... 1,015. 796. 550.4 1,024.9 379.8 523.0 42
9
DECEMBER 31
SEPTEMBER 30 @ -————f-------"————
2001 2000 1999 1998 1997 199
(IN MILLIONS)
FINANCIAL POSITION:
Cash and cash equivalents,

including marketable

securities.......cuiiii., $2,015.9 $1,516.5 $1,283.9 $ 541.2 $ 609.8 $226
Current assetsS....eeeeeeeeeennn. 2,687.7 2,160.0 1,868.1 918.3 962.0 563
Current liabilities............. 1,662.9 1,074.7 1,051.6 446.3 427 .4 304
Working capital......ovveeuno... 1,024.8 1,085.3 816.5 472.0 534.6 259
Total asSSefS . e teeeeennnnn 3,201.2 2,666.6 2,208.7 1,276.3 1,337.7 897
Long-term debt.................. 4.0 4.1 4.2 4
Combined attributed net

ASSEES . ittt e e e 1,327.1 1,376.8 921.2 569.3 667.5 404

(1) EBITDA (income before income taxes plus interest,
amortization) and EBIT (income before income taxes plus interest)

depreciation and

are

supplemental financial measures used by us in evaluating our business and
should be read in conjunction with all of the information in the Selected
Historical Combined Financial Data as well as the Combined Financial

11
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Statements (including the Notes thereto) prepared in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
EBITDA and EBIT should not be considered as an alternative to income before
income taxes or cash flow from operations or as an indication of the
Carolina Group's performance or as a measure of liquidity. In addition,
these measures may not be comparable to similarly titled measures of other
companies.

(2) See the Combined Financial Statements (including the Notes thereto)
included elsewhere in this prospectus.
10

SUMMARY PRO FORMA FINANCIAL DATA OF THE CAROLINA GROUP

This information is only a summary and you should read it together with the
financial information we include elsewhere in this prospectus or that we
incorporate by reference in this prospectus. For copies of the financial
information we incorporate by reference, see "Where You Can Find More
Information” on page 111.

In the table below, we provide you with unaudited summary pro forma
condensed combined financial information of the Carolina Group assuming the
Carolina Group was a separate group as of January 1, 2000 for income statement
purposes, and as of September 30, 2001 for balance sheet purposes. This pro
forma information is based upon the historical financial statements of the
Carolina Group, adjusted as described in the notes below. This pro forma
information is not necessarily indicative of what the actual financial results
of the Carolina Group would have been had the transactions taken place on
January 1, 2000 or September 30, 2001, nor does it purport to indicate results
of future operations.

We have included detailed unaudited pro forma financial statements starting
on page F-54 of this prospectus.

NINE MONTHS

ENDED YEAR ENDED
SEPTEMBER 30, DECEMBER 31,
2001 2000

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS:
Net sales (including federal excise taxes of $476.4 and

Lo R N I T $ 3,389.5 $4,233.8
COST O SALES . it ittt ettt et ettt e e ettt ettt ettt 1,699.8 2,197.7
Selling, advertising and administrative..................... 976.9 918.7
Operating InCOmME. & ot ittt it e e e e et ettt ettt aaeeeeee 712.8 1,117.4
Investment 1NCOME. « v vt ittt it e e e ettt et ettt eeeeeeeeeeanns 70.0 104.9
TNt EresSt EXPENS . ittt ittt ettt e ettt eae et (150.0) (200.0)
Income before InCome LaXeS .. u v ittt ittt et eeeeeeeeneeneeaens 632.8 1,022.3
TN COME AR S e v v v vt e et e e ettt eaee e e eeaeeeeeeeeeeeaeeeeeanns 248.9 393.5
Netl dNCOME . ittt ittt e e et ettt e et e e e eae e eseeeeennneeeeeens $ 383.9 $ 628.8

SEPTEMBER 30,

12
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2001

FINANCIAL POSITION:
Cash and cash equivalents, including marketable

LY ol T il == $ 2,015.9
(O G ol = o B T = = w0 2,687.7
Current liabilities. ...ttt ittt ettt ettt eeeeaeeens 1,662.9
Working capital. ...ttt ittt et e ettt et 1,024.8
Total @S SEE S e i ittt ittt e it ettt ettt ettt e e 3,201.2
Long-—term debt . ...ttt it et e et et e et e -
Notional, intergroup debt...... ..ttt iteeeeeeneennn 2,500.0
Combined attributed net assets (deficiency)................. (1,172.9)
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The unaudited pro forma combined financial information for the Carolina
Group gives effect to the following pro forma adjustments:

(1) To reflect $2.5 billion of notional, intergroup debt of the Carolina
Group.

(2) To accrue interest expense at 8.0% on the notional, intergroup debt.

(3) To reflect a tax adjustment for the impact of the interest expense
discussed above.

Subsequent to September 30, 2001, Lorillard paid cash dividends to Loews of
$250.0 million in November of 2001 and $100.0 million in January of 2002. For
accounting purposes, dividends paid by Lorillard are treated as paid by the
Carolina Group to Loews.

THE CAROLINA GROUP IS A NOTIONAL GROUP THAT REFLECTS THE PERFORMANCE OF A
DEFINED SET OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES. THE CAROLINA GROUP IS NOT A SEPARATE
LEGAL ENTITY. THE PURPOSE OF THE FOREGOING FINANCIAL INFORMATION IS TO PROVIDE
INVESTORS WITH ADDITIONAL INFORMATION TO USE IN ANALYZING THE RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS AND FINANCIAL CONDITION OF THE CAROLINA GROUP, AND THE FOREGOING
FINANCIAL INFORMATION SHOULD BE READ IN CONJUNCTION WITH THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF LOEWS.

12

RISK FACTORS ——- CAROLINA GROUP STOCK

You should consider the following factors, in addition to the other
information contained elsewhere in this prospectus, in connection with this
offering.

WE CANNOT ASSURE YOU THAT LOEWS WILL PAY DIVIDENDS ON CAROLINA GROUP STOCK

Determinations as to the future dividends on Carolina Group stock primarily
will depend on the dividends paid to Loews by its subsidiaries, the capital
requirements of Loews and other factors that our board of directors considers
relevant. While we cannot assure you that we will do so, we currently intend to
pay a quarterly dividend of $0.445 per share on Carolina Group stock following
its issuance. Our board of directors could pay lesser dividends on Carolina
Group stock than it would pay if the Carolina Group were a separate Delaware
corporation. Furthermore, our ability to pay dividends on Carolina Group stock
may be reduced by dividends that we pay on Loews common stock.
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Our board of directors reserves the right to declare and pay dividends on
Carolina Group stock, and could, in its sole discretion, declare and pay
dividends, or refrain from declaring and paying dividends, on Carolina Group
stock. Our board of directors may take such actions regardless of the amounts
available for the payment of dividends for Carolina Group stock, the amount of
prior dividends declared on Carolina Group stock, the voting or liquidation
rights of Carolina Group stock, or any other factor. See "Description of Loews
Capital Stock -- Carolina Group Stock ——- Dividends" for detailed information on
the dividends we are permitted to pay with respect to Carolina Group stock.

Dividends on Carolina Group stock, if any, will be payable out of the
lesser of:

— the assets of Loews legally available for the payment of dividends; and

— the Carolina Group's "available dividend amount," which is intended to be
the amount that would legally be available for the payment of dividends
if the Carolina Group were a separate Delaware corporation.

LOEWS'S ABILITY TO PAY DIVIDENDS ON CAROLINA GROUP STOCK MAY BE LIMITED BY
LOEWS'S HOLDING COMPANY STRUCTURE

Loews is a holding company. Loews is dependent on the cash flows of its
subsidiaries and cash distributions from those subsidiaries to Loews. The
subsidiaries are separate and independent legal entities and have no obligation,
contingent or otherwise, to make funds available to Loews, whether in the form
of loans, dividends or otherwise. In addition, Loews's subsidiaries may become
parties to financing arrangements which contain limitations on the ability of
such subsidiaries to pay dividends or to make loans or advances to Loews. In the
event of any insolvency, bankruptcy or similar proceedings of a subsidiary,
creditors of such subsidiary would generally be entitled to priority over Loews
with respect to assets of the affected subsidiary.

THE INDEPENDENCE OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF LORILLARD, INC. AND THE BOARD OF
DIRECTORS OF ITS WHOLLY OWNED SUBSIDIARY, LORILLARD TOBACCO COMPANY, MAY AFFECT
LORILLARD'S PAYMENT OF DIVIDENDS TO LOEWS AND THEREBY INHIBIT LOEWS'S ABILITY OR
WILLINGNESS TO PAY DIVIDENDS AND MAKE OTHER DISTRIBUTIONS ON CAROLINA GROUP
STOCK

Loews's ability and willingness to pay dividends and make other
distributions on Carolina Group stock, including dividends and distributions
following a disposition of substantially all of the assets attributed to the
Carolina Group, will depend on a number of factors, including whether the
independent board of directors of Lorillard Tobacco Company causes Lorillard
Tobacco Company to declare dividends to its parent, Lorillard, Inc. and whether,
in turn, the independent board of directors

13

of Lorillard, Inc. causes Lorillard, Inc. to declare dividends to Loews. In the
event that Lorillard Tobacco Company or Lorillard, Inc. does not distribute its
earnings, Loews 1is unlikely to pay dividends on Carolina Group stock. To the
extent Lorillard, Inc. does not distribute net proceeds following the sale of
substantially all of the assets attributed to the Carolina Group, Loews will not
be required to apply the net proceeds to pay dividends to holders of Carolina
Group stock, or redeem shares of Carolina Group stock.

We expect that the boards of directors of each of Lorillard, Inc. and
Lorillard Tobacco Company will continue to function independently of Loews and
will direct the operations and management of the assets and businesses of those
corporations, respectively. None of the individuals currently serving as

14
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directors of Lorillard, Inc. or Lorillard Tobacco Company are officers,
directors or employees of Loews. Accordingly, each of these individuals may be
considered to be independent of Loews. Notwithstanding Loews's right, as sole
shareholder, to elect and remove directors of Lorillard, Inc., Loews has no
present intention to remove any person currently serving as a director of
Lorillard, Inc. Moreover, Loews expects that in the event of any future
vacancies on the board of directors of Lorillard, Inc., Loews will nominate
individuals who are not officers, directors or employees of Loews to fill such
vacancies.

HOLDERS OF LOEWS COMMON STOCK AND CAROLINA GROUP STOCK WILL BE SHAREHOLDERS OF
ONE COMPANY AND, THEREFORE, FINANCIAL IMPACTS ON ONE GROUP COULD AFFECT THE
OTHER GROUP

For the purposes of preparing the respective financial statements of the
Loews Group and the Carolina Group, we will attribute assets, liabilities and
shareholders' equity to these groups. However, the change in the capital
structure of Loews that will result from this offering will not affect the legal
title to those assets or the legal responsibility for those liabilities of Loews
or of any of its subsidiaries.

Holders of Loews common stock and holders of Carolina Group stock will all
be common shareholders of Loews, and will be subject to risks associated with an
investment in a single company. Financial effects arising from one group that
affect Loews's consolidated results of operations or financial condition could,
if significant, affect the market price of the class of common shares relating
to the other group. In addition, if Loews or any of its subsidiaries were to
incur significant indebtedness on behalf of one group, including indebtedness
incurred or assumed in connection with an acquisition or investment, it could
affect the credit rating of Loews and its subsidiaries taken as a whole. This,
in turn, could increase the borrowing costs of Loews. Net losses of either group
and dividends or distributions on shares of any class of common or preferred
stock will reduce the funds of Loews legally available for payment of future
dividends on Carolina Group stock. The recent terrorist attacks on the United
States have had negative effects on Loews and its subsidiaries, particularly CNA
Financial Corporation and Loews Hotels Holding Corporation. CNA Financial
Corporation also has been negatively affected by developments associated with
the recent filing by certain Enron entities for reorganization under Chapter 11
of the United States Bankruptcy Code. For these reasons, you should read Loews's
consolidated financial information together with the financial information of
the Loews Group and the Carolina Group and the documents filed by Loews with the
SEC and incorporated by reference into this prospectus.

THE MARKET PRICE OF CAROLINA GROUP STOCK MAY NOT REFLECT THE FINANCIAL
PERFORMANCE AND ECONOMIC VALUE OF THE CAROLINA GROUP AS WE INTEND AND MAY NOT
EFFECTIVELY TRACK THE SEPARATE PERFORMANCE OF THE CAROLINA GROUP

The market price of Carolina Group stock may not reflect the financial
performance and economic value of the Carolina Group as we intend. The
performance of Loews as a whole may affect the market price of Carolina Group
stock or the market price of the Carolina Group stock
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could more independently reflect the performance of the Carolina Group.
Investors may discount the value of Carolina Group stock because the Carolina
Group 1s not a separate legal entity.

THE COMPLEX NATURE OF THE TERMS OF CAROLINA GROUP STOCK, OR CONFUSION IN THE
MARKETPLACE ABOUT WHAT A TRACKING STOCK IS, COULD MATERIALLY ADVERSELY AFFECT
THE MARKET PRICE OF CAROLINA GROUP STOCK

15
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Tracking stocks like Carolina Group stock are more complex than traditional
common stock and are not directly or entirely comparable to common stock of
stand-alone companies or companies that have been spun off by their parent
companies. The complex nature of the terms of Carolina Group stock, and the
potential difficulties investors may have in understanding these terms, may
materially adversely affect the market price of Carolina Group stock. Examples
of these terms include:

— the discretion of our board of directors to make determinations that may
affect Carolina Group stock and Loews common stock differently;

— Loews's redemption and/or exchange rights under particular circumstances,
described elsewhere in this prospectus; and

— the disparate voting rights of Carolina Group stock and Loews common
stock.

Confusion in the marketplace about what a tracking stock is and what it is
intended to represent, and/or investors' reluctance to invest in tracking
stocks, could materially adversely affect the market price of Carolina Group
stock.

THE CAROLINA GROUP STOCK PRICE COULD BE VOLATILE AND INVESTORS MAY NOT BE ABLE
TO RESELL THEIR SHARES AT OR ABOVE THE PUBLIC OFFERING PRICE

No market currently exists for Carolina Group stock. Because Carolina Group
stock is intended to follow a more focused business than Loews as a whole and
because we cannot predict the extent to which investor interest in Carolina
Group stock will lead to the development of a liquid trading market for Carolina
Group stock, the market price of Carolina Group stock may be volatile. This
volatility may result from any of the following factors, some of which are
beyond our control:

— tobacco-related litigation and other contingencies affecting Lorillard or
others in the tobacco business;

- variations in Lorillard's quarterly operating results;

— changes by securities analysts in financial estimates or investment
recommendations relating to Carolina Group stock;

— changes in market wvaluations of other tobacco-related companies; and

— the potential for future sales or issuances of Loews common stock or
Carolina Group stock.

HOLDERS OF LOEWS COMMON STOCK AND CAROLINA GROUP STOCK WILL GENERALLY VOTE
TOGETHER AS A SINGLE CLASS

Following the offering of Carolina Group stock, holders of Carolina Group
stock will generally not have the right to vote separately as a class. Holders
of Carolina Group stock will have the right to vote as a separate class only to
the extent required by Delaware law. We do not plan to hold separate meetings
for holders of Carolina Group stock.

15
HOLDERS OF LOEWS COMMON STOCK WILL HAVE SIGNIFICANTLY GREATER VOTING POWER THAN

HOLDERS OF CAROLINA GROUP STOCK WITH RESPECT TO ANY MATTER AS TO WHICH ALL OF
OUR COMMON SHARES VOTE TOGETHER AS ONE CLASS
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Currently, each share of Loews common stock has one vote. Each share of
Carolina Group stock will be entitled to 1/10 of a vote, which we expect to be
disproportionately less than the initial economic interest represented by each
share of Carolina Group stock. When a vote is taken on any matter as to which
all of our common shares are voting together as one class, holders of Loews
common stock will have significantly greater voting power than holders of
Carolina Group stock. Immediately following this offering, holders of Loews
common stock will control 98.2% of the combined voting power of Loews and
holders of Carolina Group stock will control 1.8% of the combined voting power
of Loews. The percentages in the preceding sentence do not give effect to the
exercise of the underwriters' over-allotment option. The voting power of
Carolina Group stock will be subject to adjustment for stock splits, stock
dividends and combinations with respect to either class of stock.

HOLDERS OF CAROLINA GROUP STOCK MAY HAVE INTERESTS DIFFERENT FROM HOLDERS OF
LOEWS COMMON STOCK

The existence of separate classes of our common stock could give rise to
occasions when the interests of the holders of Loews common stock and Carolina
Group stock diverge or conflict or appear to diverge or conflict. Subject to its
fiduciary duties, our board of directors could, in its sole discretion, from
time to time, make determinations or implement policies that disproportionately
affect the groups or the different classes of stock. Our board of directors will
not be required to select the option that would result in the highest value for
the holders of Carolina Group stock. Examples include determinations by our
board of directors to:

- pay or omit the payment of dividends on Loews common stock or Carolina
Group stock;

— redeem shares of Carolina Group stock;
- approve dispositions of Loews assets attributed to either group;

- reallocate funds or assets between groups and determine the amount and
type of consideration paid therefor;

— allocate business opportunities, resources and personnel;

— allocate the proceeds of issuances of Carolina Group stock either to the
Loews Group, with a corresponding reduction in the intergroup interest,
if and to the extent there is an intergroup interest, or to the combined
attributed net assets of the Carolina Group;

- formulate public policy positions for Loews;

- establish relationships between the groups;

- make financial decisions with respect to one group that could be
considered to be detrimental to the other group; and

— settle or otherwise seek to resolve actual or potential litigation
against Loews in ways that might adversely affect Lorillard.

Any such decisions by our board of directors could have or be perceived to have
a negative effect on the Carolina Group and could have a negative effect on the

market price of Carolina Group stock.
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IF CAROLINA GROUP STOCK IS NOT TREATED AS A CLASS OF COMMON STOCK OF LOEWS,
SEVERAL ADVERSE FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES WILL RESULT

If Carolina Group stock is considered property other than common stock of
Loews, Loews would generally be taxed on a portion of the appreciation of the
assets reflected in the Carolina Group. According to the Carolina Group policy
statement, the Carolina Group would be responsible for the payment of these
taxes. In addition, Loews may no longer be able to file a consolidated U.S.
federal income tax return with the Carolina Group. See "Relationship Between the
Loews Group and the Carolina Group —-- Relationship with Loews -- Taxes." These
tax liabilities, if they arise, would be likely to have a material adverse
effect on Loews and the Carolina Group.

CHANGES IN THE TAX LAW OR IN THE INTERPRETATION OF CURRENT TAX LAW MAY RESULT IN
REDEMPTION OF THE CAROLINA GROUP STOCK OR CESSATION OF THE ISSUANCE OF SHARES OF
CAROLINA GROUP STOCK

If there are adverse tax consequences to the issuance of Carolina Group
stock, it 1is possible that we would not issue shares of Carolina Group stock
even if we would otherwise choose to do so. This possibility could affect the
value of Carolina Group stock then outstanding. Furthermore, we are entitled to
redeem Carolina Group stock for either (1) cash in an amount equal to 105% of
the market value of Carolina Group stock or (2) Loews common stock having a
value equal to 100% of the market value of the Carolina Group stock, if, based
upon the opinion of tax counsel, there are adverse federal income tax law
developments related to Carolina Group stock that occur after the issuance of
Carolina Group stock.

OUR BOARD OF DIRECTORS MAY REDEEM SHARES OF CAROLINA GROUP STOCK AFTER THE
SECOND ANNIVERSARY OF THE PUBLIC ISSUANCE OF CAROLINA GROUP STOCK UNTIL THE 90TH
DAY AFTER THE DISPOSITION OF 80% OF THE ASSETS ATTRIBUTED TO THE CAROLINA GROUP

Our board of directors may, after the second anniversary of the date we
initially issue shares of Carolina Group stock until the 90th day after the
disposition of 80% of the assets attributed to the Carolina Group, redeem all
outstanding shares of Carolina Group stock for either (1) cash in an amount
equal to 120% of the Carolina Group stock's market value or (2) Loews common
stock having a value equal to 115% of the Carolina Group stock's market value. A
decision to redeem the Carolina Group stock could be made at a time when either
or both of the Loews common stock and Carolina Group stock may be considered to
be overvalued or undervalued. In addition, a redemption would preclude holders
of Carolina Group stock from retaining their investment in a security intended
to reflect separately the economic performance of the Carolina Group. It would
also give holders of shares of converted Carolina Group stock an amount of
consideration that may be less than the amount of consideration a third-party
buyer pays or would pay for all or substantially all of the assets attributed to
the Carolina Group. For further details, see "Description of Loews Capital Stock
—-—Carolina Group Stock —-- Redemption."

IF WE CHOOSE TO REDEEM CAROLINA GROUP STOCK FOR CASH, HOLDERS OF CAROLINA GROUP
STOCK MAY HAVE TAXABLE GAIN OR TAXABLE INCOME

We may, under certain circumstances, redeem Carolina Group stock for cash.
If we choose to do so, holders of Carolina Group stock would generally be
subject to tax on the excess, if any, of the total consideration they receive
for their Carolina Group stock over their adjusted basis in the Carolina Group
stock.
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OUR BOARD OF DIRECTORS WILL NOT OWE A SEPARATE DUTY TO HOLDERS OF CAROLINA GROUP
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STOCK

Principles of Delaware law established in cases involving differing
treatment of two classes of capital stock or two groups of holders of the same
class of capital stock provide that a board of directors owes an equal duty to
all shareholders regardless of class or series, and does not have separate or
additional duties to either group of shareholders. Thus, holders of Carolina
Group stock who believe that a determination by our board of directors has a
disparate impact on their class of stock may not be able to obtain a remedy for
such a claim.

OUR BOARD OF DIRECTORS MAY CHANGE THE CAROLINA GROUP POLICY STATEMENT WITHOUT
SHAREHOLDER APPROVAL

In connection with the issuance of Carolina Group stock, our board of
directors intends to adopt the Carolina Group policy statement that we describe
in this prospectus to govern the relationship between the Loews Group and the
Carolina Group. Our board of directors may modify, suspend or rescind the
policies set forth in the policy statement or make additions or exceptions to
them, in the sole discretion of our board of directors, without approval of our
shareholders. Our board of directors may also adopt additional policies,
depending upon the circumstances. Any changes to our policies could have a
negative effect on the holders of Carolina Group stock.

OUR DIRECTORS' AND OFFICERS' DISPROPORTIONATE OWNERSHIP OF LOEWS COMMON STOCK
COMPARED TO CAROLINA GROUP STOCK MAY GIVE RISE TO CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

Our directors and officers own shares of Loews common stock and have been
awarded stock options with respect to shares of Loews common stock. As of
September 30, 2001, our directors and executive officers beneficially owned
approximately 29.8% of the total voting power of the outstanding Loews common
stock. The investment by our directors and officers in Carolina Group stock, if
any, 1is likely to be significantly less than the investment by our directors and
officers in Loews common stock. Accordingly, our directors and officers could
have an economic incentive to favor the Loews Group over the Carolina Group.

BECAUSE IT WILL BE POSSIBLE FOR AN ACQUIROR TO OBTAIN CONTROL OF LOEWS BY
PURCHASING SHARES OF LOEWS COMMON STOCK WITHOUT PURCHASING ANY SHARES OF
CAROLINA GROUP STOCK, HOLDERS OF CAROLINA GROUP STOCK MAY NOT SHARE IN ANY
TAKEOVER PREMIUM

Because holders of Loews common stock will have significantly greater
voting power than holders of Carolina Group stock, a potential acquiror could
acquire control of Loews by acquiring shares of Loews common stock without
purchasing any shares of Carolina Group stock. As a result, holders of Carolina
Group stock might not share in any takeover premium and Carolina Group stock may
have a lower market price than it would have if there were a greater likelihood
that holders of Carolina Group stock would share in any takeover premium.

HOLDERS OF CAROLINA GROUP STOCK MAY RECEIVE LESS CONSIDERATION UPON A SALE OF
THE ASSETS ATTRIBUTED TO THE CAROLINA GROUP THAN IF THE CAROLINA GROUP WERE A
SEPARATE COMPANY

Assuming the assets attributed to the Carolina Group represent less than
substantially all of the assets of Loews as a whole, our board of directors
could, in its sole discretion and without shareholder approval, approve sales
and other dispositions of any amount of the assets owned by Loews and attributed
to the Carolina Group, because the Delaware General Corporation Law requires
shareholder approval only for a sale or other disposition of all or
substantially all of the assets of the entire company. Similarly, the boards of
directors of Lorillard, Inc. or its subsidiaries could decide to
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sell or otherwise dispose of the operating and other assets reflected in the
financial statements of the Carolina Group without the approval of holders of
Carolina Group stock.

If 80% or more of the assets attributed to the Carolina Group are sold:

- Loews will pay a special dividend to holders of Carolina Group stock in
an amount equal to their pro rata share of the net proceeds (subject to
reduction for repayment of notional debt, amounts not distributed from
Lorillard to Loews, and the creation by Loews of reserves for
tobacco-related contingent liabilities and future costs) from the
disposition in the form of cash and/or securities (other than Loews
common stock);

— Loews will redeem shares of Carolina Group stock for cash and/or
securities (other than Loews common stock) in an amount equal to the pro
rata share of the net proceeds (subject to reduction for repayment of
notional debt) from the disposition;

— Loews will redeem shares of Carolina Group stock for shares of Loews
common stock at a 15% premium based on the respective market values of
Carolina Group stock and Loews common stock during the 20 consecutive
trading days ending on the 5th trading day prior to announcement of the
sale; or

— Loews will take some combination of the actions described above.

Our board of directors has the discretion to choose from the foregoing options.
The value of the consideration paid to holders of Carolina Group stock in the
different scenarios described above could be significantly different. Our board
of directors would not be required to select the option that would result in the
distribution with the highest value to the holders of Carolina Group stock.

If, on the 91st day following the sale of 80% or more of the assets
attributed to the Carolina Group, Loews has not redeemed all of the outstanding
shares of Carolina Group stock and Lorillard subsequently distributes to Loews
any previously undistributed portion of the net proceeds and/or Loews
subsequently releases any amount of net proceeds previously retained by Loews as
a reserve for tobacco-related contingent liabilities or future costs, Loews will
distribute the pro rata share of such amounts to holders of Carolina Group
stock. At any time after:

- Lorillard has distributed to Loews all previously undistributed portions
of the net proceeds;

- no amounts remain in reserve in respect of tobacco-related contingent
liabilities and future costs; and

— the only asset remaining in the Carolina Group is cash and/or cash
equivalents,

Loews may redeem all of the outstanding shares of Carolina Group stock for cash
in an amount equal to the greater of (1) the pro rata share of the remaining
assets of the Carolina Group and (2) $0.001 per share of Carolina Group stock.

See "Description of Loews Capital Stock —-- Carolina Group
Stock —-- Redemption —-- Redemption in connection with certain significant
transactions."

If the Carolina Group were a separate, independent company and its shares
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were acquired by another person, some of the costs of that sale, including
corporate level taxes, might not be payable in connection with that acquisition.
As a result, shareholders of a separate, independent company might receive an
amount greater than the net proceeds that would be received by the holders of
the Carolina Group stock. In addition, we cannot assure you that the net
proceeds per share of Carolina Group stock received by its holder in connection
with any redemption following a sale of Carolina Group assets will be equal to
or greater than the market value per share of Carolina Group stock prior to or
after announcement of a sale of assets reflected in the Carolina Group. Nor can
we assure
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you that where consideration is based on the market value of the Carolina Group
stock that the market value will be equal to or greater than the net proceeds
per share of Carolina Group stock.

IN THE FUTURE, LOEWS MAY CAUSE A MANDATORY EXCHANGE OF CAROLINA GROUP STOCK

Loews may exchange all outstanding shares of Carolina Group stock for
shares of one or more qualifying subsidiaries of Loews. Such an exchange would
result in the qualifying subsidiary becoming a separate public company and the
holders of Carolina Group stock owning shares directly in that subsidiary. If
Loews chooses to exchange shares of Carolina Group stock in this manner, the
market value of the common stock received in that exchange could be less than
the market value of Carolina Group stock exchanged.

FUTURE SALES OF CAROLINA GROUP STOCK AND LOEWS COMMON STOCK COULD ADVERSELY
AFFECT THE MARKET PRICE OF CAROLINA GROUP STOCK AND OUR ABILITY TO RAISE CAPITAL
IN THE FUTURE

Sales of substantial amounts of Carolina Group stock or Loews common stock
in the public market after we complete this offering could depress the market
price of Carolina Group stock. Such sales could also impair Loews's ability to
raise capital in the future. The shares of Carolina Group stock that we sell to
the public in the public offering will be freely tradable without restriction
under the Securities Act of 1933 by persons other than "affiliates" of Loews, as
defined under the Securities Act. Any sales of substantial amounts of Carolina
Group stock or Loews common stock in the public market, or the perception that
such sales might occur, whether as a result of the public offering or otherwise,
could materially adversely affect the market price of Carolina Group stock. Our
board of directors will not solicit the approval of holders of Carolina Group
stock prior to the issuance of authorized but unissued shares of Loews common
stock or Carolina Group stock, unless that approval is deemed advisable by our
board of directors or is required by applicable law, regulation or stock
exchange listing requirements.

IF WE LIQUIDATE LOEWS, AMOUNTS DISTRIBUTED TO HOLDERS OF CAROLINA GROUP STOCK
MAY NOT REFLECT THE VALUE OF THE ASSETS ATTRIBUTED TO THE CAROLINA GROUP

Following this offering, in the event of a liquidation, we would determine
the liquidation rights of the holders of the Carolina Group stock in accordance
with the market capitalization of the outstanding shares of the Loews Group and
the Carolina Group at a specified time prior to the time of liquidation.
However, the relative market capitalization of the outstanding shares of each
group may not correctly reflect the value of the net assets remaining and
attributed to the groups after satisfaction of outstanding liabilities.
Accordingly, the holders of Carolina Group stock could receive less
consideration upon liquidation than they would if the groups were separate
entities.
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RISK FACTORS —-- THE CAROLINA GROUP

LORILLARD HAS A $16.25 BILLION JUDGMENT ENTERED AGAINST IT IN THE ENGLE
LITIGATION; IF LORILLARD IS UNSUCCESSFUL IN ITS APPEAL OF THIS JUDGMENT, OR THE
STAY OF THE JUDGMENT IS TERMINATED, THE JUDGMENT COULD RESULT IN THE LOSS OF ALL
OR SUBSTANTIALLY ALL OF THE VALUE OF ANY OUTSTANDING SHARES OF CAROLINA GROUP
STOCK

On November 6, 2000, the Circuit Court of Dade County, Florida, entered a
final judgment in favor of the plaintiffs in Engle v. R.J. Reynolds Tobacco Co.,
et al. (Circuit Court, Dade County, Florida, filed May 5, 1994). Engle is a
class action case on behalf of Florida residents and citizens and their
survivors alleging personal injury or death due to their addiction to cigarettes
containing nicotine. Under the court's final judgment, Lorillard is liable for
$16.25 billion in punitive damages and as much as $12.5 million in compensatory
damages. The judgment also provides that the jury's awards bear interest at the
rate of 10% per year. Three other defendants in the Engle matter are subject to
punitive damages totaling $127.83 billion in the aggregate.

Lorillard has appealed the Engle judgment, but we cannot assure you that
Lorillard will ultimately prevail on appeal. In the event that the circuit
court's $16.25 billion punitive damages judgment against Lorillard is ultimately
upheld, the amount of that judgment would significantly exceed the assets of
Lorillard. Even if the circuit court's $16.25 billion punitive damages judgment
were reduced, the reduced amount of the final judgment might ultimately exceed
the assets of Lorillard and result in a liquidation or bankruptcy of Lorillard.
The failure to prevail on appeal in the Engle case would have a significant
adverse effect on the results of operations and financial condition of Lorillard
and could result in the loss of all or substantially all of the value of any
outstanding shares of Carolina Group stock. See "Business —-- Legal
Proceedings —- Class Action Cases -- The Engle Case" for a more detailed
discussion of the Engle case.

In exchange for a $200.0 million payment by Lorillard, the class in the
Engle case has agreed to a stay of execution of its punitive damages judgment
until appellate review is completed. We refer to this agreement as the Engle
agreement. However, if Lorillard, Inc.'s balance sheet net worth (as determined
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in effect as of July
14, 2000) falls below $921.2 million, the stay pursuant to the agreement would
terminate and the class would be free to challenge the separate stay granted in
favor of Lorillard pursuant to Florida legislation enacted in May of 2000. As of
September 30, 2001, Lorillard, Inc. had a balance sheet net worth of
approximately $1.3 billion. The Florida legislation limits to $100.0 million the
amount of an appellate bond required to be posted in order to stay execution of
a judgment for punitive damages in a certified class action. If the agreed upon
stay were terminated, a successful challenge of the statutory stay of execution
could result in Lorillard's bankruptcy and in the loss of all or substantially
all of the value of any outstanding shares of Carolina Group stock.

THE ENGLE AGREEMENT MAY AFFECT LORILLARD'S PAYMENT OF DIVIDENDS TO LOEWS AND
THEREBY INHIBIT LOEWS'S ABILITY OR WILLINGNESS TO PAY DIVIDENDS ON CAROLINA
GROUP STOCK

Under the Engle agreement, described immediately above, Lorillard, Inc. is
required to maintain a balance sheet net worth of at least $921.2 million.
Because dividends from Lorillard, Inc. to Loews are deducted from the balance
sheet net worth of Lorillard, Inc., the Engle agreement may affect the payment
of dividends by Lorillard, Inc. to Loews. For a description of the Engle
agreement, see "-- Lorillard has a $16.25 billion judgment entered against it in
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the Engle litigation; if Lorillard is unsuccessful in its appeal of this
judgment, or the stay of the judgment is terminated, the judgment could result
in the loss of all or substantially all of the value of any outstanding shares
of Carolina Group stock," and "Business —-- Legal Proceedings -- Class Action
Cases —-—- The Engle Case."
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LORILLARD IS A DEFENDANT IN MORE THAN 4,274 TOBACCO-RELATED LAWSUITS, WHICH ARE
EXTREMELY COSTLY TO DEFEND, AND WHICH COULD RESULT IN SUBSTANTIAL JUDGMENTS
AGAINST LORILLARD

Numerous legal actions, proceedings and claims arising out of the sale,
distribution, manufacture, development, advertising, marketing and claimed
health effects of cigarettes are pending against Lorillard, and it is likely
that similar claims will continue to be filed for the foreseeable future. There
has been a noteworthy increase in the number of pending cases in recent years.
Recent settlements and victories by plaintiffs in highly publicized cases
against Lorillard and other tobacco companies, together with acknowledgments by
Lorillard and other tobacco companies regarding the health effects of smoking,
may stimulate further claims. In addition, adverse outcomes in pending cases
could have adverse effects on the ability of Lorillard to prevail in smoking and
health litigation.

Approximately 4,274 tobacco-related cases are pending against Lorillard in
the United States. Punitive damages, often in amounts ranging into the billions
of dollars, are specifically pleaded in a number of cases in addition to
compensatory and other damages. An unfavorable resolution of any of these
actions could have a material adverse effect on the results of operations and
financial condition of Lorillard, which in turn could adversely affect the wvalue
of Carolina Group stock. It is possible that the outcome of these cases,
individually or in the aggregate, could result in bankruptcy and in the loss of
all or substantially all of the value of any outstanding shares of Carolina
Group stock. Even if Lorillard is successful in defending some or all of these
actions, these types of cases are very expensive to defend. A material increase
in the number of pending claims could significantly increase defense costs and
have a material adverse effect on Lorillard's results of operations and
financial condition, which in turn could adversely affect the value of Carolina
Group stock. For a discussion of tobacco litigation, see "Business —-- Legal
Proceedings."

LORILLARD IS A DEFENDANT IN AN ACTION BROUGHT BY THE U.S. DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE
THAT COULD RESULT IN SUBSTANTIAL DAMAGES OR DISGORGEMENT OF PROFITS

On September 22, 1999, the U.S. Department of Justice brought an action
against Lorillard and other tobacco companies. The government seeks to recover
funds expended by the federal government in providing health care to smokers who
have developed diseases and injuries alleged to be smoking-related. In addition,
the government seeks, pursuant to the federal Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt
Organization Act, or RICO, disgorgement of profits the government contends were
earned as a consequence of a RICO racketeering "enterprise." During September of
2000, the court dismissed the government's claims asserted under the Medical
Care Recovery Act as well as those under the Medicare as Secondary Payer
provisions to the Social Security Act. During July of 2001, the court reaffirmed
its dismissal of the Medical Care Recovery Act claims, and dismissed the
Medicare as Secondary Payer Act claims, which the government had attempted to
reassert in an amended complaint. The RICO claims were not dismissed and a trial
has been scheduled for June of 2003. An unfavorable resolution of this action
could result in damages in the billions of dollars and have a material adverse
effect on the results of operations and financial condition of Lorillard, which
in turn could adversely affect the value of Carolina Group stock. For a
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discussion of the government's case, see "Business —- Legal
Proceedings —- Reimbursement Cases -- U.S. Federal Government Action."

WE INTEND TO ALLOCATE TO THE CAROLINA GROUP ANY LIABILITIES OR EXPENSES THAT
LOEWS INCURS AS A RESULT OF TOBACCO-RELATED LITIGATION

The Carolina Group will be allocated any and all liabilities, costs and
expenses of Loews and Lorillard, Inc. and the subsidiaries and predecessors of
Lorillard, Inc., arising out of or related to tobacco or otherwise arising out
of the past, present or future business of Lorillard, Inc. or its subsidiaries
or predecessors, or claims arising out of or related to the sale of any
businesses previously sold by Lorillard, Inc. or its subsidiaries or
predecessors, in each case, whether grounded in tort, contract, statute or
otherwise, whether pending or asserted in the future. This allocation could have
a
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material adverse effect on the results of operations and financial condition of
Lorillard, which in turn could adversely affect the value of Carolina Group
stock.

Accordingly, Loews and/or Lorillard may make decisions with respect to
litigation and settlement strategies designed to obtain dismissal or release of
Loews from tobacco-related litigation or liabilities. Such decisions and
strategies could result, for example, in limitations on payment of dividends by
Lorillard to Loews or an increase in Lorillard's exposure in such litigation. In
such an event, these decisions and strategies could have a material adverse
effect on the value of the Carolina Group stock.

LORILLARD HAS SUBSTANTIAL PAYMENT OBLIGATIONS UNDER LITIGATION SETTLEMENT
AGREEMENTS WHICH WILL MATERIALLY ADVERSELY AFFECT ITS CASH FLOWS AND OPERATING
INCOME IN FUTURE PERIODS

On November 23, 1998, Lorillard and other manufacturers of tobacco products
entered into a Master Settlement Agreement with 46 states, the District of
Columbia, the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico, Guam, the U.S. Virgin Islands,
American Samoa and the Commonwealth of the Northern Mariana Islands, to settle
the asserted and unasserted health care cost recovery and certain other claims
of those states and territories. Lorillard and the other major U.S. tobacco
manufacturers had previously settled similar claims brought by four other
states, Florida, Texas, Minnesota and Mississippi. Throughout this document we
refer to the Master Settlement Agreement, together with the agreements with
Florida, Texas, Minnesota and Mississippi, as the "State Settlement Agreements."

Under the State Settlement Agreements, Lorillard is obligated to pay
approximately $1.1 billion in 2001 ($603.3 million of which Lorillard paid as of
September 30, 2001) and annual payments are expected to be in excess of $1.0
billion in future years. To satisfy its payment obligations under these
settlements, Lorillard has raised prices on cigarettes, and the price increases
have adversely affected its sales volumes. See "Business —-- Payment Obligations
under the State Settlement Agreements" for additional information about
Lorillard's payment obligations under the State Settlement Agreements.
Lorillard's obligations under the State Settlement Agreements will materially
adversely affect its cash flows and operating income in future periods.

CONCERNS THAT MENTHOLATED CIGARETTES MAY POSE GREATER HEALTH RISKS COULD
ADVERSELY AFFECT LORILLARD

Some plaintiffs and other sources, including the Centers for Disease
Control and Prevention, have claimed that mentholated cigarettes may pose
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greater health risks than non-mentholated cigarettes. If such claims were to be
substantiated, Lorillard, as the leading manufacturer of mentholated cigarettes
in the United States, could face increased exposure to tobacco-related
litigation. Even if those claims are not substantiated, increased concerns about
the health impact of mentholated cigarettes could adversely affect Lorillard's
sales, including sales of Newport.

LORILLARD IS DEPENDENT ON THE U.S. CIGARETTE BUSINESS, WHICH WE EXPECT TO
CONTINUE TO CONTRACT

Lorillard's U.S. cigarette business is currently its only significant
business. The U.S. cigarette market has generally been contracting and we expect
it to continue to contract. Lorillard does not have foreign cigarette sales that
could offset these effects, as it sold the international rights to substantially
all of its brands, including Newport, in 1977. As a result of price increases,
restrictions on advertising and promotions, funding by U.S. manufacturers,
including Lorillard, of smoking prevention campaigns, increases in regulation
and excise taxes, health concerns, a decline in the social acceptability of
smoking, increased pressure from anti-tobacco groups, and other factors, U.S.
cigarette shipments among major U.S. cigarette manufacturers have decreased at a
compound annual rate of approximately 2.1% over the period 1980-2000, as
measured by Management Science Associates. Lorillard's wholesale list prices
increased by an average of 117% from August of 1997 through its most recent
price increase in October of 2001. In addition, recent and future price

23

increases may encourage smokers to switch from premium to discount brands,
particularly during times of economic weakness. Lorillard's focus on the premium
market and its obligations under the State Settlement Agreements make it very
difficult to compete successfully in the discount market. If the market for
premium cigarettes contracts, and Lorillard is unable to capture market share
from its competitors, there could be a material adverse effect on the results of
operations and financial condition of Lorillard, which in turn could adversely
affect the value of Carolina Group stock.

LORILLARD IS SUBJECT TO IMPORTANT LIMITATIONS ON ADVERTISING AND MARKETING
CIGARETTES THAT COULD HARM ITS COMPETITIVE POSITION

Television and radio advertisements of tobacco products have been
prohibited since 1971. Under the State Settlement Agreements, Lorillard
generally cannot use billboard advertising, cartoon characters, sponsorship of
concerts, non-tobacco merchandise bearing its brand names and various other
advertising and marketing techniques. In addition, the Master Settlement
Agreement prohibits the targeting of youth in advertising, promotion or
marketing of tobacco products. Accordingly, Lorillard has determined not to
advertise its cigarettes in magazines with large readership among people under
the age of 18. Additional restrictions may be imposed or agreed to in the
future. Recent proposals have included limiting tobacco advertising to
black-and-white, text-only advertisements. These limitations may make it
difficult to maintain the value of an existing brand if sales or market share
decline for any reason. Moreover, these limitations significantly impair the
ability of cigarette manufacturers, including Lorillard, to launch new premium
brands. For a more detailed discussion of the business restrictions contained in
the Master Settlement Agreement, see "Business —-- Advertising and Sales
Promotion." With the exception of Newport, unit sales of Lorillard's brands are
declining, and Lorillard does not expect to reverse this trend. These factors
could have a material adverse effect on the results of operations and financial
condition of Lorillard, which in turn could adversely affect the value of
Carolina Group stock.
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THE CIGARETTE INDUSTRY IS SUBJECT TO SUBSTANTIAL AND INCREASING REGULATION AND
TAXATION

A wide variety of federal, state and local laws limits the advertising,
sale and use of cigarettes, and these laws have proliferated in recent years.
For example, many local laws prohibit smoking in restaurants and other public
places. This trend has had, and is likely to continue to have, a material
adverse effect on Lorillard's competitive position, sales volumes, operating
income and cash flows. Private businesses have also adopted regulations which
prohibit or restrict, or are intended to discourage, smoking. In addition,
cigarettes are subject to substantial and increasing excise taxes. Federal
excise taxes included in the price of cigarettes are $17.00 per thousand
cigarettes ($0.34 per pack of 20 cigarettes). On January 1, 2002, the federal
excise tax on cigarettes increased by $2.50 per thousand cigarettes. Additional
excise taxes, which are levied upon and paid by the distributors, are also in
effect in the 50 states, the District of Columbia and many municipalities.
Various states have proposed, and certain states have recently passed, increases
in their state tobacco excise taxes. The state taxes generally range from $.025
to $1.425 per package of 20 cigarettes. Increased excise taxes are likely to
result in declines in overall sales volume and shifts by consumers to less
expensive brands. Both of these results could have a material adverse effect on
the results of operations and financial condition of Lorillard, which competes
in the discount market on a limited basis.

In 1996, the U.S. Food and Drug Administration, the FDA, published
regulations that would have severely restricted cigarette advertising and
promotion and limited the manner in which tobacco products could be sold. On
March 21, 2000, the U.S. Supreme Court held that Congress did not give the FDA
authority to regulate tobacco products under the Federal Food, Drug, and
Cosmetic Act and, accordingly, the FDA's assertion of jurisdiction over tobacco
products was impermissible under that Act. Since the Supreme Court decision,
various proposals have been made for federal and state legislation to regulate
cigarette manufacturers. Recently, a Presidential commission appointed by
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former President Clinton issued a final report recommending that the FDA be
given authority by Congress to regulate the manufacture, sale, distribution and
labeling of tobacco products to protect public health. In addition,
Congressional advocates of FDA regulation have introduced legislation for
consideration by the 107th Congress. Some states have also enacted or proposed
regulations, including with respect to mandatory disclosure of ingredients,
including flavorings, some of which are trade secrets, and requiring that
cigarettes sold in their states have reduced ignition propensity. Ignition
propensity refers to a 1lit cigarette's susceptibility to burning or igniting
other materials while not being smoked. Lorillard cannot predict the ultimate
outcome of these proposals. Additional federal or state regulation relating to
the manufacture, sale, distribution, advertising and labeling of tobacco
products could reduce sales, increase costs and have a material adverse effect
on Lorillard's business. Extensive and inconsistent regulation by multiple
states could prove to be particularly disruptive to Lorillard's business. These
factors could have a material adverse effect on the results of operations and
financial condition of Lorillard, which in turn could adversely affect the wvalue
of Carolina Group stock.

COMPETITION FROM OTHER CIGARETTE MAKERS COULD ADVERSELY AFFECT LORILLARD
The cigarette industry is highly competitive. Some of Lorillard's
competitors have substantially greater financial, marketing, personnel and other

resources than Lorillard has. In particular, Philip Morris had a 51.1% share of
the U.S. cigarette market in the first nine months of 2001. R.J. Reynolds also
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has significant financial resources and market share with a 22.4% share of the
U.S. cigarette market in the first nine months of 2001. For the first nine
months of 2001, Lorillard had a 9.4% share of the U.S. cigarette market.

Lorillard believes its ability to compete more effectively has been
restrained by the Philip Morris Retail Leaders program. The Philip Morris Retail
Leaders program offers significant financial incentives to retail stores in
exchange for preferred shelf space and signage for Philip Morris products and
the imposition of severe restrictions on the ability of Philip Morris's
competitors to visibly display and promote their products at participating
retail stores. Lorillard believes the Retail Leaders program has substantially
restrained its ability to advertise, promote and market its products more
effectively. Lorillard and other tobacco companies have brought suit alleging,
among other claims, that Philip Morris has used its influence with retail
outlets to deny Lorillard and other tobacco companies access to visible in-store
display and adequate signage space for their cigarette brands, a critical means
of competition.

The volume of cigarette sales is sensitive to price changes. Changes in
pricing by Lorillard or other cigarette manufacturers could have an adverse
impact on Lorillard's volume of units sold. For example, in recent years,
wholesale price increases by Philip Morris and others have resulted in price
increases at the retail level that Lorillard believes adversely affected
industry unit sales. By contrast, in 1993, Philip Morris substantially reduced
wholesale prices. In an effort to prevent the loss of sales, Lorillard reduced
its wholesale prices and its results were adversely affected. Future price
changes could have a material adverse effect on the results of operations and
financial condition of Lorillard, which in turn could adversely affect the wvalue
of Carolina Group stock.

Philip Morris has developed an alternative cigarette called Accord(R) in
which the tobacco is heated rather than burned. R.J. Reynolds has developed an
alternative cigarette called Eclipse(R) in which the tobacco is primarily
heated, with only a small amount of tobacco burned. Philip Morris and R.J.
Reynolds have indicated that these products may deliver fewer smoke components
as compared to conventional cigarettes. Vector Tobacco, Ltd., parent company of
Liggett Group, has developed an alternative cigarette called Omni (R), which it
claims has lower levels of a number of toxic and cancer-causing compounds. Brown
& Williamson has developed an alternative cigarette called Advance (R), which is
designed to reduce levels of a broad range of carcinogens and other toxins in
smoke. Lorillard has not developed an alternative cigarette similar to
Accord(R), Eclipse(R), Omni(R) or Advance (R). Should Accord(R), Eclipse(R),
Omni (R) or Advance(R) gain a significant share of the U.S. cigarette market,
Lorillard may be at a competitive disadvantage.
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In recent years, small manufacturers of low-price cigarettes have
proliferated and have increased their combined market share to 8.5% of U.S.
industry unit sales in 2000. Because some of these small manufacturers are not
obligated to make significant payments under the State Settlement Agreements,
these manufacturers have a substantial cost advantage in the discount segment of
the U.S. cigarette market. These factors could have a material adverse effect on
the results of operations and financial condition of Lorillard, which in turn
could adversely affect the value of Carolina Group stock.

LORILLARD MAY NOT BE ABLE TO DEVELOP, PRODUCE OR COMMERCIALIZE COMPETITIVE NEW
PRODUCTS AND TECHNOLOGIES REQUIRED BY REGULATORY CHANGES OR CHANGES IN CONSUMER
PREFERENCES

Consumer health concerns and changes in regulations are likely to require
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Lorillard to introduce new products or make substantial changes to existing
products. For example, New York State has recently enacted legislation requiring
that cigarette manufacturers reduce the ignition propensity of their products.
We cannot assure you that Lorillard will be able to meet the requisite standards
without adversely affecting its profitability and without adversely affecting
the taste of its product, or otherwise reducing consumer acceptance. Similarly,
Lorillard believes that there will be increasing pressure from public health
authorities and consumers to develop a conventional cigarette or an alternative
cilgarette that provides a demonstrable reduced risk of adverse health effects.
Lorillard may not be able to develop a reduced risk product that is acceptable
to consumers in a cost-effective manner, or at all. The costs associated with
developing new products and technologies, as well as the inability to develop
acceptable products in response to competitive conditions or regulatory
requirements, may have a material adverse effect on the results of operations
and financial condition of Lorillard, which in turn could adversely affect the
value of Carolina Group stock.

LORILLARD IS A DEFENDANT IN MULTIPLE TOBACCO-RELATED ANTITRUST LAWSUITS

Lorillard is a defendant in multiple actions alleging violations of federal
and state antitrust laws, including allegations that Lorillard and the other
defendants conspired to fix prices of cigarettes. For a more detailed discussion
of these cases, see "Business —-- Legal Proceedings —-- Tobacco-Related Antitrust
Cases." An adverse outcome in any of these cases could have a material adverse
effect on the results of operations and financial condition of Lorillard, which
in turn could adversely affect the value of Carolina Group stock.

LORILLARD DERIVES MOST OF ITS REVENUE FROM THE SALES OF ONE PRODUCT

Lorillard's largest selling brand, Newport, accounted for approximately 84%
of Lorillard's sales revenue in 2000. Lorillard's principal strategic plan
revolves around the advertising and promotion of its Newport brand. Lorillard
cannot ensure that it will successfully implement its strategic plan with
respect to Newport or that implementation of its strategic plan will result in
the maintenance or growth of Newport brand sales. The failure by Lorillard to
maintain sales of Newport could have a material adverse effect on the results of
operations and financial condition of Lorillard, which in turn could adversely
affect the value of Carolina Group stock.

LORILLARD RELIES ON A SINGLE MANUFACTURING FACILITY FOR THE PRODUCTION OF ITS
CIGARETTES

Lorillard produces all of its cigarettes at its Greensboro, North Carolina
manufacturing facility. If Lorillard's manufacturing plant is damaged, destroyed
or incapacitated or Lorillard is otherwise unable to operate its manufacturing
facility, Lorillard may be unable to produce cigarettes and may be unable to
meet customer demand. Any such disruption could have a material adverse effect
on the results of operations and financial condition of Lorillard, which in turn
could adversely affect the value of Carolina Group stock.
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LORILLARD RELIES ON A LIMITED NUMBER OF KEY EXECUTIVES AND HAS EXPERIENCED, AND
MAY CONTINUE TO EXPERIENCE, DIFFICULTY IN ATTRACTING AND HIRING QUALIFIED NEW
PERSONNEL IN SOME AREAS OF ITS BUSINESS

The loss of any of Lorillard's key employees could adversely affect its
business. Other than with respect to Lorillard's chief executive officer, Martin
L. Orlowsky, Lorillard does not have employment agreements with any of its key
employees. Lorillard is currently experiencing difficulty in identifying and
hiring qualified personnel in some areas of its business. This difficulty is
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primarily attributable to the health and social issues associated with the
tobacco industry. The loss of the services of any key personnel or Lorillard's
inability to attract and hire personnel with the requisite skills could restrict
Lorillard's ability to develop new products, enhance existing products in a
timely manner, sell products or manage its business effectively. These factors
could have a material adverse effect on the results of operations and financial
condition of Lorillard, which in turn could adversely affect the value of
Carolina Group stock.
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Some statements in this prospectus or incorporated by reference constitute
"forward-looking statements" within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities
Act and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. The
words "believes," "expects," "intends," "anticipates," "estimates," and similar
expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements. These
statements inherently are subject to a variety of risks and uncertainties, many
of which are beyond our control, that could cause actual results to differ
materially from those projected. These risks and uncertainties include, among
others:

— the impact of competitive products, policies and pricing;
- product and policy demand and market responses;

- development of claims and their impact on loss reserves with respect to
CNA Financial Corporation and its subsidiaries;

— the performance of reinsurance companies under reinsurance contracts with
CNA Financial Corporation and its subsidiaries;

— general economic and business conditions;

— changes in financial markets such as fluctuations in interest rates,
credit conditions and currency, commodity and stock prices;

— changes in foreign, political, social and economic conditions;

— regulatory initiatives and compliance with governmental regulations,
judicial decisions and rulings;

- changes in foreign and domestic oil and gas exploration and production
activity, and expenditures related to rig conversion and upgrade;

— changes in the composition of the loss reserves of CNA Financial
Corporation and its subsidiaries and the possibility of future increases
in reserves;

— limitations upon Loews's ability to receive dividends from its insurance
subsidiaries imposed by state regulatory agencies and minimum risk-based
capital standards based on standards established by the National

Association of Insurance Commissioners;

— the possibility of downgrades in Loews's or its subsidiaries' ratings by
ratings agencies and changes in rating agency policies and practices;

— the actual closing of contemplated transactions and agreements;

- the results of financing efforts; and
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— the economic effects of the recent terrorist attacks.
The tobacco industry continues to be subject to:

- claims and regulations relating to the use of tobacco products and
exposure to environmental tobacco smoke;

- legislation, including actual and potential excise tax increases;

— increasing marketing and regulatory restrictions, governmental regulation

and privately imposed smoking restrictions;

- litigation, including risks associated with adverse jury and judicial
determinations, courts reaching conclusions at variance with the general

understandings of applicable law, bonding requirements and the absence of

adequate appellate remedies to get timely relief from any of the
foregoing; and

— the effects of price increases related to the Master Settlement Agreement
and other state settlement agreements and excise tax increases on
consumption rates.
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Developments in any of these areas, which we describe more fully elsewhere in
this prospectus, could cause results of the Carolina Group to differ materially
from results that have been or may be projected by or on behalf of the Carolina
Group.

These forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this
prospectus. Except as required by law, we expressly disclaim any obligation or
undertaking to release publicly any updates or revisions to any forward-looking
statement to reflect any change in our expectations or any change in events,
conditions or circumstances on which any statement is based.

ABOUT THIS PROSPECTUS

In accordance with standard industry practice, market share data presented
in this document is based on the number of individual cigarettes shipped.
Lorillard primarily relies on the following three sources of data for market
share assessments:

— The Maxwell Report, an independent third-party industry report published
by industry analyst John C. Maxwell, Jr., collects wholesale unit sales
volume data on an industry, brand, company, and selected segment basis
(including menthol versus non-menthol and premium versus discount).

- Management Science Associates, Inc., an independent third-party database
management organization, collects wholesale shipment data from various
cigarette manufacturers and provides analysis of market share, unit sales
volume and premium versus discount mix for individual companies and the
industry as a whole.

- Lorillard/Excel Retail Shipment Data, a proprietary database, consists of
data reported to Lorillard by the majority of its direct wholesale
customers. These wholesale customers advise Lorillard regarding shipments
from wholesalers to retailers of cigarettes produced by Lorillard and
other manufacturers. Management Science Associates processes this data on
behalf of Lorillard and aggregates the information in various formats to
indicate market share and sales volume activity at the retail level. The
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Lorillard/Excel Retail Shipment Data provides shipment data within brand
families, including information relating to individual stock keeping
units.

Management Science Associates makes its quarterly data available more
quickly than other industry data sources. Accordingly, we have historically
utilized data from Management Science Associates for presentation of information
in our periodic reports and, unless otherwise indicated, we utilize data from
Management Science Associates in "The Carolina Group Management's Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations."

Unless otherwise indicated, in the remainder of the document and, in
particular, under "Business," we cite data from The Maxwell Report. The Maxwell
Report data enables us to reflect industry segment information and to make
brand-to-brand comparisons. In addition, The Maxwell Report data encompasses
major and minor cigarette manufacturers by analyzing state tax reports, while
data from Management Science Associates focuses primarily on the largest U.S.
manufacturers. The Maxwell Report data facilitates the presentation of
Lorillard's overall competitive position among manufacturers, brands and market
segments (premium versus discount and menthol versus non-menthol).

Newport, Kent, True, Max, Satin, Triumph, Maverick and 0ld Gold are
registered trademarks of Lorillard.
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USE OF PROCEEDS

We estimate that the net proceeds from this offering will be approximately
$930.5 million, after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and
estimated offering expenses of approximately $49.6 million. If the underwriters
exercise their over-allotment option in full, we estimate that the net proceeds
from this offering will be approximately $1.070 billion. These proceeds will be
allocated to the Loews Group and used for general corporate purposes.

DIVIDEND POLICY

General. While we cannot assure you that we will do so, and subject to the
limitations contained in this section, we currently intend to pay a quarterly
dividend of $0.445 per share on Carolina Group stock following its issuance. The
first dividend is expected to be declared in May of 2002 and payable in June of
2002. The first dividend payment will cover the first three months of the year
even though the Carolina Group stock will have been outstanding for less than
three months. The Carolina Group policy statement provides that, subject to the
limitation on dividends set forth in our charter, including any preferential
rights of any series of preferred stock of Loews that Loews may issue in the
future, and to the limitations of applicable law, holders of shares of Carolina
Group stock will be entitled to receive dividends on that stock when, as and if,
our board of directors authorizes and declares dividends on that stock. The
payment of dividends on Carolina Group stock will be a business decision that
our board of directors makes from time to time based upon the results of
operations, financial condition and capital requirements of Loews and other
factors that our board of directors considers relevant.

Payment of dividends on Carolina Group stock may be restricted by loan
agreements, indentures and other transactions that Loews enters into from time
to time. In addition, Loews's ability to pay dividends on Carolina Group stock
may be limited by Loews's holding company structure. Because it has no
operations of its own, Loews's ability to pay dividends is dependent on the cash
flows of, and cash distributions from, its subsidiaries. The subsidiaries are
separate and independent legal entities and have no obligation, contingent or
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otherwise, to make funds available to Loews, whether in the form of loans,
dividends or otherwise.

Available Dividend Amount. Dividends on Carolina Group stock are limited
to an available dividend amount equal to the lesser of:

— the assets of Loews legally available for dividends; and

— the amount that would legally be available for dividends on Carolina
Group stock if the Carolina Group were a separate Delaware corporation.

Under Delaware law, a corporation may pay dividends either (1) out of its
surplus or (2) in the absence of a surplus, out of the corporation's net profits
for the fiscal year in which the dividend is declared and/or the preceding
fiscal year.

The available dividend amount for the Carolina Group would be determined by
the consolidated financial statements of Lorillard, Inc. and its subsidiaries
combined with any additional assets and liabilities allocated to the Carolina
Group. Initially, the only assets and liabilities allocated to the Carolina
Group will be Loews's 100% ownership interest in Lorillard, Inc., $2.5 billion
of notional, intergroup debt, owed by the Carolina Group to the Loews Group,
bearing interest at the annual rate of 8.0% and, subject to optional prepayment,
due December 31, 2021, and any and all liabilities, costs and expenses of Loews
and Lorillard, Inc. and the subsidiaries and predecessors of Lorillard, Inc.,
arising out of or related to tobacco or otherwise arising out of the past,
present or future business of Lorillard, Inc. or its subsidiaries or
predecessors, or claims arising out of or related to the sale of any businesses
previously sold by Lorillard, Inc. or its subsidiaries or predecessors, in each
case, whether grounded in tort, contract, statute or otherwise, whether pending
or asserted in the future.
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Dependence on Lorillard Dividends. For so long as the only asset
attributed to the Carolina Group is the stock of Lorillard, Inc., the principal
source of cash to pay dividends on Carolina Group stock, including in respect of
the Loews Group's intergroup interest, would be dividends paid by Lorillard,
Inc. to Loews. Although the Loews Group could, in effect, make loans to the
Carolina Group in order to fund dividend payments, Loews has no current
intention of causing the Loews Group to do so. Accordingly, the ability and
willingness of Loews to pay dividends in respect of Carolina Group stock,
including in respect of the Loews Group's intergroup interest, will depend
primarily upon the payment of dividends by Lorillard, Inc. to Loews.

The Carolina Group policy statement currently provides that all dividends
paid by Lorillard, Inc. to Loews will be allocated to the Carolina Group.
Lorillard, Inc.'s principal source of cash is dividends from its wholly owned
subsidiary, Lorillard Tobacco Company. The payment of dividends by each of
Lorillard, Inc. and Lorillard Tobacco Company is a business decision of that
company's board of directors, subject to the limitations on dividends under
applicable law and under any loan agreements, indentures or other transactions
that each company enters into from time to time.

Loews understands that in making their respective business decisions
regarding payment of dividends, the boards of directors of Lorillard, Inc. and
Lorillard Tobacco Company plan to take into account the results of operations,
financial condition and capital requirements of such entity and such other
factors that the respective board of directors considers relevant, including
cash needs in respect of payment obligations under the State Settlement
Agreements, cash needs for the cost of defending tobacco litigation, and cash
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needs for payment of judgments in or settlements of tobacco litigation.

None of the individuals currently serving as a director of Lorillard, Inc.
or Lorillard Tobacco Company is an officer, director or employee of Loews.
Accordingly, each of these individuals may be considered to be independent of
Loews, although as sole shareholder of Lorillard, Inc. Loews has the right to
elect and remove directors of Lorillard, Inc. Should any person serving as a
director of Lorillard, Inc. be removed, resign or not seek reelection, Loews
expects to nominate individuals who are not officers, directors or employees of
Loews to fill such vacancies. Loews has no present intention to remove any
person currently serving as a director of Lorillard, Inc.

On July 14, 2000, the jury in the Engle case awarded $16.25 billion in
punitive damages against Lorillard. Under the Engle agreement, in which the
Engle class agreed not to pursue any collection of, or execution on, the
judgment until completion of all appeals, including to the U.S. Supreme Court,
Lorillard is required to maintain a balance sheet net worth (as determined in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in effect as of July
14, 2000) of at least $921.2 million. As of September 30, 2001, Lorillard, Inc.
had a balance sheet net worth of approximately $1.3 billion. Because dividends
from Lorillard, Inc. to Loews are deducted from the balance sheet net worth of
Lorillard, Inc., this agreement may affect the payment of dividends by
Lorillard, Inc. to Loews. See "Business -- Legal Proceedings —-- Class Action
Cases —- The Engle Case," included elsewhere in this prospectus, for a more
detailed discussion of the Engle agreement and the Engle case.

If and when Lorillard, Inc. pays dividends to Loews, we intend to apply all
of the cash from such distributions in the following order of priority until the
notional, intergroup debt is repaid:

- first, to satisfy or make provision for any intergroup or other
obligations of the Carolina Group, other than with respect to the
notional, intergroup debt;

- second, to satisfy accrued interest on the Carolina Group's notional,
intergroup debt;

- third, to pay any regularly-declared quarterly dividends on Carolina
Group stock and to make proportional distributions to the Loews Group in
respect of its intergroup interest in the Carolina Group;

- fourth, to maintain up to $150.0 million for general corporate purposes,
including for investments, on behalf of the Carolina Group; and

- fifth, to reduce the principal of the Carolina Group's notional,
intergroup debt.
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CAPITALIZATION OF THE CAROLINA GROUP

The following table sets forth as of September 30, 2001: (a) the historical
consolidated capitalization of the Carolina Group and (b) the consolidated
capitalization of the Carolina Group on a pro forma basis to give effect to $2.5
billion of notional, intergroup debt owed by the Carolina Group to the Loews
Group. This table should be read in conjunction with the historical and pro
forma financial information we include elsewhere in this prospectus.

SEPTEMBER 30, 2001
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(IN MILLIONS)

Cash and cash equivalents, including marketable
LY ol T i == $2,015.9 $ 2,015.9

Long—term debt ...ttt ittt ettt e et e e e - -

Notional, intergroup debt...... ..ttt tteeeenenennnn - 2,500.0
Combined attributed net assets (deficiency)................. 1,327.1 (1,172.9)
Total capitalization......e ittt eeeeeeeeeeeennns $1,327.1 $ 1,327.1
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SELECTED HISTORICAL COMBINED FINANCIAL DATA
OF THE CAROLINA GROUP

In the table below, we provide you with selected historical combined
financial data of the Carolina Group. We prepared this information using our
combined financial statements at and for each of the fiscal years in the
five-year period ended December 31, 2000 and at and for the nine-month periods
ended September 30, 2001 and 2000. We derived the combined results of operations
data below for the nine-month period ended September 30, 2001 and each of the
years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2000, and the combined balance
sheet data at September 30, 2001 and December 31, 2000 and 1999 from combined
financial statements included in this prospectus, audited by Deloitte & Touche
LLP, independent auditors. We derived the combined results of operations data
below for each of the years in the two-year period ended December 31, 1997 and
the combined balance sheet data at December 31, 1998, 1997 and 1996 from audited
combined financial statements not included or incorporated by reference in this
prospectus. We derived the remaining data from unaudited combined financial
statements for the periods presented.

This information is only a summary and you should read it together with the
financial information we include in this prospectus beginning on page F-1 or
incorporate by reference in this prospectus. For copies of the financial
information we incorporate by reference, see "Where You Can Find More
Information” on page 111.

THE CAROLINA GROUP IS A NOTIONAL GROUP THAT REFLECTS THE PERFORMANCE OF A
DEFINED SET OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES. THE CAROLINA GROUP IS NOT A SEPARATE
LEGAL ENTITY. THE PURPOSE OF THE FOLLOWING FINANCIAL INFORMATION IS TO PROVIDE
INVESTORS WITH ADDITIONAL INFORMATION TO USE IN ANALYZING THE RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS AND FINANCIAL CONDITION OF THE CAROLINA GROUP, AND THE FOLLOWING
FINANCIAL INFORMATION SHOULD BE READ IN CONJUNCTION WITH THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF LOEWS.

33
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS:

(IN MILLIONS)

Net sales (including
federal excise taxes
of $476.4, $508.4,
$667.9, $512.6,
$495.3, $491.0 and
SATT.06) v ettt eeeeeeeenn $3,389 $3,194.2 $4,233.8 $3,991.3 $2,807.5 $2,391.0 $2,21
Cost of sales........... 1,699. 1,689.9 2,197.7 2,069.1 979.3 973.8 93
Selling, advertising and
administrative........ 976 670.4 918.7 900.2 712.9 668.9 58
Fixed non-unit based
settlement costs...... 579.0 198.8
Operating income........ 712 833.9 1,117.4 1,022.0 536.3 549.5 68
Net investment income... 70. 70.2 104.9 57.4 56.8 25.1 2
Income before income
LAXES . e ettt it eeeeennnn 782 904.1 1,222.3 1,079.4 593.1 574.6 71
Income taxesS......cuoueu... 307 345.9 469.5 427.6 241.6 211.6 277
Net income.............. S 475. $ 558.2 $ 752.8 $ 651.8 $ 351.5 $ 363.0 S 44
OTHER DATA:
EBITDA (L) ¢ vt v v eeeeenn $ 802 $ 924.3 $1,248.9 $1,118.2 S 616.9 $ 596.5 S 73
EBIT(Ll) e vv e e eieeeeenn 783 905.5 1,223.8 1,094.3 594.5 575.5 71
Cash provided by
operating
activities(2)...... 1,015 796.4 550.4 1,024.9 379.8 523.0 42
DECEMBER 31
SEPTEMBER 30 @ - ———7f"----"""
2001 2000 1999 1998 1997 199
(IN MILLIONS)
FINANCIAL POSITION:
Cash and cash equivalents,
including marketable
securities.......iiiiii.. $2,015.9 $1,516.5 $1,283.9 $ 541.2 $ 609.8 $226
Current assetsS....eeeeeeeeeennns. 2,687.7 2,160.0 1,868.1 918.3 962.0 563
Current liabilities............. 1,662.9 1,074.7 1,051.6 446.3 427 .4 304
Working capital......vvveune... 1,024.8 1,085.3 816.5 472.0 534.6 259
Total asSSefS . eeeeennnnnn 3,201.2 2,666.6 2,208.7 1,276.3 1,337.7 897
Long-term debt.................. - - 4.0 4.1 4.2 4
Combined attributed net
ASSEES . ittt e e 1,327.1 1,376.8 921.2 569.3 667.5 404
(1) EBITDA (income before income taxes plus interest, depreciation and
amortization) and EBIT (income before income taxes plus interest) are

supplemental financial measures used by us in evaluating our business and
should be read in conjunction with all of the information in the Selected
Historical Combined Financial Data as well as the Combined Financial

Statements

(including the Notes thereto)

prepared in accordance with

accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
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EBITDA and EBIT should not be considered as an alternative to income before
income taxes or cash flow from operations or as an indication of the
Carolina Group's performance or as a measure of liquidity. In addition,
these measures may not be comparable to similarly titled measures of other
companies.

(2) See the Combined Financial Statements (including the Notes thereto)
included elsewhere in this prospectus.
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SELECTED PRO FORMA FINANCIAL DATA OF THE CAROLINA GROUP

This information is only a summary and you should read it together with the
financial information we include elsewhere in this prospectus or that we
incorporate by reference in this prospectus. For copies of the financial
information we incorporate by reference, see "Where You Can Find More
Information” on page 111.

In the table below, we provide you with unaudited selected pro forma
condensed combined financial information of the Carolina Group assuming the
Carolina Group was a separate group as of January 1, 2000 for income statement
purposes, and as of September 30, 2001 for balance sheet purposes. This pro
forma information is based upon the historical financial statements of the
Carolina Group, adjusted as described in the notes below. This pro forma
information is not necessarily indicative of what the actual financial results
of the Carolina Group would have been had the transactions taken place on
January 1, 2000 or September 30, 2001, nor does it purport to indicate results
of future operations.

We have included detailed unaudited pro forma financial statements starting
on page F-54 of this prospectus.

NINE MONTHS

ENDED YEAR ENDED
SEPTEMBER 30, DECEMBER 31,
2001 2000

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS:
Net sales (including federal excise taxes of $476.4 and

Lo R N I T $3,389.5 $4,233.8
COSE O SALES . i ittt ittt ettt et e e ettt ettt et e ettt 1,699.8 2,197.7
Selling, advertising and administrative..................... 976.9 918.7
Operating InCOmME. & i i ittt it e et e et ettt ettt aaeeeee 712.8 1,117.4
Investment 1NCOME. « v vt ittt it e e e ettt et ettt eeeeeeeeeeanns 70.0 104.9
TNt EresSt EXPEN S . i i it e ittt ettt e ettt eae et (150.0) (200.0)
Income before InCome LaXeS .. u v ittt it tteeeeeeeeeneeneeeens 632.8 1,022.3
TN COME L aAXE S e v v v vt o et e e e et e eaee e e eeaeeeeeeeeeeeaeeeeeanns 248.9 393.5
Nel dNCOME . vttt ittt e e et ettt et et e e e eee e eseeeeennaaeeeeens $ 383.9 $ 628.8
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SEPTEMBER 30,

2001

FINANCIAL POSITION:
Cash and cash equivalents, including marketable

LY ol T i == $2,015.9
(O ol = o B T = = w0 2,687.7
Current liabilities. ..ottt ittt ettt ee e eaeeens 1,662.9
Working capital. ...ttt ettt et ettt et 1,024.8
Total ASSEE S e i ittt ittt e et ettt e ettt ettt e e 3,201.2
Long—term debt . ...ttt it ettt e et e e e e -
Notional, intergroup debt...... ..ttt eeeneeeennn 2,500.0
Combined attributed net assets (deficiency)................. (1,172.9)
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The unaudited pro forma combined financial information for the Carolina
Group gives effect to the following pro forma adjustments:

(1) To reflect $2.5 billion of notional, intergroup debt of the Carolina
Group.

(2) To accrue interest expense at 8.0% on the notional, intergroup debt.

(3) To reflect a tax adjustment for the impact of the interest expense
discussed above.

Subsequent to September 30, 2001, Lorillard paid cash dividends to Loews of
$250.0 million in November of 2001 and $100.0 million in January of 2002. For
accounting purposes, dividends paid by Lorillard are treated as paid by the
Carolina Group to Loews.

THE CAROLINA GROUP IS A NOTIONAL GROUP THAT REFLECTS THE PERFORMANCE OF A
DEFINED SET OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES. THE CAROLINA GROUP IS NOT A SEPARATE
LEGAL ENTITY. THE PURPOSE OF THE FOREGOING FINANCIAL INFORMATION IS TO PROVIDE
INVESTORS WITH ADDITIONAL INFORMATION TO USE IN ANALYZING THE RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS AND FINANCIAL CONDITION OF THE CAROLINA GROUP, AND THE FOREGOING
FINANCIAL INFORMATION SHOULD BE READ IN CONJUNCTION WITH THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF LOEWS.
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THE CAROLINA GROUP
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Unless otherwise noted, market share and units data contained in "The
Carolina Group Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations" is derived from Management Science Associates.

OVERVIEW

The financial information included herein may not necessarily reflect the
combined results of operations, financial position, changes in combined
attributed net assets and cash flows of the Carolina Group had it been a
separate legal entity during the periods presented. The combined financial
statements of the Carol;text-align:center; font-family:Times New Roman;text-justify:inter-ideograp
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222

394

447

Gas gathering

35

46

73
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94

522

764

1,101

1,697

Operating Costs and Expenses:
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Marketing purchases

197
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219

393

441

Operating expenses

151

176

316
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331

General and administrative expenses

56

60

110

128

Restructuring charges
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11

75

Depreciation, depletion and amortization

107

308
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250

601

Impairment of natural gas and oil properties

470

1,535

1,504
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1,535

Gain on sale of assets, net

(277)

(277)

Taxes, other than income taxes
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27

45

57

1,014

2,048
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2,693

2,816

Operating Loss

(492)

(1,284)

(1,592)

(1,119)
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Interest Expense:

Interest on debt
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56

52

109

102

Other interest charges
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52

Interest capitalized

(41)

(54)

(102)
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31

52
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Other Income (Loss), Net
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Gain (Loss) on Derivatives

15
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Loss Before Income Taxes
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(594)

(1,281)

(1,725)

(1,154)

Provision (Benefit) for Income Taxes:

55



Current
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Deferred

(500)

(451)
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(493)

(444)

Net Loss

(593)
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(788)

(1,725)

(710)

Mandatory convertible preferred stock dividend

27

27

54
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52

Net Loss Attributable to Common Stock

(620)

(815)

(1,779)

(762)
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Loss Per Common Share:
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Basic

(1.61)

(2.13)
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(4.63)

(2.01)

Diluted
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Weighted Average Common Shares Outstanding:
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Basic

385,594,815
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382,114,011

384,232,831

378,797,446

Diluted

385,594,815

382,114,011

384,232,831
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378,797,446

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these
unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.

3
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SOUTHWESTERN ENERGY COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
(Unaudited)

For the three For the six
months ended months ended
June 30, June 30,

2016 2015 2016 2015
(in millions)

Net loss $ (593) $ (788) $ (1,725) $ (710)
Change in derivatives:

Settlements (1) - (33) - (58)
Change in fair value of derivative instruments (2) - 4 - 13
Total change in derivatives - 37 - 45)
Change in value of pension and other postretirement liabilities:

Amortization of prior service cost and net loss included in net periodic pension (1) - - -
cost (3)

Net gain incurred in period (4) 4 - 4 -
Change in currency translation adjustment - 2 3 @)
Comprehensive loss $ (590) $ (823) $ (1,718) $ (759)

(1) Net of ($20) million and ($37) million in taxes for the three and six months ended June 30, 2015.
(2) Net of $1 million and $8 million in taxes for the three and six months ended June 30, 2015.

(3) Net of $1 million in taxes for the six months ended June 30, 2016.

(4) Net of $1 million in taxes for the three and six months ended June 30, 2016.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these

unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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SOUTHWESTERN ENERGY COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(Unaudited)
December
June 30, 31,
2016 2015
ASSETS (in millions)
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 998 $ 15
Accounts receivable, net 235 327
Derivative assets 16 3
Other current assets 29 48
Total current assets 1,278 393

Natural gas and oil properties, using the full cost method, including $3,382 million as of June 22,657 22,478
30, 2016 and $3,727 million as of December 31, 2015 excluded from amortization

Gathering systems 1,280 1,280
Other 592 606
Less: Accumulated depreciation, depletion and amortization (18,582) (16,821)
Total property and equipment, net 5,947 7,543
Other long-term assets 152 150
TOTAL ASSETS $ 7,377 $ 8,086

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities:

Short-term debt $1 $1
Accounts payable 296 513
Taxes payable 61 64
Interest payable 75 75
Dividends payable 27 27
Derivative liabilities 76 3
Other current liabilities 55 24
Total current liabilities 591 707
Long-term debt 5,767 4,704
Pension and other postretirement liabilities 51 50
Other long-term liabilities 395 343
Total long-term liabilities 6,213 5,097
Commitments and contingencies (Note 11)

Equity:

Common stock, $0.01 par value; 1,250,000,000 shares authorized; issued 4 4

392,496,825 (1) shares as of June 30, 2016 (does not include 2,100,119 shares declared as a
stock dividend on June 14, 2016 to be issued on July 15, 2016) and 390,138,549 as of
December 31, 2015

Preferred stock, $0.01 par value, 10,000,000 shares authorized, 6.25% Series B Mandatory
Convertible, $1,000 per share liquidation preference, 1,725,000 shares issued and outstanding
as of June 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, conversion in January 2018

Additional paid-in capital 3,418 3,409
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Accumulated deficit (2,807)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss 41
Common stock in treasury, 31,269 shares as of June 30, 2016 and 47,149 shares as of (D
December 31, 2015, respectively

Total equity 573
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY $ 7,377

(1) Does not include 98,900,000 shares of common stock issued in July 2016.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these
unaudited consolidated financial statements.

(1,082)
(43)
(1)

2,282
$ 8,086
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SOUTHWESTERN ENERGY COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(Unaudited)

Cash Flows From Operating Activities
Net loss

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation, depletion and amortization
Impairment of natural gas and oil properties
Amortization of debt issuance costs
Deferred income taxes

Loss on derivatives, net of settlement
Stock-based compensation

Gain on sale of assets, net

Restructuring charges

Other

Change in assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable

Inventories

Accounts payable

Taxes payable

Interest payable

Other assets and liabilities

Net cash provided by operating activities

Cash Flows From Investing Activities

Capital investments

Acquisitions

Proceeds from sale of property and equipment
Other

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash Flows From Financing Activities
Payments on current portion of long-term debt
Payments on long-term debt

Payments on short-term debt

Payments on revolving credit facility
Borrowings under revolving credit facility
Payments on commercial paper

For the six months

ended
June 30,
2016

2015
(in millions)

$ (1,725) $ (710)

250
1,504
4

129
17

29
7

92
(N

(139)
3

165

(241)
54
(186)

ey

(3,268)
3,152
(242)

603
1,535
49
451)
71

12
277)

162

(22)
(30)
14

(16)
940

974)
(569)
703
10
(830)

(1)
(500)
(4,500)
(1,534)
1,804
(1,182)
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Borrowings under commercial paper

Change in bank drafts outstanding

Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt

Debt issuance costs

Proceeds from issuance of common stock

Proceeds from issuance of mandatory convertible preferred stock
Preferred stock dividend

Other

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these

unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.

6

242
@n
1,191
(16)

@7
(©6)
1,004

983
15
$ 998

1,288
(1)
2,200
A7)
669
1,673
(25)

(126)
(16)

53
$ 37
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SOUTHWESTERN ENERGY COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

(Unaudited)
Preferred Accumulated
Common Stock Stock Additional Other Common
Stock
Shares Paid-In  AccumulatedComprehensive
Income
Issued AmountShares Capital Deficit (Loss) Treasury Total
(in millions, except share amounts)

Balance at December 31

2015 390,138,549 $ 4 1,725,000 $ 3409 $ (1,082) $ (48) $ (1) $ 2282
Comprehensive loss:

Net loss - - - - (1,725) - - (1,725)
Other comprehensive

income - - - - - 7 - 7

Total comprehensive loss — - - - - - - (1,718)
Stock-based

compensation - - - 42 - - - 42
Preferred stock dividend 3,024,737 - - 27 - - 27
Issuance of restricted

stock 84,165 - - - - - - -
Cancellation of restricted

stock (89,095) - - - - - - -

Tax withholding — stock (661,531) - - (6) - - - (6)
compensation

Balance at June 30, 2016 392,496,825 $ 4 1,725,000 $ 3,418 $ (2,807) §$ (41) $ (1) $573

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these
unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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SOUTHWESTERN ENERGY COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(1) BASIS OF PRESENTATION

Southwestern Energy Company (including its subsidiaries, collectively “Southwestern” or the “Company”) is an
independent energy company engaged in natural gas and oil exploration, development and production (“E&P”). The
Company is also focused on creating and capturing additional value through its natural gas gathering and marketing
businesses (“Midstream’). Southwestern conducts most of its businesses through subsidiaries and operates principally
in two segments: E&P and Midstream.

Exploration and Production. Southwestern’s primary business is the exploration for and production of natural gas and
oil, with current operations principally focused on the development of unconventional natural gas reservoirs located in
Pennsylvania, West Virginia and Arkansas. The Company’s operations in northeast Pennsylvania, herein referred to as
“Northeast Appalachia,” are primarily focused on the unconventional natural gas reservoir known as the Marcellus
Shale. Operations in West Virginia and southwest Pennsylvania, herein referred to as “Southwest Appalachia,” are
focused on the Marcellus Shale, the Utica and the Upper Devonian unconventional natural gas and oil

reservoirs. Collectively, Southwestern refers to its properties located in Pennsylvania and West Virginia as the
“Appalachian Basin.” The Company’s operations in Arkansas are primarily focused on an unconventional natural gas
reservoir known as the Fayetteville Shale. Southwestern has exploration and production activities ongoing in
Colorado and Louisiana, along with other areas in which it is currently exploring for new development opportunities.
The Company also has drilling rigs located in Pennsylvania, West Virginia and Arkansas and provides oilfield
products and services, principally serving its E&P operations.

Midstream. Through the Company’s affiliated midstream subsidiaries, Southwestern engages in natural gas gathering
activities in Arkansas and Louisiana. These activities primarily support the Company’s E&P operations and generate
revenue from fees associated with the gathering of natural gas. Southwestern’s marketing activities capture
opportunities that arise through the marketing and transportation of the natural gas, oil and NGLs produced in its E&P
operations.

The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements were prepared using accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”) for interim financial information and in accordance with
the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission. Certain information relating to the Company’s
organization and footnote disclosures normally included in financial statements prepared in accordance with GAAP
have been appropriately condensed or omitted in this Quarterly Report. The Company believes the disclosures made
are adequate to make the information presented not misleading.
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The unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements contained in this report include all normal and recurring
material adjustments that, in the opinion of management, are necessary for a fair statement of the financial position,
results of operations and cash flows for the interim periods presented herein. It is recommended that these unaudited
condensed consolidated financial statements be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and the
notes thereto included in the Company’s Annual Report for the year ended December 31, 2015 (“2015 Annual Report™).

The Company’s significant accounting policies, which have been reviewed and approved by the Audit Committee of
the Company’s Board of Directors, are summarized in Note 1 in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
included in the Company’s 2015 Annual Report.

Certain reclassifications have been made to the prior year financial statements to conform to the 2016
presentation. The effects of the reclassifications were not material to the Company’s unaudited condensed
consolidated financial statements.
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(2) CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

The following table presents a summary of cash and cash equivalents as of June 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015:

June  December
30, 31,

2016 2015

(in millions)

Cash $12 $ 15
Marketable securities (1) 986 -
Total cash and cash equivalents $ 998 $ 15
(1) Consists of money market funds.

(3) REDUCTION IN WORKFORCE

In January 2016, the Company announced a 40% workforce reduction of approximately 1,100 employees as a result of
lower anticipated drilling activity. This reduction was substantially completed in the first quarter of 2016. In April
2016, the Company also partially restructured executive management, which was substantially completed in the
second quarter of 2016.

The following table presents a summary of the restructuring charges for the three and six months ended June 30,
2016:

For  For the

the six

three

months

monthsended

ended

June June

30, 30,

2016 2016

(in millions)
Severance (including payroll taxes) (1) $2 $ 4
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Stock-based compensation (2) 6 24
Pension and other postretirement benefits (3) 3 3
Other benefits - 3
Outplacement services, other - 1
Total restructuring charges (4) $11 $ 75

(DIncludes $1 million related to executive management restructuring for the three and six months ended June 30,
2016.

(2) Includes $3 million related to executive management restructuring for the three and six months ended June 30,
2016.

(3) Includes non-cash charges related to the curtailment and settlement of the pension and other postretirement benefit
plans. See Note 12 for additional details regarding the Company’s retirement and employee benefit plans.

(4) Total restructuring charges were $11 million and less than $1 million for the Company’s E&P and Midstream
segments, respectively, for the three months ended June 30, 2016. For the six months ended June 30, 2016,
restructuring charges were $72 million and $3 million for the Company’s E&P and Midstream segments,
respectively.

The following table presents a summary of liabilities associated with the Company’s restructuring activities at June 30,
2016, which are reflected in accounts payable on the unaudited condensed consolidated balance sheet (in millions):

Liability at March 31,2016  $ 24
Additions 2
Distributions 24)
Liability at June 30, 2016 $2

Severance payments and other separation costs related to restructuring will be completed by the end of the fourth
quarter, resulting in the recognition of approximately $0.5 million of additional expense in the second half of 2016.

(4) ACQUISITIONS AND DIVESTITURES

In June 2016, the Company entered into a definitive agreement with Antero Resources Corporation to sell
approximately 55,000 net acres in West Virginia for $450 million, subject to customary adjustments. The net book
value of these assets is in the full cost pool and was held in the E&P segment as of June 30, 2016. The transaction is
expected to close in the third quarter of 2016, subject to customary closing conditions and purchase price
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adjustments. At June 30, 2016, a $45 million deposit from Antero Resources Corporation was included in other
current liabilities within the unaudited condensed consolidated balance sheet. The Company intends to use $375
million of proceeds from the sale for general corporate purposes, including to fund capital projects, and to use the
remainder to reduce indebtedness.

9
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In May 2015, the Company sold conventional oil and gas assets located in East Texas and the Arkoma Basin for
approximately $211 million. The net book value of these assets was primarily in the full cost pool and was held in the
E&P segment as of the closing date. The proceeds from the transaction were used to reduce the Company’s

debt. Approximately $205 million of the proceeds received were recorded as a reduction of the capitalized costs of
the Company’s natural gas and oil properties in the United States pursuant to the full cost method of accounting.

In April 2015, the Company sold its gathering assets located in Bradford and Lycoming counties in northeast
Pennsylvania to Howard Midstream Energy Partners, LLC for an adjusted sales price of approximately $489

million. The net book value of these assets was $206 million and was held in the Midstream segment as of the closing
date. A gain on sale of $283 million was recognized and is included in gain on sale of assets, net on the unaudited
condensed consolidated statement of operations. The assets included approximately 100 miles of natural gas
gathering pipelines, with nearly 600 million cubic feet per day of capacity. The proceeds from the transaction were
used to substantially repay borrowings under the Company’s $500 million term loan facility that would have matured
in December 2016.

In January 2015, the Company completed an acquisition of certain natural gas and oil assets including approximately
46,700 net acres in northeast Pennsylvania from WPX Energy, Inc. for an adjusted purchase price of $270 million (the
“WPX Property Acquisition”). This acreage was producing approximately 50 million net cubic feet of gas per day from
63 operated horizontal wells as of December 2014. As part of this transaction, the Company assumed firm
transportation capacity of 260 million cubic feet of gas per day predominantly on the Millennium pipeline. The firm
transport is being amortized over 19 years. As of June 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015 the Company has amortized
$13 million and $8 million, respectively. This transaction was funded with the revolving credit facility and was
accounted for as a business combination.

In January 2015, the Company completed an acquisition of certain natural gas and oil assets from Statoil ASA
covering approximately 30,000 acres in West Virginia and southwest Pennsylvania comprising approximately 20% of
Statoil’s interests in that acreage for $357 million, (the “Statoil Property Acquisition”). All of these assets were also
assets in which the Company had acquired interests under the Chesapeake Property Acquisition, as defined

below. This transaction was funded with the revolving credit facility and was accounted for as a business
combination. The Company allocated the purchase price to natural gas and oil properties, based on the respective fair
values of the assets acquired.

In December 2014, the Company completed an acquisition of certain oil and gas assets from Chesapeake Energy
Corporation covering approximately 413,000 net acres in West Virginia and southwest Pennsylvania targeting natural
gas, NGLs and crude oil contained in the Upper Devonian, Marcellus and Utica Shales for approximately $5.0 billion
(the “Chesapeake Property Acquisition”). The transaction was temporarily financed using a $4.5 billion 364-day senior
unsecured bridge term loan credit facility and a $500 million two-year unsecured term loan. The Company repaid all
principal and interest outstanding on the $4.5 billion bridge facility in January 2015 after permanent financing was
finalized and, as a result, expensed $47 million of short-term unamortized debt issuance costs related to the bridge
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facility in January 2015, recognized in other interest charges on the unaudited condensed consolidated statement of
operations. The term loan facility was repaid in full in April 2015 with proceeds from the divestiture of the Company’s
northeastern Pennsylvania gathering assets and borrowings under the revolving credit facility.

(5) NATURAL GAS AND OIL PROPERTIES

The Company utilizes the full cost method of accounting for costs related to the exploration, development and
acquisition of natural gas and oil properties. Under this method, all such costs (productive and nonproductive),
including salaries, benefits and other internal costs directly attributable to these activities are capitalized on a
country-by-country basis and amortized over the estimated lives of the properties using the units-of-production
method. These capitalized costs are subject to a ceiling test that limits such pooled costs, net of applicable deferred
taxes, to the aggregate of the present value of future net revenues attributable to proved natural gas, oil and NGL
reserves discounted at 10% (standardized measure) plus the lower of cost or market value of unproved properties.
Any costs in excess of the ceiling are written off as a non-cash expense. The expense may not be reversed in future
periods, even though higher natural gas, oil and NGL prices may subsequently increase the ceiling. Companies using
the full cost method are required to use the average quoted price from the first day of each month from the previous 12
months, including the impact of derivatives designated for hedge accounting, to calculate the ceiling value of their
reserves.

10
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Using the average quoted price from the first day of each month from the previous 12 months for Henry Hub natural
gas of $2.24 per MMBtu, West Texas Intermediate oil of $39.63 per barrel and NGLs of $5.87 per barrel, adjusted for
market differentials, the Company’s net book value of its United States and Canada natural gas and oil properties
exceeded the ceiling by $297 million (net of tax) at June 30, 2016 and resulted in a non-cash ceiling test impairment.
The Company had no hedge positions that were designated for hedge accounting as of June 30, 2016. Decreases in
market prices as well as changes in production rates, levels of reserves, evaluation of costs excluded from
amortization, future development costs and production costs could result in future ceiling test impairments.

Using the average quoted price from the first day of each month from the previous 12 months for Henry Hub natural
gas of $3.39 per MMBtu, West Texas Intermediate oil of $68.17 per barrel and NGLs of $12.53 per barrel, adjusted
for market differentials, the net book value of the Company’s United States natural gas and oil properties exceeded the
ceiling by $944 million (net of tax) at June 30, 2015 and resulted in a non-cash ceiling test impairment. Cash flow
hedges of natural gas production in place increased the ceiling amount by approximately $60 million as of June 30,
2015. In the third and fourth quarters of 2015, the Company’s net book value of its United States natural gas and oil
properties exceeded the ceiling by approximately $1,746 million (net of tax) at September 30, 2015 and $1,586
million (net of tax) at December 31, 2015, resulting in non-cash ceiling test impairments in each quarter. In the first
quarter of 2016, the Company’s net book value of its United States natural gas and oil properties exceeded the ceiling
by approximately $641 million (net of tax) at March 31, 2016, resulting in a non-cash ceiling test impairment in the
quarter.

(6) EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per common share is computed by dividing net income (loss) attributable to common stock by the
weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the reportable period. The diluted earnings per share
calculation adds to the weighted average number of common shares outstanding: the incremental shares that would
have been outstanding assuming the exercise of dilutive stock options, the vesting of unvested restricted shares of
common stock and performance units, the assumed conversion of mandatory convertible preferred stock and the
shares of common stock declared as a preferred stock dividend. An antidilutive impact is an increase in earnings per
share or a reduction in net loss per share resulting from the conversion, exercise, or contingent issuance of certain
securities.

In July 2016, the Company completed an underwritten public offering of 98,900,000 shares of its common stock, with
an offering price to the public of $13.00 per share. Net proceeds, after underwriting discount and offering expenses,
from the common stock offering were approximately $1,247 million. The proceeds from the offering were used to
repay $375 million of the $750 million term loan entered into in November 2015 and to settle certain tender offers by
purchasing an aggregate principal amount of approximately $700 million of the Company’s outstanding senior notes
due in the first quarter of 2018. The remaining proceeds of the offering will be used for general corporate

purposes. The 98,900,000 shares of common stock were issued in July 2016 and are therefore not included in the
outstanding common stock share counts or earnings per share calculations for the quarter ended June 30, 2016.
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In January 2015, the Company completed concurrent underwritten public offerings of 30,000,000 shares of its
common stock and 34,500,000 depositary shares (both share counts include shares issued as a result of the
underwriters exercising their options to purchase additional shares). The common stock offering was priced at $23.00
per share. Net proceeds, after underwriting discount and expenses, from the common stock offering were
approximately $669 million. Net proceeds, after underwriting discount and expenses, from the depositary share
offering were approximately $1.7 billion. Each depositary share represents a 1/20th interest in a share of the
Company’s mandatory convertible preferred stock, with a liquidation preference of $1,000 per share (equivalent to a
$50 liquidation preference per depositary share). The proceeds from the offerings were used to partially repay
borrowings under the Company’s $4.5 billion 364-day bridge facility with the remaining balance of the bridge facility
fully repaid with proceeds from the Company’s January 2015 public offering of $2.2 billion in long-term senior notes.

The mandatory convertible preferred stock entitles the holder to a proportional fractional interest in the rights and
preferences of the convertible preferred stock, including conversion, dividend, liquidation and voting rights. Unless
converted earlier at the option of the holders, on or around January 15, 2018 each share of convertible preferred stock
will automatically convert into between 37.0028 and 43.4782 shares of the Company’s common stock (and,
correspondingly, each depositary share will convert into between 1.85014 and 2.17391 shares of the Company’s
common stock), subject to customary anti-dilution adjustments, depending on the volume-weighted average price of
the Company’s common stock over a 20 trading day averaging period immediately prior to that date. The total
potential shares of common stock resulting from the conversion will range from 63,829,830 to 74,999,895 shares.

11
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The mandatory convertible preferred stock has the non-forfeitable right to participate on an as-converted basis at the
conversion rate then in effect in any common stock dividends declared and as such, is considered a participating
security. Accordingly, it is included in the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share, pursuant to the
two-class method. In the calculation of basic earnings per share attributable to common shareholders, participating
securities are allocated earnings based on actual dividend distributions received plus a proportionate share of
undistributed net income attributable to common shareholders, if any, after recognizing distributed earnings. The
Company’s participating securities do not participate in undistributed net losses because they are not contractually
obligated to do so.

On June 14, 2016, the Company declared its quarterly dividend, payable to holders of the mandatory convertible
preferred stock, and announced that it would pay the dividend in common stock, in lieu of cash, to the extent
permitted by the certificate of designations for the Series B preferred stock. The Company issued 2,100,119 shares of
common stock on July 15, 2016 in payment for the dividend.

The following table presents the computation of earnings per share for the three and six months ended June 30, 2016
and 2015:

For the three months ended For the six months ended
June 30, June 30,
2016 2015 2016 2015
(in millions, except share/per share amounts)
Net loss $ (593) $ (788) $ (1,725) $ (710)
Mandatory convertible preferred stock dividend 27 27 54 52
Net loss attributable to shareholders $ (620) $ (815) $ (1,779) $ (762)

Number of common shares:

Weighted average outstanding 385,594,815 382,114,011 384,232,831 378,797,446
Issued upon assumed exercise of outstanding stock
options (1)

Effect of issuance of non-vested restricted common — - - -
stock (2)

Effect of issuance of non-vested performance units
3)

Effect of issuance of mandatory convertible
preferred stock (4)

Effect of declaration of preferred stock dividends - - - -

®)

385,594,815 382,114,011 384,232,831 378,797,446
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Weighted average and potential dilutive
outstanding

Loss per common share (6):

Basic $ (1.61) $ (2.13) $ (4.63) $ (2.01)

Diluted $ (1.61) $ (2.13) $ (4.63) $ (2.01)

(1) Due to the net loss for the three and six months ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, the unvested stock options were
not recognized in diluted earnings per share calculations as they would be antidilutive. Options for
4,028,819 shares and 4,781,109 shares were excluded from the calculation of diluted shares for the three and six
months ended June 30, 2016, respectively, because they would have had an antidilutive effect. Options for
3,832,533 shares and 3,768,666 shares were excluded from the calculation of diluted shares for the three and six
months ended June 30, 2015, respectively, because they would have had an antidilutive effect.

(2) Due to the net loss for the three and six months ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, the unvested share-based payments
were not recognized in diluted earnings per share calculations as they would be antidilutive. The calculation
excluded 3,353,371 shares and 2,844,365 shares of restricted stock for the three and six months ended June 30,
2016, respectively, because they would have had an antidilutive effect. The calculation excluded 1,507,788 shares
and 1,787,257 shares of restricted stock for the three and six months ended June 30, 2015, respectively, because
they would have had an antidilutive effect.

(3) Due to the net loss for the three and six months ended June 30, 2016, 780,920 shares and 577,624 shares,
respectively, of performance units were excluded from the calculation of diluted earnings per share as they would
have had an antidilutive effect. Due to the net loss for the three and six months ended June 30, 2015, the
calculation excluded 129,202 shares and 116,185 shares, respectively, of performance units as they would have
had an antidilutive effect.

(4) Due to the net loss for the three and six months ended June 30, 2016, 74,999,895 of weighted average common
shares issuable upon the assumed conversion of the mandatory convertible preferred stock were excluded from the
diluted earnings per share calculation, respectively, as they would be antidilutive. Due to the net loss for the three
and six months ended June 30, 2015, 72,723,440 and 64,687,701 of weighted average common shares issuable
upon the assumed conversion of the mandatory convertible preferred stock were excluded from the diluted
earnings per share calculation, respectively, as they would be antidilutive.

(5) Due to the net loss for the three months ended June 30, 2016, 2,100,119 shares of common stock declared as
preferred stock dividends were excluded from the diluted earnings per share calculations as they would have had
an antidilutive effect.

(6) Does not include the effect of 98,900,000 shares of common stock issued in July 2016.
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(7) DERIVATIVES AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Company is exposed to volatility in market prices and basis differentials for natural gas, oil and NGLs which
impacts the predictability of its cash flows related to the sale of those commodities. These risks are managed by the
Company’s use of certain derivative financial instruments. As of June 30, 2016, the Company’s derivative financial
instruments consisted of fixed price swaps, purchased put options, two-way costless collars, three-way costless
collars, basis swaps, sold call options and interest rate swaps. The Company had basis swaps and sold call options as
of December 31, 2015. A description of the Company’s derivative financial instruments is provided below:

Fixed price The Company receives a fixed price for the contract and pays a floating market price to the counterparty.
swaps

Purchased The Company purchases put options from the counterparty by payment of a cash premium. If the market

put options price is lower than the put’s strike price at the time of settlement, the Company receives from the
counterparty such difference on purchased put options. If the market price settles above the put’s strike
price, no payment is due from either party.

Two-way  Arrangements that contain a fixed floor price (purchased put option) and a fixed ceiling price (sold call

costless option). At the contract settlement date, (1) if the index price is higher than the ceiling price, the

collars Company pays the counterparty the difference between the index price and ceiling price, (2) if the index
price is between the floor price and the ceiling price, no payments are due from either party, and (3) if the
index price is below the floor price, the Company will receive the difference between the floor price and
the index price.

Three-way Arrangements that contain a two-way costless collar and a sold put option. At the contract settlement

costless date, (1) if the index price is higher than the ceiling price, the Company pays the counterparty the

collars difference between the index price and ceiling price, (2) if the index price is between the middle strike
price and the ceiling price, no payments are due from either party, (3) if the index is between the lowest
strike price and the middle strike price, the Company will receive the difference between the middle
strike price and the index price, and (4) if the index price is below the floor price, the Company will
receive the difference between the purchased put strike price and the sold put strike price.

Basis swaps Arrangements that guarantee a price differential for natural gas from a specified delivery point. The
Company receives a payment from the counterparty if the price differential is greater than the stated
terms of the contract and pays the counterparty if the price differential is less than the stated terms of the
contract.

Soldcall ~ The Company sells call options in exchange for a premium. If the market price exceeds the strike price
options of the call option at the time of settlement, the Company pays the counterparty such excess on sold call
options. If the market price settles below the call’s strike price, no payment is due from either party.

Interest rate Interest rate swaps are used to fix or float interest rates on existing or anticipated indebtedness. The

swaps purpose of these instruments is to manage the Company’s existing or anticipated exposure to unfavorable
interest rate changes.
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The Company utilizes counterparties for its derivative instruments that it believes are credit-worthy at the time the
transactions are entered into and the Company closely monitors the credit ratings of these counterparties.
Additionally, the Company performs both quantitative and qualitative assessments of these counterparties based on
their credit ratings and credit default swap rates where applicable. However, the events in the financial markets in
recent years demonstrate there can be no assurance that a counterparty will be able to meet its obligations to the
Company.
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The following table provides information about the Company’s financial instruments that are sensitive to changes in
commodity prices and that are used to protect the Company’s exposure. None of the financial instruments below are
designated for hedge accounting treatment. The table presents the notional amount in Bcf, the weighted average
contract prices and the fair value by expected maturity dates as of June 30, 2016.

Weighted Average Price per MMBtu

Fair
value at
June 30,
2016 ($
Sold Purchased Sold Basis in
Volume (Bcf) Swaps  Puts Puts Calls  Differential millions)
Financial protection on production
2016
Fixed price swaps 61 $257 $- $ - $ - $ - $ (24)
Purchased put options 17 $ - $ - $ 234 $ - $ - $ -
Two-way costless collars 12 $ - $ - $ 276 $335 $ - $ (D
Basis swaps 7 $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 0.36 $ 5
Total 97 $ (20)
2017
Fixed price swaps 144 $307 $- $ - $ - $ - $ (16)
Two-way costless collars 47 $ - $ - $ 290 $333 $ - $ @
Three-way costless collars 18 $ - $225 $ 275 $356 $ - $ @
Basis swaps 15 $ — $ - $ - $ - $ 0.02 $ (6)
Total 224 $ (28)
Sold call options
2016 60 $ - $ - $ - $500 $ - $ -
2017 86 $ - $ - $ - $325 $§ - $ (30)
2018 63 $ - $ - $ - $350 $ - $ (18)
2019 52 $ - $ - $ - $350 $ - $ 17
2020 32 $ - $ - $ - $375 $ - $ (10)
Total 293 $ (75)
14
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The balance sheet classification of the assets related to derivative financial instruments (none of which are designated
for hedge accounting) are summarized below as of June 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015:

Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments:

Fixed price swaps
Two-way costless collars
Three-way costless collars
Basis swaps

Two-way costless collars
Three-way costless collars
Total derivative assets

Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments:

Fixed price swaps
Two-way costless collars
Three-way costless collars
Basis swaps

Sold call options

Interest rate swaps

Fixed price swaps
Two-way costless collars
Three-way costless collars
Sold call options

Interest rate swaps

Total derivative liabilities

Derivative Assets
Balance Sheet Classification

Derivative assets
Derivative assets
Derivative assets
Derivative assets
Other long-term assets
Other long-term assets

Derivative Liabilities
Balance Sheet Classification

Derivative liabilities
Derivative liabilities
Derivative liabilities
Derivative liabilities
Derivative liabilities
Derivative liabilities
Other long-term liabilities
Other long-term liabilities
Other long-term liabilities
Other long-term liabilities
Other long-term liabilities

Fair Value
June
30,
December
2016 31,2015

(in millions)

$1 $ -

6 _

2

7 3

6 _

2
$24 $ 3
Fair Value
June
30,

December

2016 31,2015

(in millions)

$36 §$ -
10 -

$155 $ 5

At June 30, 2016, the net fair value of the Company’s financial instruments related to natural gas was a $123
million liability. The net fair value of the Company’s interest rate swaps was an $8 million liability at June 30, 2016.
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Derivative Contracts not Designated for Hedge Accounting

As of June 30, 2016, the Company did not have any positions designated for hedge accounting treatment. Gains and
losses on derivatives that are not designated for hedge accounting treatment, or that do not meet hedge accounting
requirements, are recorded as a component of gain (loss) on derivatives on the unaudited condensed consolidated
statements of operations. Accordingly, the gain (loss) on derivatives component of the statements of operations
reflects the gains and losses on both settled and unsettled derivatives. The Company calculates gains and losses on
settled derivatives as the summation of gains and losses on positions which have settled within the reporting period.
Only the settled gains and losses are included in the Company’s realized commodity price calculations.

The Company is a party to interest rate swaps that were entered into to mitigate the Company’s exposure to volatility
in interest rates. The interest rate swaps have a notional amount of $170 million and expire in June 2020. The
Company did not designate the interest rate swaps for hedge accounting. Changes in the fair value of the interest rate
swaps are included in gain (loss) on derivatives in the unaudited condensed consolidated statements of operations.
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The following tables summarize the before tax effect of fixed price swaps, purchased put options, two-way costless
collars, three-way costless collars, basis swaps, sold call options, and interest rate swaps not designated for hedge
accounting on the unaudited condensed consolidated statements of operations for the three and six months ended June
30,2016 and 2015:

Gain (Loss) on Derivatives,

Unsettled

Recognized in Earnings

For the three For the six
Consolidated Statement of Operations months ended  months ended

Classification of Gain (Loss) June 30, June 30,
Derivative Instrument on Derivatives, Unsettled 2016 2015 2016 2015
(in millions)

Fixed price swaps Gain (Loss) on Derivatives $60) $ (55 $ @0 $ (73
Purchased put options Gain (Loss) on Derivatives (15) - - -
Two-way costless collars Gain (Loss) on Derivatives &) - 5 -
Three-way costless collars  Gain (Loss) on Derivatives 2) - 2) -
Basis swaps Gain (Loss) on Derivatives (D) 3 4 5
Sold call options Gain (Loss) on Derivatives (25) - (75) 8
Interest rate swaps Gain (Loss) on Derivatives - 2 3) (1)
Total loss on unsettled derivatives $ (108) $ (50) $ (129) $ (71)

Gain (Loss) on Derivatives,

Settled (1)

Recognized in Earnings

For the three For the six
Consolidated Statement of Operations months ended  months ended

Classification of Gain (Loss) June 30, June 30,
Derivative Instrument on Derivatives, Settled 2016 2015 2016 2015
(in millions)
Fixed price swaps Gain (Loss) on Derivatives $12 $52 $16 $9%4
Purchased put options Gain (Loss) on Derivatives 11 - 11 -
Basis swaps Gain (Loss) on Derivatives - - 4 (6)
Interest rate swaps Gain (Loss) on Derivatives - (D ) 2)
Total gain on settled derivatives (2) $ 23 $51 $30 $ 86
Total gain (loss) on derivatives $@B $1 $09 $15

(1) The Company calculates gain (loss) on derivatives, settled, as the summation of gains and losses on positions that
have settled within the period.

(2) Excluding interest rate swaps, these amounts are included, along with gas sales revenues, in the calculation of the
Company’s realized natural gas price.

Derivative Contracts Designated for Hedge Accounting
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All derivatives are recognized in the balance sheet as either an asset or liability and are measured at fair value other
than transactions for which normal purchase/normal sale is applied. Certain criteria must be satisfied in order for
derivative financial instruments to be designated for hedge accounting. Accounting guidance for qualifying hedges
allows an unsettled derivative’s unrealized gains and losses to be recorded either in earnings or as a component of other
comprehensive income until settled. In the period of settlement, the Company recognizes the gains and losses from
these qualifying hedges in gas sales revenues. As of June 30, 2016, the Company did not have any positions
designated for hedge accounting treatment. In 2015, the Company had certain fixed price swaps that were designated
for hedge accounting. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2015, the Company reported a loss in other
comprehensive income of $3 million (pre-tax) and a gain in other comprehensive income of $21 million (pre-tax),
respectively, related to the effective portion of our unsettled fixed price swaps. The ineffective portion of those fixed
price swaps was recognized in earnings and had an inconsequential impact to the unaudited condensed consolidated
statement of operations for the three and six months ended June 30, 2015. For the three and six months ended June
30, 2015, a gain of $53 million (pre-tax) and a gain of $95 million (pre-tax), respectively, on settled fixed price swaps
was transferred from other comprehensive income into gas sales revenues in the consolidated statements of
operations.

16
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(8) RECLASSIFICATIONS FROM ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

The following tables detail the components of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) and the related tax

effects for the six months ended June 30, 2016:

June 30, 2016

Pension
and
Other  Foreign
Postretirefdentency ~ Total
(in millions) (1)
Beginning balance at December 31, 2015 $@25 $ (23 $ (48)
Other comprehensive income before reclassifications 4 3 7
Amounts reclassified from/to other comprehensive income (loss) (2) - - -
Net current-period other comprehensive income (loss) 4 3 7
Ending balance at June 30, 2016 $ @2 $ (0 $ 41
(1) All amounts are net of tax.
(2) See separate table below for details about these reclassifications.
1
Amount
Reclassified
from
Accumulated
Other
Details about Accumulated Other Affected Line Item in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive
Comprehensive Income Operations Income
For the six

Pension and other postretirement

Amortization of prior service cost and net loss  General and administrative expenses

(1)

months ended
June 30, 2016
(in millions)
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Provision (benefit) for income taxes 1
Total reclassifications for the period Net loss $ -

(1) See Note 12 for additional details regarding the Company’s retirement and employee benefit plans.

(9) FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The carrying amounts and estimated fair values of the Company’s financial instruments as of June 30, 2016 and
December 31, 2015 were as follows:

December 31,

June 30, 2016 2015

Carrying Fair Carrying Fair

Amount Value Amount Value

(in millions)
Cash and cash equivalents $ 998 $998 §$ 15 $ 15
Credit facility - - 116 116
Term loan facility due 2018 744 744 747 747
Term loan facility due 2020 1,180 1,180 - —
Senior notes 3,844 3,580 3,842 2,651
Derivative instruments, net (131) (131) 2) 2)

The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable, other current assets and
current liabilities on the unaudited condensed consolidated balance sheets approximate fair value because of their
short-term nature. For debt and derivative instruments, the following methods and assumptions were used to estimate
fair value:

Debt: The fair values of the Company’s senior notes were based on the market value of the Company’s publicly traded
debt as determined based on the yield of the Company’s senior notes.

The carrying values of the borrowings under the Company’s unsecured revolving credit and term loan facilities
approximate fair value because the interest rate is variable and reflective of market rates. The Company considers the
fair value of its debt to be a Level 2 measurement on the fair value hierarchy.
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Derivative Instruments: The fair value of all derivative instruments is the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged currently between willing parties. The amounts are based on quoted market prices, best estimates obtained
from counterparties and an option pricing model, when necessary, for price option contracts.

17
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The fair value hierarchy prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. As presented in the
tables below, this hierarchy consists of three broad levels:

Level 1 valuations - Consist of unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities and have
the highest priority.

Level 2 valuations - Consist of quoted market information for the calculation of fair market value.

Level 3 valuations - Consist of internal estimates and have the lowest priority.

The Company has classified its derivatives into these levels depending upon the data utilized to determine their fair
values. The Company’s fixed price swaps (Level 2) are estimated using third-party discounted cash flow calculations
using the NYMEX futures index. The Company utilized discounted cash flow models for valuing its interest rate
derivatives (Level 2). The net derivative values attributable to the Company's interest rate derivative contracts as of
June 30, 2016 are based on (i) the contracted notional amounts, (ii) active market-quoted London Interbank Offered
Rate (“LIBOR”) yield curves and (iii) the applicable credit-adjusted risk-free rate yield curve. The Company’s sold call
options, purchased put options, two-way costless collars and three-way costless collars (Level 3) are valued using the
Black-Scholes model, an industry standard option valuation model that takes into account inputs such as contract
terms, including maturity, and market parameters, including assumptions of the NYMEX futures index, interest rates,
volatility and credit worthiness. The Company’s basis swaps (Level 3) are estimated using third-party calculations
based upon forward commodity price curves.

Inputs to the Black-Scholes model, including the volatility input, which is the significant unobservable input for Level
3 fair value measurements, are obtained from a third-party pricing source, with independent verification of the most
significant inputs on a monthly basis. An increase (decrease) in volatility would result in an increase (decrease) in fair
value measurement, respectively.

Assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis are summarized below (in millions):

June 30, 2016

Fair Value Measurements Using:

Quoted

Prices Significant
Unobservable
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Fixed price swap assets

Two-way costless collars assets
Three-way costless collars assets
Basis swap assets

Fixed price swap liabilities
Two-way costless collars liabilities
Three-way costless collars liabilities
Basis swap liabilities

Sold call option liabilities

Interest rate swap liabilities

Total

Basis swap assets
Interest rate swap liabilities
Total

18

in Significant
ActiveOther

Observable
Marketnputs Inputs
(Level

1) (Level 2)  (Level 3)
$— $ 1 $ -
- - 12
— - 4
- - 7
_ 41) _
- - (17)
- - (6)
- - 3)
- - (75)
_ (8) _
$- $ 48 $ (83

December 31, 2015
Fair Value Measurements Using:
Quotedignificant
Prices Other Significant
in
ActiveObservable Unobservable
Marketnputs Inputs
(Level
1) (Level 2)  (Level 3)
$- $§ - $ 3

- )
$- 8 $ 3

Assets
(Liabilities)
at Fair
Value
$ 1
12
4
7
41)
(17)
(6)
3)
(75)
3)
$ (131)
Assets
(Liabilities)
at Fair
Value
$ 3
&)
$ (2
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The table below presents reconciliations for the change in net fair value of derivative assets and liabilities measured at
fair value on a recurring basis using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) for the three and six months ended June
30, 2016 and 2015. The fair values of Level 3 derivative instruments are estimated using proprietary valuation
models that utilize both market observable and unobservable parameters. Level 3 instruments presented in the table
consist of net derivatives valued using pricing models incorporating assumptions that, in the Company’s judgment,
reflect reasonable assumptions a marketplace participant would have used as of June 30, 2016 and 2015.

For the three  For the six
months ended months ended
June 30, June 30,
2016 2015 2016 2015
(in millions)

Balance at beginning of period $35 $@® $3 $®
Total gains (losses):

Included in earnings 37 3 (71) 3)
Purchases, issuances, and settlements:

Settlements N (15) 6
Transfers into/out of Level 3 - - - -
Balance at end of period $@3) $B $@B3) $OB
Change in gains (losses) included in earnings relating to derivatives still held as of

June 30 $48 $3 $@®6) $3
(10) DEBT
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The components of debt as of June 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015 consisted of the following:

Short-term debt:
7.15% Senior Notes due June 2018
Total short-term debt

Long-term debt:

Variable rate (2.930% at June 30, 2016) term loan facility, due

November 2018 (1)

Variable rate (2.940% at June 30, 2016) term loan facility, due

December 2020

7.35% Senior Notes due October 2017
7.125% Senior Notes due October 2017
3.3% Senior Notes due January 2018 (2)
7.5% Senior Notes due February 2018 (2)
7.15% Senior Notes due June 2018
4.05% Senior Notes due January 2020 (2)
4.10% Senior Notes due March 2022
4.95% Senior Notes due January 2025
Total long-term debt

Total debt

19

June 30, 2016

Unamortized Unamortized
Debt Issuance

InstrumenCost
(in millions)

$1 $ -

$1 $ -
750 (6)
1,191 (11)
15 -
25 -
350 (1)
600 (1)
25 -
850 (5)
1,000 (5)
1,000 @)

$ 5,806 $ (36)

$ 5807 $ (36)

Debt
Discount

“@ &L

Total

&~ &L
—_—

744
1,180

15
25
349
599
25
845
994
991
$ 5,767

$ 5,768
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December 31, 2015
Unamortized Unamortized
Debt Issuance Debt
InstrumentCost Discount Total
(in millions)
Short-term debt:

7.15% Senior Notes due June 2018 $1 $ - $ - $1
Total short-term debt $1 $ - $ - $1
Long-term debt:

Variable rate (1.886% at December 31, 2015) credit facility, expires 116 - - 116
December 2018

Variable rate (1.775% at December 31, 2015) term loan facility, due 750 3 - 747
November 2018 (1)

7.35% Senior Notes due October 2017 15 - - 15
7.125% Senior Notes due October 2017 25 - - 25
3.3% Senior Notes due January 2018 (2) 350 ) - 348
7.5% Senior Notes due February 2018 (2) 600 ) - 598
7.15% Senior Notes due June 2018 26 - - 26
4.05% Senior Notes due January 2020 (2) 850 &) (D) 844
4.10% Senior Notes due March 2022 1,000 5 (D) 994
4.95% Senior Notes due January 2025 1,000 (7 2) 991
Total long-term debt $4732 $ (24 $ @ $ 4,704
Total debt $4733 $ (24 $ @ $ 4,705

(1) InJuly 2016, $375 million was repaid on the term loan facility, extending the maturity from November 2018 to
December 2020.

(2) In July 2016, the Company purchased approximately $312 million of the 3.3% Senior Notes due January 2018
and $388 million of the 7.5% Senior Notes due February 2018.

2016 Credit Facility

In June 2016, the Company reduced its existing $2.0 billion unsecured revolving credit facility down to $66 million
and entered into a new credit agreement for $1,934 million, consisting of a $1,191 million secured term loan and a
new $743 million unsecured revolving credit facility, which matures in December 2020. The $1,191 million secured
term loan is fully drawn, with approximately $285 million of this balance used to pay down the previous revolving
credit facility balance in its entirety. As of June 30, 2016, there were no borrowings under either revolving credit
facility, however, there was $169 million in letters of credit outstanding against the 2016 revolving credit facility.
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Loans under the 2016 credit agreement are subject to varying rates of interest based on whether the loan is a
Eurodollar loan or an alternate base rate loan. Eurodollar loans bear interest at the Eurodollar rate, which is adjusted
LIBOR plus applicable margins ranging from 1.750% to 2.500%. Alternate base rate loans bear interest at the
alternate base rate plus the applicable margin ranging from 0.750% to 1.500%. The interest rate on the term loan
facility is determined based upon the Company’s public debt ratings and was 250.0 basis points over the London
Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) as of June 30, 2016.

The new term loan and revolving credit facility contains financial covenants that impose certain restrictions on the
Company. Under the 2016 credit facility, the Company must keep a minimum interest coverage of 0.75x in 2016,
increasing by 0.25x increments to 1.50x in 2019 and 2020. The Company is also subject to a minimum liquidity
requirement of $300 million, which could be increased up to $500 million upon certain conditions, as well as an
anti-hoarding provision, requiring unrestricted cash in excess of $100 million to pay down any amounts borrowed
under the new revolving credit facility. The financial covenant with respect to minimum interest coverage consists of
EBITDAX divided by consolidated interest expense. EBITDAX excludes the effects of interest expense, income
taxes, depreciation, depletion and amortization, any non-cash impacts from impairments, certain non-cash hedging
activities, stock-based compensation expense, non-cash gains or losses on asset sales, unamortized issuance cost,
unamortized debt discount and restructuring costs. Collateral for the new secured term loan is principally E&P
properties in the Fayetteville Shale area. This collateral also may support all or a part of revolving credit extensions
depending on restrictions in the Company’s senior notes indentures and requires a minimum collateral coverage ratio
of 1.50x.

The existing unsecured 2013 revolving credit facility includes a financial covenant under which the Company may not
have total debt in excess of 60% of its total adjusted book capital. This financial covenant with respect to
capitalization percentages excludes the effects of any full cost ceiling impairments, certain hedging activities and the
Company’s pension and other postretirement liabilities.

20
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As of June 30, 2016, the Company was in compliance with all of the covenants of the term loan and revolving credit
facilities. Although the Company does not anticipate any violations of the financial covenants, its ability to comply
with these covenants is dependent upon the success of its exploration and development program and upon factors
beyond the Company’s control, such as the market prices for natural gas and oil.

2013 Credit Facility

In December 2013, we entered into a credit agreement that exchanged our previous revolving credit facility. Under
the revolving credit facility, we had a borrowing capacity of $2.0 billion. The revolving credit facility was unsecured
and was not guaranteed by any of our subsidiaries. In June 2016, this credit facility was substantially exchanged for a
new credit facility comprised of a $1,191 million secured term loan and a new $743 million revolving credit

facility. The borrowing capacity of the original 2013 credit agreement was reduced from $2.0 billion to $66 million,
remains unsecured and the maturity remains December 2018. As of June 30, 2016, there were no borrowings under
this facility.

2015 Term Facility

In November 2015, the Company entered into a $750 million unsecured three-year term loan credit agreement with
various lenders that was utilized to repay borrowings under the revolving credit facility. The interest rate on the term
loan facility is determined based upon the Company’s public debt ratings from Moody’s and S&P and was 250.0 basis
points over LIBOR as of June 30, 2016. The term loan facility requires prepayment under certain circumstances from
the net cash proceeds of sales of equity or certain assets and borrowings outside the ordinary course of business. In
June 2016, the 2015 term loan agreement was amended to extend the maturity date upon a repayment threshold. As a
result of the July 2016 equity offering, the Company repaid $375 million of the $750 million term loan, which had the
effect of extending the term loan maturity from November 2018 to December 2020.

Senior Notes

In January 2015, the Company completed a public offering of $350 million aggregate principal amount of its 3.30%
senior notes due 2018 (the “2018 Notes”), $850 million aggregate principal amount of its 4.05% senior notes due 2020
(the “2020 Notes”) and $1.0 billion aggregate principal amount of its 4.95% senior notes due 2025 (the “2025 Notes”
together with the 2018 and 2020 Notes, the “Notes”), with net proceeds from the offering totaling approximately $2.2
billion after underwriting discounts and offering expenses. The proceeds from this offering were used to repay the
remaining principal and interest outstanding under the Company’s $4.5 billion 364-day bridge term loan facility, which
was first reduced with proceeds from the Company’s concurrent underwritten public offerings of common and
preferred stock, and were also used to repay a portion of amounts outstanding under the Company’s revolving credit
facility. As a result of this repayment, the Company expensed $47 million of short-term unamortized debt issuance

102



Edgar Filing: LOEWS CORP - Form 424B4

costs related to the bridge facility in January 2015 recognized in other interest charges on the unaudited condensed
consolidated statement of operations for the three months ended March 31, 2015. The Notes were sold to the public at
a price of 99.949% of their face value for the 2018 Notes, 99.897% of their face value for the 2020 Notes and
99.782% of their face value for the 2025 Notes. The interest rates on the Notes are determined based upon the public
bond ratings from Moody’s and S&P. Downgrades on the Notes from either rating agency increase interest costs by
25.0 basis points per downgrade level on the following semi-annual bond interest payment. In February and June
2016, Moody’s and S&P downgraded the Notes, increasing the interest rates by 175.0 basis points effective July
2016. The first higher interest rate coupon payment to bondholders will be paid in January 2017. On July 20, 2016,
the Company used a portion of the proceeds from the July 2016 equity offering to settle certain tender offers by
purchasing an aggregate principal amount of approximately $700 million of the Company’s outstanding senior notes
due in the first quarter of 2018.

(11) COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Operating Commitments and Contingencies

As of June 30, 2016, the Company’s contractual obligations for demand and similar charges under firm transportation
and gathering agreements to guarantee access capacity on natural gas and liquids pipelines and gathering systems
totaled approximately $8.6 billion, $3.3 billion of which related to access capacity on future pipeline and gathering
infrastructure projects that still require the granting of regulatory approvals and additional construction efforts. The
Company also had guarantee obligations of up to $861 million of that amount. As of June 30, 2016, future payments
under non-cancelable firm transportation and gathering agreements are as follows:

21
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Payments Due by Period

Less More

than1 1to3 3t05 5t08 than 8

Total Year Years Years Years Years

(in millions)

Infrastructure Currently in Service $5243 $ 561 $ 1,136 $ 883 $ 852 $ 1,811
Pending Regulatory Approval and/or Construction (1) 3,338 13 231 452 672 1,970
Total Transportation Charges $ 8,581 $574 $ 1367 $ 1,335 $ 1,524 $ 3,781

(1) Based on the estimated in-service dates as of June 30, 2016.

In March 2010, the Company successfully bid for exclusive licenses from the Department of Natural Resources of
New Brunswick to search and conduct an exploration program covering 2,518,518 net acres in the province in order to
test new hydrocarbon basins. In 2015, the provincial government in New Brunswick announced a moratorium on
hydraulic fracturing until it is satisfied with a list of conditions. In response to this moratorium, the Company
requested and was granted an extension of its licenses to March 2021. In May 2016, the provincial government
announced that the moratorium would continue in effect indefinitely. Unless and until the moratorium is lifted,
Southwestern will not be able to continue with its program in New Brunswick, and given this development the
Company has recognized an impairment of $39 million, net of tax, associated with its investment in New Brunswick
in the second quarter of 2016.

Environmental Risk

The Company is subject to laws and regulations relating to the protection of the environment. Environmental and
cleanup related costs of a non-capital nature are accrued when it is both probable that a liability has been incurred and
when the amount can be reasonably estimated. Management believes any future remediation or other compliance
related costs will not have a material effect on the financial position or results of operations of the Company.

Litigation

The Company is subject to various litigation, claims and proceedings that have arisen in the ordinary course of
business, such as for alleged breaches of contract, miscalculation of royalties, and pollution, contamination or
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nuisance. Management believes that such litigation, claims and proceedings, individually or in aggregate and after
taking into account insurance, are not likely to have a material adverse impact on the Company’s financial position,
results of operations or cash flows. Many of these matters are in early stages, so the allegations and the damage
theories have not been fully developed, and are all subject to inherent uncertainties; therefore, management’s view may
change in the future. If an unfavorable final outcome were to occur, there exists the possibility of a material impact on
the Company’s financial position, results of operations or cash flows for the period in which the effect becomes
reasonably estimable. The Company accrues for such items when a liability is both probable and the amount can be
reasonably estimated.

Berry-Helfand (Tovah Energy)

In February 2009, one of the Company’s subsidiaries was added as a defendant in a case then styled Tovah Energy,
LLC and Toby Berry-Helfand v. David Michael Grimes, et, al., then pending in the 273rd District Court in Shelby
County, Texas. The plaintiff alleged that the subsidiary used information provided by the plaintiff under a
confidentiality agreement, which she claimed, among other things, breached the agreement and constituted a
misappropriation of a trade secret. Following a trial in December 2010, the court awarded approximately $11 million
in actual damages and approximately $24 million in disgorgement of profits. Both sides appealed, and in July 2013
the Texas Court of Appeals for the Twelfth District reversed on all claims except misappropriation of trade secrets,
reduced the judgment to the actual damages award and ordered the case remanded for an award of attorneys’ fees to the
Company’s subsidiary on one of the claims on which judgment was reversed. Both parties petitioned the Supreme
Court of Texas for review. On June 10, 2016, the Supreme Court ruled that insufficient evidence supported the
damage award and remanded the case for a new trial. The date for the new trial has not yet been set.

The Company’s subsidiary continues to deny that it breached any obligation or misappropriated any trade secret, the
only two remaining claims. Based on the Company’s understanding and judgment of the facts and merits of this case,
and after considering the advice of counsel, the Company has determined that, although reasonably possible, a
materially adverse final outcome to this action is not probable. As such, the Company has not accrued any amounts
with respect to this action. The Company’s assessment may change in the future depending on further court
proceedings, and such a re-assessment could lead to the determination that the potential liability is probable and could
be material to the Company’s results of operations, financial position or cash flows.

22
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Arkansas Royalty Litigation

Certain of the Company’s subsidiaries are defendants in three cases, two filed in Arkansas state court in 2010 and 2013
and one in federal court in 2014, on behalf of putative classes of royalty owners on some of the Company’s leases
located in Arkansas. The chief complaint in all three cases is that one of the Company’s subsidiaries underpaid the
royalty owners by, among other things, deducting from royalty payments costs for gathering, transportation, and
compression of natural gas in excess of what is permitted by the relevant leases. In September and October 2014, the
judges in the two Arkansas state actions entered orders certifying classes of royalty owners who are citizens of
Arkansas. The Company’s subsidiaries have appealed those orders. Oral argument has not yet been set in either case.

On November 17, 2015, the court in the federal case denied the plaintiff’s motion to certify a class of royalty owners
not included in either of the two state cases. On April 11, 2016, the court certified a broader class that includes
Arkansas residents and citizens. The plaintiff in the federal case presented two alternative damages theories. Under
one theory, plaintiffs have asserted that obligations to affiliates are not “incurred” and therefore the exploration and
production subsidiary was not entitled to deduct any post-production costs; the federal court has granted partial
summary judgment for the Company’s subsidiaries on this theory. Under another theory, plaintiffs assert that the
gathering and treating rates the Company deducted from royalty payments exceeded the affiliates’ actual costs or
otherwise were not reasonable. The plaintiffs have not disclosed a specific damage calculation for any putative class,
but based on the class representative’s disclosure regarding the calculation of claimed damages, class-wide damages
could exceed $100 million. Although trial previously was set for March 15, 2016, following transfer to a different
judge and the certification of the class described above, that trial date has been vacated and no new date set.

In addition, in September 2015 three cases were filed in Arkansas state court on behalf of a total of 248 individually
named plaintiffs. Each case asserts complaints that are in substance virtually identical to the above-described

case. The Company and its subsidiaries have removed two of the cases to federal court, and those cases have been
assigned to the court in which the above-described federal case is pending. All three cases have been stayed.

Management believes that, in all of the above cases, the deductions from royalty payments as calculated are permitted
and intends to defend the cases vigorously. The Company’s assessment may change in the future due to the occurrence
of certain events, such as adverse judgments, and such a re-assessment could lead to the determination that the
potential liability is probable and could be material to the Company’s results of operations, financial position or cash
flows.

Indemnifications
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The Company provides certain indemnifications in relation to dispositions of assets. These indemnifications typically
relate to disputes, litigation or tax matters existing at the date of disposition. No liability has been recognized in
connection with these indemnifications.

(12) PENSION PLAN AND OTHER POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS

The Company has defined pension and postretirement benefit plans which cover substantially all of the Company’s

employees. Net periodic pension costs include the following components for the three and six months ended June 30,
2016 and 2015:

Pension Benefits
For the three For the six

months months
ended ended
June 30, June 30,

2016 2015 2016 2015
(in millions)

Service cost $2 $4 $6 $38
Interest cost 1 2 3 3
Expected return on plan assets (D) 2) 3) €))
Amortization of prior service cost - - - -
Amortization of net loss 1 - 1 1
Curtailment loss 1 - 1 -
Settlement loss 8 - 8 -
Net periodic benefit cost $12 $4 $16 $38
23
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In January 2016, the Company initiated a reduction in workforce that was effectively completed by the end of the first
quarter. As a result of the workforce reduction, the Company recognized a $1 million non-cash curtailment loss
related to its pension plan for both the curtailment-related decrease to the benefit obligation and the recognition of the
proportionate share of unrecognized prior service cost and net loss from other comprehensive income (loss) in the
second quarter of 2016. Additionally, the Company recognized a non-cash settlement loss of $8 million related to $28
million of lump sum payments from the pension plan in the second quarter of 2016. The Company expects pension
settlements related to the reduction in workforce to be substantially complete by the end of the third quarter.

The Company’s other postretirement benefit plan had a net periodic benefit cost (gain) of ($6), $1, ($5) and $2
million for the three months ended June 30, 2016 and 2015 and six months ended June 30, 2016 and 2015,
respectively. Included in the net periodic benefit cost for the second quarter is a curtailment gain of $6 million, which
more than offset the other components of net periodic benefit cost for the three and six months ended June 30, 2016.

As of June 30, 2016, the Company has contributed $6 million to the pension and other postretirement benefit plans.
The Company expects to contribute an additional $5 million during the remainder of 2016. The Company recognized
a liability of $40 million and $12 million related to its pension and other postretirement benefits, respectively, as of
June 30, 2016 compared to a liability of $31 million and $20 million as of December 31, 2015. The Company updated
the discount rate used in the measurement of the benefit obligation of the pension plan and other postretirement
benefits plan to 4.20% in the second quarter of 2016. The Company used an assumption of 4.60% from January 1,
2016 to March 31, 2016 for both the pension and other postretirement benefit plans.

The Company maintains a non-qualified deferred compensation supplemental retirement savings plan (“Non-Qualified
Plan”) for certain key employees who may elect to defer and contribute a portion of their compensation, as permitted
by the plan. Shares of the Company’s common stock purchased under the terms of the Non-Qualified Plan are
presented as treasury stock and totaled 31,269 shares at June 30, 2016, compared to 47,149 shares at December 31,
2015.

(13) STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

The Company recognized the following amounts in employee stock-based compensation costs for the three and
six months ended June 30, 2016 and 2015:

For the three For the six

months months
ended ended
June 30, June 30,
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2016 2015 2016 2015
(in millions)
Stock-based compensation cost —expensed (1) 2) $ 14 $ 6 $37 $ 12
Stock-based compensation cost — capitalized $2 $ 6 $5 $11
(1) Includes $2 million and $16 million related to the reduction in workforce for the three and six months ended June
30, 2016, respectively.
(2) Includes $3 million related to executive management restructuring for the three and six months ended June 30,
2016.

In January 2016, the Company announced a 40% workforce reduction that was substantially concluded by the end of
March 2016. In April 2016, the Company also partially restructured executive management, which was substantially
completed in the second quarter of 2016. Affected employees were offered a severance package that included, if
applicable, amendments to outstanding equity awards that modified forfeiture provisions on separation from the
Company. As aresult, unvested stock-based equity awards became fully vested at the time of separation. These
shares were revalued and recognized immediately as a component of restructuring charges on the Company’s
unaudited condensed consolidated statements of operations.

As of June 30, 2016, there was $67 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to the Company’s
unvested stock option grants, restricted stock grants and performance units. This cost is expected to be recognized
over a weighted-average period of 3 years.
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Stock Options

The following table summarizes stock option activity for the six months ended June 30, 2016 and provides
information for options outstanding and options exercisable as of June 30, 2016:

Number Weighted

Average
of Options  Exercise
Price
(in (per

thousands) share)
Outstanding at December 31, 2015 5,623 $ 24.57

Granted 156 8.60
Exercised - -
Forfeited or expired (29) 37.71
Outstanding at June 30, 2016 5,750 24.07
Exercisable at June 30, 2016 2,611 $ 3595

Restricted Stock

The following table summarizes restricted stock activity for the six months ended June 30, 2016 and provides
information for unvested shares as of June 30, 2016:

Number Weighted

Average
of Shares  Fair

Value
(in (per

thousands) share)
Unvested shares at December 31, 2015 7,222 $ 13.24

Granted 77 8.35
Vested (1) (2,462) 9.22
Forfeited (89) 11.64
Unvested shares at June 30, 2016 4,748 $ 12.89

(1) Includes 1,987,379 shares related to the reduction in workforce and 151,575 shares related to the executive
management restructuring for the six months ended June 30, 2016.
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Equity-Classified Performance Units

The following table summarizes performance unit activity to be paid out in Company stock for the six months ended
June 30, 2016 and provides information for unvested units as of June 30, 2016. The performance units awarded in
2013 and 2014 include a market condition based on relative Total Shareholder Return (“TSR”) and a performance
condition based on the Company's Present Value Index (“PVI”), collectively the ‘“Performance Measures.” The fair value
of the TSR market condition of the performance units is based on a Monte Carlo model and is amortized to
compensation expense on a straight-line basis over the vesting period of the award. The fair value of the PVI
performance condition of the performance units is based on economic analysis for each investment opportunity based
upon the expected present value added for each dollar to be invested and amortized to compensation expense on a
straight-line basis over the vesting period of the award. The performance units awarded in 2016 and 2015 are based
exclusively on TSR. The grant date fair value is calculated using the applicable Performance Measures and the
closing price of the Company’s common stock at the grant date.

Number Weighted

Average
of Units (1) Fair
Value
(in (per
thousands) share)
Unvested units at December 31, 2015 407 $ 36.65
Granted 1,502 8.60
Vested (2) 412) 7.61
Forfeited (3) (267) 11.13
Unvested units at June 30, 2016 1,230 $ 13.69

(1) These amounts reflect the number of performance units granted in thousands. The actual payout of shares may
range from a minimum of zero shares to a maximum of two shares contingent upon the actual performance against
the applicable Performance Measures.

(2) Includes 13,669 units and 37,590 units related to the reduction in workforce and executive management
restructuring, respectively, for the six months ended June 30, 2016.

(3) Includes 71,157 units and 195,834 units related to the reduction in workforce and executive management
restructuring, respectively, for the six months ended June 30, 2016.
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Liability-Classified Performance Units

Prior to 2013, certain employees were provided performance units vesting equally over three years, payable in

cash. The payout of these units was based on certain metrics, such as total shareholder return and reserve replacement
efficiency, compared to a predetermined group of peer companies and Company goals. At the end of each
performance period, the value of the vested performance units, if any, would be paid in cash. In the first quarter of
2016, the Company completed the final payout under these performance unit agreements.

(14) SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Company’s reportable business segments have been identified based on the differences in products or services
provided. Revenues for the E&P segment are derived from the production and sale of natural gas and liquids. The
Midstream segment generates revenue through the marketing of both Company and third-party produced natural gas
and liquids volumes and through gathering fees associated with the transportation of natural gas to market.

Summarized financial information for the Company’s reportable segments is shown in the following table. The
accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in Note 1 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements included in Item 8 of the 2015 Annual Report. Management evaluates the performance of its segments
based on operating income, defined as operating revenues less operating costs. Income before income taxes, for the
purpose of reconciling the operating income amount shown below to consolidated income before income taxes, is the
sum of operating income, interest expense, gain (loss) on derivatives, and other income (loss). The “Other” column
includes items not related to the Company’s reportable segments including real estate and corporate items.

Exploration
and
Production = Midstream Other Total
(in millions)
Three months ended June 30, 2016:

Revenues from external customers $ 291 $ 231 $ - $ 522
Intersegment revenues (7) 328 - 321
Depreciation, depletion and amortization expense 90 17 - 107
Impairment of natural gas and oil properties 470 - - 470
Operating income (loss) 549 (1) 57 - (492)
Interest expense (3) 16 1 - 17
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Other income (loss), net
Loss on derivatives

Benefit for income taxes (3)
Assets

Capital investments (5)

Three months ended June 30, 2015:
Revenues from external customers
Intersegment revenues

Depreciation, depletion and amortization expense
Impairment of natural gas and oil properties
Operating income (loss)

Interest expense (3)

Other income, net

Gain (loss) on derivatives

Provision (benefit) for income taxes (3)
Assets

Capital investments (5)

26

3
(85)
(1)
5,000
73

$ 496
(6)
291
1,535
(1,639)
3
2
(630)
11,882
389

2)

1,227

267
499
17

355

138
1,352
19

(1)

1,150 (4)
1

$1
(1)

(1)
(1)
246

(85)
(D
7377
74

$ 764
492
308
1,535
(1,284)

(493)
13,480
415
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Exploration

and

Production =~ Midstream Other Total

(in millions)
Six months ended June 30, 2016:
Revenues from external customers $ 634 $ 467 $ - $ 1,101
Intersegment revenues (14) 713 - 699
Depreciation, depletion and amortization expense 217 33 - 250
Impairment of natural gas and oil properties 1,504 - - 1,504
Operating income (loss) (1,709) (1) 117 2 - (1,592)
Interest expense (3) 30 1 - 31
Other income (loss), net 1 3 (1) 3)
Loss on derivatives (98) (D) - (99)
Assets 5,000 1,227 1,150 4) 7,377
Capital investments (5) 193 2 1 196
Six months ended June 30, 2015:
Revenues from external customers $ 1,156 $ 540 $1 1,697
Intersegment revenues (11 1,164 - 1,153
Depreciation, depletion and amortization expense 569 32 - 601
Impairment of natural gas and oil properties 1,535 - - 1,535
Operating income (loss) (1,561) 443 (1) (1,119)
Interest expense (3) 45 7 - 52
Other income, net 2 - - 2
Gain (loss) on derivatives 17 - 2) 15
Provision (benefit) for income taxes (3) (612) 169 (1) (444)
Assets 11,882 1,352 246 13,480
Capital investments (5) 1,419 157 10 1,586

(1) Operating income (loss) for the E&P segment includes $11 million and $72 million related to restructuring
charges for the three and six months ended June 30, 2016, respectively.

(2) Operating income (loss) for the Midstream segment includes $3 million related to restructuring charges for the six

months ended June 30, 2016.

Interest expense and the provision for income taxes by segment are an allocation of corporate amounts as they are

incurred at the corporate level.

Other assets represent corporate assets not allocated to segments and assets for non-reportable segments. At June

30, 2016, other assets includes approximately $986 million in marketable securities.

(5) Capital investments includes a $27 million increase and an $11 million decrease for the three months ended June
30, 2016 and 2015, respectively, and decreases of $51 million and $11 million for the six months ended June 30,
2016 and 2015, respectively, relating to the change in accrued expenditures between periods. E&P capital for the
three month period ended June 30, 2015 includes approximately $516 million related to the WPX Property and
Statoil Property Acquisitions. Midstream capital for the six months ended June 30, 2015 includes approximately
$119 million associated with the intangible asset related to the firm transportation acquired through the WPX
Property Acquisition.

3)
(C))
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Included in intersegment revenues of the Midstream segment are $267 million and $419 million for the three months
ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively, and $586 million and $995 million for the six months ended June 30,
2016 and 2015, respectively, for marketing of the Company’s E&P sales. Corporate assets include cash and cash
equivalents, furniture and fixtures and other costs. Corporate general and administrative costs, depreciation expense
and taxes other than income are allocated to the segments.

(15) INCOME TAXES

The Company’s effective tax rate was approximately zero for the three and six months ended June 30, 2016, primarily
as a result of the recognition of a valuation allowance. A valuation allowance for deferred tax assets, including net
operating losses, is recognized when it is more likely than not that some or all of the benefit from the deferred tax
asset will not be realized. To assess that likelihood, the Company uses estimates and judgment regarding future
taxable income, and considers the tax consequences in the jurisdiction where such taxable income is generated, to
determine whether a valuation allowance is required. Such evidence can include current financial position, results of
operations, both actual and forecasted, the reversal of deferred tax liabilities, and tax planning strategies as well as the
current and forecasted business economics of the oil and gas industry.

Due to the material write-downs of the carrying value of natural gas and oil properties and operating results, the
Company is in a net deferred tax asset position. The Company believes it is more likely than not that these deferred
tax assets will not be realized and recorded a $216 million and $647 million tax expense for the increase in our
valuation
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allowance for the three and six months ended June 30, 2016, respectively. Management assesses the available
positive and negative evidence to estimate whether sufficient future taxable income will be generated to permit the use
of deferred tax assets. A significant piece of objective negative evidence evaluated is the projected cumulative loss
incurred over the three-year period ending December 31, 2016. Such objective negative evidence limits the ability to
consider other subjective positive evidence, such as projections for future growth. The amount of the deferred tax
asset considered realizable, however, could be adjusted if estimates of future taxable income are reduced or increased
or if objective negative evidence in the form of cumulative losses is no longer present and additional weight is given
to subjective evidence such as future expected growth.

(16) NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

New Accounting Standards Implemented

In April 2015, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2015-03, Interest-Imputation of Interest (Subtopic
835-30) (“Update 2015-03”), in an effort to simplify presentation of debt issuance costs. Update 2015-03 required that
debt issuance costs related to a recognized debt liability be presented in the balance sheet as a direct deduction from
the carrying amount of that debt liability, consistent with debt discounts. The recognition and measurement guidance
for debt issuance costs was not affected by the amendments in this Update. Entities were required to apply the
amendments in Update 2015-03 on a retrospective basis, with the balance sheet of each individual period presented
adjusted to reflect the period-specific effects of applying the new guidance. In August 2015, the FASB issued
Accounting Standards Update No. 2015-15, Interest-Imputation of Interest (Subtopic 835-30) (“Update 2015-15),
which addressed the presentation or subsequent measurement of debt issuance costs related to line-of-credit
arrangements, given the absence of authoritative guidance within Update 2015-03 for debt issuance costs related to
line-of-credit arrangements. For public entities, Update 2015-03 and Update 2015-15 were effective for annual
reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2015, including interim periods within that reporting period. The
Company adopted this update in the first quarter of 2016 resulting in an immaterial impact on its unaudited condensed
consolidated results of operations, financial position and cash flows. At December 31, 2015, the Company had $24
million in unamortized debt expense that was classified as a long-term asset which is now presented as a contra
liability as a result of adoption.

In May 2015, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2015-07, Disclosures for Investments in Certain
Entities That Calculate Net Asset Value per Share (Or Its Equivalent) (“Update 2015-07”"), which amends ASC 820, Fair
Value Measurement. The standard removes the requirement to categorize within the fair value hierarchy investments
for which fair value is measured using the net asset value per share practical expedient and removes certain related
disclosure requirements. The amendments in Update 2015-07 are effective for reporting periods beginning after
December 15, 2015, with early adoption permitted. The Company adopted this update in the first quarter of 2016
resulting in no impact on its unaudited condensed consolidated results of operations, financial position and cash flows.
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In September 2015, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2015-16, Business Combinations (Topic 805)
(“Update 2015-16”), which seeks to reduce the complexity of amounts recognized in a business combination. The
amendments in Update 2015-16 require that an acquirer recognize adjustments to provisional amounts that are
identified during the measurement period in the reporting period in which the adjustment amounts are

determined. The amendments in Update 2015-16 require that the acquirer record, in the same period’s financial
statements, the effect on earnings of changes in depreciation, amortization, or other income effects, if any, as a result
of the change to the provisional amounts, calculated as if the accounting had been completed at the acquisition

date. The amendments in Update 2015-16 require an entity to present separately on the face of the income statement
or disclose in the notes the portion of the amount recorded in current-period earnings by line item that would have
been recorded in previous reporting periods if the adjustment to the provisional amounts had been recognized as of the
acquisition date. The amendments in Update 2015-16 were effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15,
2015, including interim periods within those fiscal years. The Company adopted this update in the first quarter of
2016 resulting in no impact on its unaudited condensed consolidated results of operations, financial position and cash
flows.

In November 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2014-16, Derivatives and Hedging —
Determining Whether the Host Contract in a Hybrid Financial Instrument Issued in the Form of a Share is More Akin
to Debt or to Equity (Subtopic 815-15) (“Update 2014-16”), addresses diversity in practice related to the determination
of whether derivative features embedded in hybrid instruments issued in the form of a share should be bifurcated and
accounted for separately. For public entities, Update 2014-16 was effective for annual reporting periods beginning
after December 15, 2015, including interim periods within that reporting period. The Company adopted this update in
the first quarter of 2016 resulting in no impact on its unaudited condensed consolidated results of operations, financial
position and cash flows.
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New Accounting Standards Not Yet Implemented

In May 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers
(Topic 606) (“Update 2014-09”), which seeks to provide clarity for recognizing revenue. Topic 606 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers will supersede the revenue recognition requirement as in Topic 605 Revenue Recognition.
Update 2014-09 requires an entity to recognize revenue to depict the transfer of goods or services to customers in an
amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled to those goods or services. Entities
may apply the amendments in Update 2014-09 either (a) retrospectively to each reporting period presented, and the
entity may elect a practical expedient per the update, or (b) retrospectively with the cumulative effect of initially
applying Update 2014-09 recognized at the date of initial application — if an entity elects this transition method it also
should provide the additional disclosures in reporting periods. In August 2015, the FASB issued Accounting
Standards Update No. 2015-14, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606) (“Update 2015-14"). Deferral of
the Effective Date, which finalized proposed ASU No. 2015-240 of the same name and responds to stakeholders’
request to defer the effective date of the guidance in ASU No. 2014-09. In March 2016, the FASB issued Accounting
Standards Update No. 2016-08, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606) — Principal versus Agent
Considerations (Reporting Revenue Gross versus Net) (“Update 2016-08”), which finalized proposed ASU No.
2015-290 of the same name and clarifies the implementation guidance on principal versus agent considerations. In
April 2016, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2016-10, Revenue from Contracts with Customers
(Topic 606) (“Update 2016-10”), which clarifies multiple aspects of Topic 606. In May 2016, the FASB issued
Accounting Standards Update No. 2016-12, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606) — Narrow-Scope
Improvements and Practical Expedients (‘“Update 2016-12""), which provides clarifying guidance in a few narrow areas
and adds some practical expedients to the guidance. For public entities, Update 2014-09, Update 2015-14, Update
2016-08, Update 2016-10 and Update 2016-12 are effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December
15, 2017, including interim periods within that reporting period. The Company is currently evaluating the provisions
of Update 2014-09, Update 2015-14, Update 2016-08, Update 2016-10 and Update 2016-12 and assessing the impact,
if any, they may have on its consolidated results of operations, financial position or cash flows.

In July 2015, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2015-11, Inventory (Topic 330) (“Update 2015-117),
which seeks to simplify the measurement of inventory. Update 2015-11 requires that an entity should measure
inventory at the lower of cost and net realizable value, where net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less reasonably predictable costs of completion, disposal, and transportation. For public
entities, the amendments in Update 2015-11 are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2016,
including interim periods within those fiscal years, with early adoption permitted. The Company is currently
evaluating the provisions of Update 2015-11 and assessing the impact, if any, it may have on its consolidated results
of operations, financial position or cash flows.

In February 2016, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842) (“Update
2016-02”), which seeks to increase transparency and comparability among organizations by, among other things,
recognizing lease assets and lease liabilities on the balance sheet for leases classified as operating leases under
previous GAAP and disclosing key information about leasing arrangements. For public entities, Update 2016-02
becomes effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, including interim periods within those fiscal
years, with early adoption permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the provisions of Update 2016-02 and
assessing the impact, if any, it may have on its consolidated results of operations, financial position or cash flows.
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In March 2016, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2016-09, Compensation - Stock Compensation
(Topic 718) (“Update 2016-09”), which seeks to simplify accounting for share-based payment transactions including
income tax consequences, classification of awards as either equity or liabilities, and the classification on the statement
of cash flows. For public entities, Update 2016-09 becomes effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15,
2016, including interim periods within those fiscal years, with early adoption permitted. The Company is currently
evaluating the provisions of Update 2016-09 and assessing the impact, if any, it may have on its consolidated results
of operations, financial position or cash flows.

(17) SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

In July 2016, the Company completed an underwritten public offering of 98,900,000 shares of its common stock, with
an offering price to the public of $13.00 per share. Net proceeds, after underwriting discount and offering expenses,
from the common stock offering were approximately $1,247 million. The proceeds from the offering were used to
repay $375 million of the $750 million term loan entered into in November 2015 and to settle certain tender offers by
purchasing an aggregate principal amount of approximately $700 million of the Company’s outstanding senior notes
due in the first quarter of 2018.
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ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS.

The following updates information as to Southwestern Energy Company’s financial condition provided in our 2015
Annual Report and analyzes the changes in the results of operations between the three and six months ended June 30,
2016 and 2015. For definitions of commonly used natural gas and oil terms used in this Quarterly Report, please refer
to the “Glossary of Certain Industry Terms” provided in our 2015 Annual Report.

The following discussion contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results
could differ materially from those anticipated in forward-looking statements for many reasons, including the risks
described in the “Cautionary Statement About Forward-Looking Statements” in the forepart of this Quarterly Report, in
Item 1A, “Risk Factors” in Part I and elsewhere in our 2015 Annual Report, and Item 1A, “Risk Factors” in Part II in this
Quarterly Report and any other quarterly report on Form 10-Q filed during the fiscal year. You should read the
following discussion with our unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements and the related notes included in
this Quarterly Report.

OVERVIEW

Background

LT3 LEINT3

Southwestern Energy Company (including its subsidiaries, collectively, “we”, “our”, “us” or “Southwestern”) is an
independent energy company engaged in natural gas and oil exploration, development and production, which we refer
to as “E&P.” We are also focused on creating and capturing additional value through our natural gas gathering and
marketing businesses, which we refer to as “Midstream.” We conduct most of our businesses through subsidiaries and
we operate principally in two segments: E&P and Midstream.

Exploration and Production. Our primary business is the exploration for and production of natural gas and oil, with
our current operations principally focused on the development of unconventional natural gas reservoirs located in
Pennsylvania, West Virginia and Arkansas. Our operations in northeast Pennsylvania, which we refer to as “Northeast
Appalachia,” are primarily focused on the unconventional natural gas reservoir known as the Marcellus Shale. Our
operations in West Virginia and southwest Pennsylvania, which we refer to as “Southwest Appalachia,” are focused on
the Marcellus Shale, the Utica and the Upper Devonian unconventional natural gas and oil reservoirs. Collectively,
we refer to our properties located in Pennsylvania and West Virginia as the “Appalachian Basin.” Our operations in
Arkansas are primarily focused on an unconventional natural gas reservoir known as the Fayetteville Shale. We have
exploration and production activities ongoing in Colorado and Louisiana, along with other areas in which we are
currently exploring for new development opportunities. We also have drilling rigs located in Pennsylvania, West
Virginia and Arkansas and provide oilfield products and services, principally serving our E&P operations.
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Midstream. Through our affiliated midstream subsidiaries, we engage in natural gas gathering activities in Arkansas
and Louisiana. These activities primarily support our E&P operations and generate revenue from fees associated with
the gathering of natural gas. Our marketing activities capture opportunities that arise through the marketing and
transportation of the natural gas, oil and NGLs produced in our E&P operations.

We are focused on providing long-term growth in the net asset value per share of our business. Historically, the vast
majority of our operating income and cash flow has been derived from the production associated with our E&P
business. However, in 2015 and the first half of 2016, depressed commodity prices significantly decreased our E&P
results of operations. The price we expect to receive for our production is a critical factor in the capital investments
we make to develop our properties. In the fourth quarter of 2015, we decreased activity in the Appalachian Basin and
the Fayetteville Shale as a result of the lower commodity price environment. Based on current forward pricing, along
with the successful implementation of our debt reduction strategy, we expect to begin increasing our activity in the
third quarter of 2016, continuing throughout the remainder of the year. Natural gas prices fluctuate due to a variety of
factors we cannot control or predict. These factors, which include increased supplies of natural gas due to greater
exploration and development activities, weather conditions, political and economic events, and competition from other
energy sources, impact supply and demand for natural gas, which in turn determines the sales prices for our
production. We are impacted by crude oil and NGL prices, which have been volatile and have recently declined
significantly. In addition to the factors identified above, the prices we realize for our production are affected by our
hedging activities as well as locational differences in market prices, including basis differentials. Current 2016
forward pricing will likely result in additional impairments to our natural gas and oil properties in the third quarter of
2016 ranging from approximately $450 million to $600 million, net of taxes, including changes in costs excluded from
amortization related to the recently announced divestitures and excluding other such changes, with material
impairments possible beyond the third quarter.
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Three Months Ended June 30, 2016 Compared with Three Months Ended June 30, 2015

We reported a net loss attributable to common stock of $620 million for the three months ended June 30, 2016, or
($1.61) per diluted share, compared to net loss attributable to common stock of $815 million, or ($2.13) per diluted
share, for the three months ended June 30, 2015.

Our natural gas and liquids production decreased to 225 Bcfe for the three months ended June 30, 2016, down

8% from 245 Bcfe for the three months ended June 30, 2015. The 20 Bcfe decrease was due to a 26 Bcfe decrease in
net production from our Fayetteville Shale and other properties, partially offset by 3 Bcfe increases in net production
from each of our Northeast and Southwest Appalachia properties, respectively. The average price realized for our gas
production, including the effects of derivatives, decreased 41% to $1.32 per Mcf for the three months ended June 30,
2016, compared to $2.23 per Mcf for the same period in 2015. The average price realized for our oil production
decreased 21% to $32.46 per barrel for the three months ended June 30, 2016, compared to $40.88 per barrel for the
same period in 2015. The average price realized for our NGL production increased 11% to $6.41 per barrel for the
three months ended June 30, 2016, compared to $5.77 per barrel for the same period in 2015. We did not financially
protect our 2016 or 2015 oil or NGL production.

Our E&P segment reported an operating loss of $549 million for the three months ended June 30, 2016, down from an
operating loss of $1,639 million for the three months ended June 30, 2015. This decrease was primarily due to the
decrease in the impairment of natural gas and oil properties to $470 million for the three months ended June 30, 2016,
as compared to the $1,535 million impairment recorded for the same period in 2015. Excluding impairments, our
E&P segment reported an operating loss of $79 million for the three months ended June 30, 2016, compared to an
operating loss of $104 million for the same period in 2015, primarily due to a $231 million decrease in operating
costs and expenses and an increase in our realized NGL price, partially offset by a 41%, or $0.91 per Mcf, decrease in
our realized natural gas price (including derivatives), a 20 Bcfe decrease in production and a decrease in our realized
oil price from the same period in 2015. In May 2015, we sold our conventional oil and gas assets located in East
Texas and the Arkoma Basin that accounted for a $1 million operating loss for the three months ended June 30, 2015.

Operating income for our Midstream segment was $57 million for the three months ended June 30, 2016, down from
$355 million for the three months ended June 30, 2015, primarily due to a $278 million gain on sale of assets, net in
2015. Excluding the net gain on sale, our Midstream segment operating income decreased $20 million due to a $28
million decrease in gas gathering revenues and a $7 million decrease in our marketing margin, partially offset by a
$15 million decrease in operating costs and expenses. In the second quarter of 2015, we sold our northeastern
Pennsylvania and East Texas gathering assets that accounted for less than $1 million in operating income for the three
months ended June 30, 2015. A net gain on these sales of $278 million was recognized and is included in gain on sale
of assets, net in the unaudited condensed consolidating statement of operations.

Capital investments were $74 million for the three months ended June 30, 2016 (including $41 million in capitalized
interest and $20 million in capitalized expenses), of which $73 million was invested in our E&P segment, compared to
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$415 million for the same period of 2015, of which $389 million was invested in our E&P segment.

Six Months Ended June 30, 2016 Compared with Six Months Ended June 30, 2015

We reported a net loss attributable to common stock of $1.8 billion for the six months ended June 30, 2016, or
($4.63) per diluted share, compared to net loss attributable to common stock of $762 million, or ($2.01) per diluted
share, for the six months ended June 30, 2015.

Our natural gas and liquids production decreased to 462 Bcfe for the six months ended June 30, 2016, down 3% from
478 Bcfe for the six months ended June 30, 2015. The 16 Bcfe decrease was due to a 43 Befe decrease in net
production from our Fayetteville Shale and other properties, partially offset by 14 Bef and 13 Bcfe increases in net
production from our Northeast and Southwest Appalachia properties, respectively. The average price realized for our
gas production, including the effects of derivatives, decreased 46% to $1.40 per Mcf for the six months ended June 30,
2016, compared to $2.60 per Mcf for the same period in 2015. The average price realized for our oil production
decreased 30% to $25.43 per barrel for the six months ended June 30, 2016, compared to $36.08 per barrel for the
same period in 2015. The average price realized for our NGL production decreased 26% to $5.67 per barrel for the
six months ended June 30, 2016, compared to $7.63 per barrel for the same period in 2015. We did not financially
protect our 2016 or 2015 oil or NGL production.
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Our E&P segment reported an operating loss of $1.7 billion for the six months ended June 30, 2016, up from an
operating loss of $1.6 billion for the six months ended June 30, 2015. Excluding $1.5 billion of impairments of
natural gas and oil properties in both 2016 and 2015, respectively, our E&P segment operating loss increased to $205
million for the six months ended June 30, 2016, primarily due to a 46%, or $1.20 per Mcf, decrease in our realized
natural gas price (including derivatives), a 16 Bcfe decrease in production and decreases in our realized oil and NGL
prices. These decreases were partially offset by a $346 million decrease in operating costs and expenses. In May
2015, we sold our conventional oil and gas assets located in East Texas and the Arkoma Basin that accounted for $1
million in operating income for the six months ended June 30, 2015.

Operating income for our Midstream segment was $117 million for the six months ended June 30, 2016, down from
$443 million for the six months ended June 30, 2015, primarily due to a $278 million gain on sale of assets, net in
2015. Excluding the net gain on sale, our Midstream segment operating income decreased $48 million due to a $62
million decrease in gas gathering revenues and a $7 million decrease in marketing margin, partially offset by a $21
million decrease in operating costs and expenses. In the second quarter of 2015, we sold our northeastern
Pennsylvania and East Texas gathering assets that accounted for $13 million in operating income for the six months
ended June 30, 2015. A net gain on these sales of $278 million was recognized and is included in gain on sale of
assets, net in the unaudited condensed consolidating statement of operations.

Capital investments were $196 million for the six months ended June 30, 2016 (including $82 million in capitalized
interest and $41 million in capitalized expenses), of which $193 million was invested in our E&P segment, compared
to $1.6 billion for the same period of 2015 (including $635 million, in total, related to the acquisitions from WPX
Energy, Inc. and Statoil ASA), of which $1.4 billion was invested in our E&P segment.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion of our results of operations for our segments is presented before intersegment eliminations.
We evaluate our segments as if they were stand-alone operations and accordingly discuss their results prior to any
intersegment eliminations. Interest expense and income tax expense are discussed on a consolidated basis.

Exploration and Production
For the three

months For the six months

ended June 30, ended June 30,

2016 2015 2016 2015
Revenues (in millions) $284 $490 $ 620 $ 1,145
Impairment of natural gas and oil properties (in millions) $470 $ 1,535 $ 1,504 $ 1,535
Operating costs and expenses (in millions) $363 $59% $ 825 $ 1,171
Operating loss (in millions) $ (549) $ (1,639) $ (1,709) $ (1,561)
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Gain on derivatives, settled (in millions) (1) $ 23 $ 52 $ 31 $ 88
Gas production (Bcf) 203 226 416 445
Oil production (MBbls) 586 589 1,193 1,134
NGL production (MBbls) 3,136 2,574 6,512 4,340
Total production (Bcfe) 225 245 462 478

Average realized gas price per Mcf, including derivatives (2) $ 1.32 $ 2.23 $ 1.40 $ 2.60
Average realized gas price per Mcf, excluding derivatives $ 121 $ 176 $ 1.33 $ 2.19

Average realized oil price per Bbl $ 3246 $40.88 $ 2543 $ 36.08
Average realized NGL price per Bbl $ 641 $577 $ 5.67 $ 7.63
Average unit costs per Mcfe:

Lease operating expenses $087 $0093 $ 0.88 $ 0.93
General & administrative expenses (3) $021 $0.21 $ 0.20 $ 022
Taxes, other than income taxes (4) $ 009 $0.10 $ 0.09 $ 0.11
Full cost pool amortization $035 $1.13 $042 $1.14

(1) Represents the gain on settled commodity derivatives.

(2) Includes the gain on settled commodity derivatives.

(3) Excludes $11 million and $69 million of restructuring charges for the three and six months ended June 30, 2016,
respectively.

(4) Excludes $3 million of restructuring charges for the six months ended June 30, 2016.
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Revenues

Revenues for our E&P segment were down $206 million, or 42%, for the three months ended June 30, 2016,
compared to the same period in 2015. A decrease in the price realized from the sale of our natural gas production
decreased revenue by $112 million. Additionally there was a decrease of $53 million in hedge settlement proceeds, a
$41 million decrease due to lower natural gas production volumes, and a $5 million decrease as a result of decreased
oil pricing, partially offset by a $5 million increase as a result of increased NGL production and pricing. E&P
revenues were $620 million for the six months ended June 30, 2016, down $525 million, or 46%, compared to the
same period in 2015. A decrease in the price realized from the sale of our natural gas production decreased revenue by
$358 million. Additionally, there was a decrease of $95 million in hedge settlement proceeds, a $65 million decrease
due to lower natural gas production volumes, and a $26 million decrease as a result of decreased liquid pricing,
partially offset by a $19 million increase due to increased liquid production volumes. Natural gas, oil, and NGL prices
are difficult to predict and are subject to wide price fluctuations. Excluding basis swaps, as of June 30, 2016 we had
protected 90 Bcf of our remaining 2016 natural gas production to limit our exposure to price fluctuations. We refer
you to Note 7 to the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements included in this Quarterly Report and to
the discussion of “Commodity Prices” provided below for additional information. In May 2015, we sold our
conventional oil and gas assets located in East Texas and the Arkoma Basin that accounted for $5 and $15 million of
our natural gas and oil revenues for the three and six months ended June 30, 2015, respectively.

Production

For the three months ended June 30, 2016, our natural gas and liquids production decreased 8% to 225 Bcfe, down
from 245 Bcfe from the same period in 2015, and was produced entirely by our properties in the United States. The
20 Bcfe decrease was primarily due to a 26 Bcfe decrease in net production from our Fayetteville Shale and other
properties, partially offset by 3 Bcfe increases in net production from each of our Northeast and Southwest Appalachia
properties, respectively. Net production from our Northeast Appalachia, Southwest Appalachia and Fayetteville Shale
properties was 90 Bcf, 38 Bcfe and 96 Bcf respectively, for the three months ended June 30, 2016, compared to 87
Bcf, 35 Bcfe, and 121 Bcf, respectively, for the same period in 2015. For the six months ended June 30, 2016, our
natural gas and liquids production decreased 3% to 462 Bcfe, down from 478 Bcfe from the same period in 2015, and
was produced entirely by our properties in the United States. The 16 Bcfe decrease was due to a 43 Bcf decrease in
net production from our Fayetteville Shale and other properties, partially offset by 14 Bcf and 13 Bcfe increases in net
production from our Northeast and Southwest Appalachia properties, respectively. Net production from our
Northeast Appalachia, Southwest Appalachia and Fayetteville Shale properties was 184 Bcf, 78 Bcefe and 199 Bef
respectively, for the six months ended June 30, 2016 compared to 170 Bcf, 65 Bcfe, and 236 Bcf, respectively, for the
same period in 2015.

Commodity Prices
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The average price realized for our natural gas production, including the effects of derivatives, decreased to $1.32 per
Mcf for the three months ended June 30, 2016, as compared to $2.23 per Mcf for the same period in 2015. The
decrease was the result of a $0.55 per Mcf decrease in the average natural gas price, excluding derivatives, and lower
proceeds from our derivative program during the three months ended June 30, 2016 as compared to the same period in
2015. The average price realized for our natural gas production, excluding the effects of derivatives, decreased 31%
to $1.21 per Mcf for the three months ended June 30, 2016, as compared to the same period in 2015. Our derivatives
increased the average realized natural gas price by $0.11 per Mcf for the three months ended June 30, 2016 compared
to an increase of $0.47 per Mcf for the same period in 2015. The average price realized for our natural gas production,
including the effects of derivatives, decreased to $1.40 per Mcf for the six months ended June 30, 2016, as compared
to $2.60 per Mcf for the same period in 2015. The decrease was the result of a $0.86 per Mcf decrease in the average
natural gas price, excluding derivatives, and lower proceeds from our derivative program during the six months ended
June 30, 2016 as compared to the same period in 2015. The average price realized for our natural gas production,
excluding the effects of derivatives, decreased 39% to $1.33 per Mcf for the six months ended June 30, 2016, as
compared to the same period in 2015. Our derivatives increased the average realized natural gas price by $0.07 per
Mcf for the six months ended June 30, 2016 compared to an increase of $0.41 per Mcf for the same period in 2015.

Our E&P segment receives a sales price for our natural gas at a discount to average monthly NYMEX settlement
prices due to heating content of the gas, locational basis differentials, transportation and fuel charges. Additionally,
we receive a sales price for our oil and NGLs at a discount to average monthly West Texas Intermediate settlement
and Mont Belvieu NGL composite prices, respectively, due to a number of factors including product quality,
composition and types of NGLs sold, locational basis differentials, transportation and fuel charges.
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We enter into various hedging and other financial arrangements with respect to a portion of our projected natural gas
production in order to ensure certain desired levels of cash flow and to minimize the impact of price fluctuations,
including fluctuations in locational market differentials. We refer you to Item 3, “Quantitative and Qualitative
Disclosures About Market Risks” and Note 7 to the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements included in
this Quarterly Report for additional discussion about our derivatives and risk management activities.

Excluding the impact of derivatives, the average price received for our natural gas production for the six months
ended June 30, 2016 of $1.33 per Mcf was approximately $0.69 lower than the average monthly NYMEX settlement
price, primarily due to locational basis differentials and transportation costs. We protected approximately 38% of our
natural gas production for the six months ended June 30, 2016 from the impact of widening basis differentials through
our sales arrangements and hedging activities. For the six months ended June 30, 2016, we protected the basis on
approximately 152 Bcf of our natural gas production through physical sales arrangements. We have protected basis
on approximately 111 Bcef and 90 Bef of our remaining 2016 and 2017 expected natural gas production through
physical sales arrangements at a basis differential to NYMEX natural gas prices of approximately ($0.16) per Mcf and
($0.12) per Mcf for the remainder of 2016 and 2017, respectively. We have also financially protected a portion our
remaining 2016 and 2017 expected natural gas production. We refer you to Note 7 to the unaudited condensed
consolidated financial statements included in this Quarterly Report for additional details about our derivative
instruments.

We realized an average sales price of $32.46 per barrel for our oil production for the three months ended June 30,
2016, down 21% from $40.88 per barrel for the same period in 2015. Oil accounted for 2% and 1% of our total
production for the three months ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively. We realized an average sales price of
$25.43 per barrel for our oil production for the six months ended June 30, 2016, down 30% from $36.08 per barrel for
the same period in 2015. Oil accounted for 2% and 1% of our total production for the six months ended June 30, 2016
and 2015, respectively. We did not financially protect our 2016 or 2015 oil production.

We realized an average sales price of $6.41 per barrel for our NGL production for the three months ended June 30,
2016, up 11% from $5.77 per barrel for the same period in 2015. NGLs accounted for 8% and 6% of our total
production for the three months ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively. We realized an average sales price of
$5.67 per barrel for our NGL production for the six months ended June 30, 2016, down 26% from $7.63 per barrel for
the same period in 2015. NGLs accounted for 8% and 6% of our total production for the six months ended June 30,
2016 and 2015, respectively. We did not financially protect our 2016 or 2015 NGL production.

Operating Income

Our E&P segment reported an operating loss of $549 million for the three months ended June 30, 2016, down from an
operating loss of $1,639 million for the three months ended June 30, 2015. The E&P segment recorded a $470 million
impairment of natural gas and oil properties for the three months ended June 30, 2016, compared to a $1,535 million
impairment for the same period in 2015. Excluding impairments, our E&P segment reported an operating loss of $79
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million for the three months ended June 30, 2016, compared to an operating loss of $104 million for the same period
in 2015, primarily due to a $231 million decrease in operating costs and expenses resulting primarily from a $201
million decrease in DD&A, a $30 million decrease in operating expenses and a $4 million decrease in taxes other than
income. These decreases were partially offset by a 41%, or $0.91 per Mcf, decrease in our realized natural gas price
(including derivatives), a 20 Bcfe decrease in our production, a decrease in our realized oil price and a $5 million
increase in general and administrative expenses. For the three months ended June 30, 2016, general and
administrative expenses included $11 million related to restructuring charges.

Our E&P segment reported an operating loss of $1.7 billion for the six months ended June 30, 2016, up from an
operating loss of $1.6 billion for the six months ended June 30, 2015. The E&P segment recorded $1.5 billion of
impairments of natural gas and oil properties for the six months ended June 30, 2016 and 2015. Excluding
impairments, our E&P segment reported an operating loss of $205 million for the six months ended June 30, 2016,
primarily due to a 46%, or $1.20 per Mcf, decrease in our realized natural gas price (including derivatives), a 16 Bcfe
decrease in production and decreases in our realized oil and NGL prices. These decreases were partially offset by a
$346 million decrease in operating costs and expenses, resulting primarily from a $352 million decrease in DD&A, a
$37 million decrease in operating expenses and an $8 million decrease in taxes other than income, partially offset by a
$52 million increase in general and administrative expenses. For the six months ended June 30, 2016, general and
administrative expenses and taxes other than income included $69 million and $3 million, respectively, related to
restructuring charges. In May 2015, we sold our conventional oil and gas assets located in East Texas and the
Arkoma Basin that had minimal impact on our operating income (loss) for the three and six months ended June 30,
2015, respectively.
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Operating Costs and Expenses

Lease operating expenses per Mcfe for the E&P segment were $0.87 for the three months ended June 30, 2016,
compared to $0.93 for the same period in 2015. For the six months ended June 30, 2016, lease operating expenses
decreased to $0.88, compared to $0.93 for the same period in 2015. Lease operating expenses per Mcfe decreased for
the three and six months ended June 30, 2016, as compared to the same periods of 2015 primarily due to decreased
workover activity and contract services as well as the successful renegotiation of our existing gathering and
processing rates in Southwest Appalachia.

Excluding the restructuring charges associated primarily with our workforce reduction, general and administrative
expenses for the E&P segment were $0.21 per Mcfe for the three months ended June 30, 2016 and 2015. General and
administrative cost reductions were offset by decreased production volumes. In total, excluding restructuring charges,
general and administrative expenses for the E&P segment were $46 million for the three months ended June 30, 2016,
compared to $52 million for the three months ended June 30, 2015. Including restructuring charges, general and
administrative costs for three months ended June 30, 2016 were $57 million for our E&P segment. Excluding the
restructuring charges associated primarily with our workforce reduction, general and administrative expenses for the
E&P segment were $0.20 per Mcfe for the six months ended June 30, 2016, compared to $0.22 per Mcfe for the same
period in 2015, primarily due to the decrease in employee costs. In total, excluding restructuring charges, general and
administrative expenses for the E&P segment were $91 million for the six months ended June 30, 2016, compared to
$108 million for the six months ended June 30, 2015. Including restructuring charges, general and administrative
costs for the six months ended June 30, 2016 were $160 million for our E&P segment.

Taxes other than income taxes per Mcfe were $0.09 for the three months ended June 30, 2016, compared to $0.10 for
the same period in 2015. Taxes other than income taxes per Mcfe were $0.09 for the six months ended June 30, 2016
(excluding $3 million related to restructuring charges), compared to $0.11 for the same period in 2015. Taxes other
than income taxes per Mcfe vary from period to period due to changes in severance and ad valorem taxes that result
from the mix of our production volumes and fluctuations in commodity prices.

Our full cost pool amortization rate averaged $0.35 per Mcfe for the three months ended June 30, 2016, compared to
$1.13 per Mcfe for the same period in 2015. For the first six months of 2016, our full cost pool amortization rate
averaged $0.42 per Mcfe, compared to $1.14 per Mcfe for the same period in 2015. The amortization rate is impacted
by the timing and amount of reserve additions and the costs associated with those additions, revisions of previous
reserve estimates due to both price and well performance, write-downs that result from full cost ceiling impairments,
proceeds from the sale of properties that reduce the full cost pool and the level of costs subject to amortization. We
cannot predict our future full cost pool amortization rate with accuracy due to the variability of each of the factors
discussed above, as well as other factors, including but not limited to the uncertainty of the amount of future reserve
changes.
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Unevaluated costs excluded from amortization were $3.4 billion at June 30, 2016, compared to $3.7 billion at
December 31, 2015. The decrease in unevaluated costs primarily resulted from our evaluation of a portion of our New
Ventures assets.

Midstream

For the three  For the six

months ended months ended

June 30, June 30,

2016 2015 2016 2015

($ in millions, except volumes)
Marketing revenues $462 $ 641 $980 $ 1,442
Gas gathering revenues $97 $ 125 $200 $ 262
Marketing purchases $ 452 $ 624 $955 $ 1,410
Operating costs and expenses (1) $ 50 $ 65 $ 108 $ 129
Gain on sale of assets, net $ - $278 $ - $ 278
Operating income $57 $355 $ 117 $ 443
Volumes marketed (Bcfe) 271 289 550 549
Volumes gathered (Bcf) 154 201 318 434

(1) Includes less than $1 million and $3 million of restructuring charges for the three and six months ended June 30,
2016, respectively.

35

131



Edgar Filing: LOEWS CORP - Form 424B4

Table of Contents

Revenues

Revenues from our marketing activities were down 28% to $462 million for the three months ended June 30, 2016,
compared to the same period in 2015, and were down 32% to $980 million for the six months ended June 30, 2016,
compared to the same period in 2015. For the three months ended June 30, 2016, the price received for volumes
marketed decreased 23% and the volumes marketed decreased 6%, compared to the same period in 2015. For the six
months ended June 30, 2016, the price received for volumes decreased 32%. Increases and decreases in marketing
revenues due to changes in commodity prices are largely offset by corresponding changes in marketing purchase
expenses. Of the total natural gas volumes marketed, production from our affiliated E&P operated wells accounted
for 94% and 96% of the natural gas marketed volumes for the three months ended June 30, 2016 and 2015,
respectively. For six months ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, production from our affiliated E&P operated wells
accounted for 95% and 97%, respectively, of our total natural gas volumes marketed. Our Midstream segment
marketed approximately 65% and 64% of our combined o0il and NGL production for the three months ended June 30,
2016 and 2015, respectively, and 66% and 54% of our combined oil and NGL production for the six months ended
June 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively.

Revenues from our gathering activities were down 22% to $97 million for the three months ended June 30, 2016,
compared to the same period in 2015, and down 24% to $200 million for the six months ended June 30, 2016,
compared to the same period in 2015. The decrease in gathering revenues for the three and six months ended June 30,
2016 was primarily due to decreased volumes in the Fayetteville Shale and the divestiture of our northeast
Pennsylvania and East Texas gathering assets in 2015. The divested gathering assets accounted for $2 million and
$21 million of our gathering revenues for the three and six months ended June 30, 2015, respectively.

Operating Income

Operating income from our Midstream segment decreased to $57 million for the three months ended June 30, 2016,
compared to $355 million for the same period in 2015, primarily due to a $278 million gain on sale of assets, net in
2015, related to the divestitures of our northeastern Pennsylvania and East Texas gathering assets. Excluding the net
gain on sale, our Midstream segment operating income decreased 26% for the three months ended June 30, 2016 due
to a $28 million decrease in gas gathering revenues and a $7 million decrease in marketing margin, partially offset by
a $15 million decrease in operating costs and expenses. Operating income decreased to $117 million for the six
months ended June 30, 2016, compared to $443 million for the same period in 2015, primarily due to a $278 gain on
sale of assets, net in 2015. Excluding the net gain on sale, our Midstream segment operating income decreased 29%
for the six months ended June 30, 2016 due to a $62 million decrease in gas gathering revenues and a $7 million
decrease in marketing margin, partially offset by a $21 million decrease in operating costs and expenses. The divested
northeastern Pennsylvania and East Texas gathering assets accounted for less than $1 million and $13 million of our
operating income for the three and six months ended June 30, 2015, respectively.
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The margin generated from marketing activities was $10 million and $17 million for the three months ended June 30,
2016 and 2015. The margin generated from gas marketing activities was $25 million and $32 million for the six
months ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively. Margins are driven primarily by volumes marketed and may
fluctuate depending on the prices paid for commodities and the ultimate disposition of those commodities. We enter
into hedging activities from time to time with respect to our natural gas marketing activities to provide margin
protection. For more information about our derivatives and risk management activities, we refer you to Item 3,
“Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risks” included in this Quarterly Report for additional
information.

Restructuring Charges

In January 2016, we announced a 40% workforce reduction that was substantially concluded by the end of March
2016. In April 2016, we also partially restructured executive management. Affected employees were offered a
severance package that included a one-time cash payment depending on length of service and, if applicable,
accelerated vesting of outstanding stock-based equity awards. As a result of the workforce reduction and executive
management restructuring, we recognized restructuring charges of $11 million and $75 million for the three and six
months ended June 30, 2016, respectively.
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Interest Expense

Interest expense, net of capitalization, was $17 million for the three months ended June 30, 2016, compared to $1
million for the same period in 2015, and $31 million for the six months ended June 30, 2016, compared to $52 million
for the same period in 2015. Gross interest expense increased to $58 million for the three months ended June 30, 2016,
compared to $55 million for the same period in 2015, primarily due to an increase in our cost of debt. For the six
months ended June 30, 2016, gross interest expense increased to $113 million, up from $107 million for the six
months ended June 30, 2015, excluding a $47 million charge for unamortized fees associated with the repayment of
our bridge facility in the first quarter of 2015. We capitalized interest of $41 million and $54 million for the three
months ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively, and capitalized interest of $82 million and $102 million for the
six months ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively. The decrease in capitalized interest for the three and six
months ended June 30, 2016, compared to the same periods in 2015, was primarily due to the evaluation of a portion
of our Southwest Appalachia assets, acquired in December 2014.

Gain (Loss) on Derivatives

In general, our derivatives are not designated for hedge accounting treatment. Changes in the fair value of derivatives
that are not designated for hedge accounting are recorded in gain (loss) on derivatives. We recorded an $85 million net
loss on our derivatives for the three months ended June 30, 2016, consisting of a $108 million loss on unsettled
derivatives, partially offset by a $23 million gain on settled derivatives. For the three months ended June 30, 2015, we
recorded a $1 million net gain on our derivatives, consisting of a $51 million gain on settled derivatives, partially
offset by a $50 million loss on unsettled derivatives. We recorded a $99 million net loss on our derivatives for the six
months ended June 30, 2016, consisting of a $129 million loss on unsettled derivatives, partially offset by a $30
million gain on settled derivatives. For the six months ended June 30, 2015, we recorded a $15 million net gain on
our derivatives, consisting of an $86 million gain on settled derivatives, partially offset by a $71 million loss on
unsettled derivatives. We refer you to Note 7 to the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements included
in this Quarterly Report for additional details about our gain (loss) on derivatives. In general and without
consideration of volatility or duration, as natural gas prices increase from June 30, 2016 levels, we will recognize
losses in future periods and, likewise, as natural gas prices decline from June 30, 2016 levels, we will recognize gains
in future periods on our derivative contracts not accounted for under hedge accounting prior to settlement.

Income Taxes

Our effective tax rate was approximately zero and 38% for the six months ended June 30, 2016 and 2015,
respectively. We recorded an income tax benefit of $1 million and $493 million for the three months ended June 30,
2016 and 2015, respectively. We recorded an income tax benefit of $444 million for the six months ended June 30,
2015. The low effective income tax rate at June 30, 2016 was the result of our recognition of a valuation allowance
that reduced the deferred tax asset primarily related to our current net operating loss carryforward. A valuation
allowance for deferred tax assets, including net operating losses, is recognized when it is more likely than not that
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some or all of the benefit from the deferred tax asset will not be realized.

New Accounting Standards Implemented in this Report

Refer to Note 16 to the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements of this Quarterly Report for a
discussion of new accounting standards which have been implemented.

New Accounting Standards Not Yet Implemented in this Report

Refer to Note 16 to the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements of this Quarterly Report for a
discussion of new accounting standards which have not yet been implemented.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

We depend primarily on internally generated funds, our cash and cash equivalents balance, funds accessed through our
$1,191 million term loan facility, our $809 million revolving credit facilities and capital markets as our primary
sources of liquidity.

In June 2016, we took significant steps in managing our maturities and liquidity by entering into amendments of our
bank credit facilities, which had the effect of extending the maturities by two years until late 2020. We also entered
into a definitive agreement with a third party to sell approximately 55,000 net acres in West Virginia for $450
million. We expect this sale to be completed in the third quarter of 2016. In July 2016, we completed a public
offering of 98,900,000
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shares of our common stock, with net proceeds totaling approximately $1,247 million after underwriting discounts and
offering expenses. Of the funds received from the common stock offering, $375 million was used to pay down a
portion of our $750 million term loan entered into in November 2015, extending its maturity through 2020, and up to
$750 million was reserved to fund tender offers for certain of our outstanding senior notes. On July 20, 2016, we
used a portion of the proceeds from the July 2016 equity offering to settle certain tender offers by purchasing an
aggregate principal amount of approximately $700 million of our outstanding senior notes due in the first quarter of
2018. In addition to the $1.1 billion of debt reduction, a portion of the funds from the equity issuance and the sale of
the West Virginia acreage should enable us supplement our 2016 capital budget (discussed below under “Capital
Investments”).

In the first half of 2016, we decreased activity in the Appalachian Basin and Fayetteville Shale as a result of the low
commodity price environment. Based on current forward pricing, along with the successful implementation of our

debt reduction strategy, we expect to begin increasing our activity in the third quarter of 2016, continuing throughout
the remainder of the year. Although we have the financial flexibility to draw on the funds available under our

revolving credit facility as necessary, we are committed to our capital discipline strategy of investing within our cash
flow from operations, supplemented by the remaining funds, after debt reduction, from the July 2016 equity issuance
and our recently-announced asset sale in West Virginia (discussed below under “Capital Investments™). We refer you to
Note 10 of the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements included in this Quarterly Report and the

section below under “Financing Requirements” for additional discussion of our credit facilities.

At June 30, 2016, prior to the July 2016 equity offering and subsequent tender offers, our capital structure consisted of
89% net debt and 11% equity (including $998 million in cash and cash equivalents and excluding $36 million and $3
million of unamortized issuance cost and unamortized debt discount, respectively). We believe that our operating cash
flow and available cash and cash equivalents along with our funds under our revolving credit facilities will be
adequate to meet our capital and operating requirements for the remainder of 2016. The credit status of the financial
institutions participating in our revolving credit facilities could adversely impact our ability to borrow funds under the
revolving credit facilities. Although we believe all of the lenders under the facilities have the ability to provide funds,
we cannot predict whether each will be able to meet their obligation to us. We refer you to the section below under
“Financing Requirements” for additional discussion of our compliance with the covenants of our term loans and
revolving credit facilities.

Net cash provided by operating activities decreased 82% to $165 million for the six months ended June 30, 2016,
down from $940 million for the same period in 2015, primarily due to a decrease in net income adjusted for non-cash
expenses and changes in working capital accounts. During the six months ended June 30, 2016, requirements for our
capital investments were funded primarily from our cash generated by operating activities, net proceeds from
borrowings under our revolving credit facility, commercial paper, and cash and cash equivalents. For the six months
ended June 30, 2016, net cash generated from operating activities provided 84% of our cash requirements for capital
investments, compared to 59% for the same period in 2015.

Our cash flow from operating activities is highly dependent upon the sales prices that we receive for our natural gas
and liquids production. Natural gas, oil and NGL prices are subject to wide fluctuations and are driven by market
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supply and demand, which is impacted by many factors. The sales price we receive for our production is also
influenced by our commodity hedging activities. See “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risks” in
Item 3 and Note 7 to the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements included in this Quarterly Report for
further details. Our commodity hedging activities are subject to the credit risk of our counterparties being financially
unable to complete the transaction. We actively monitor the credit status of our counterparties, performing both
quantitative and qualitative assessments based on their credit ratings and credit default swap rates where applicable,
and to date have not had any credit defaults associated with our transactions. However, any future failures by one or
more counterparties could negatively impact our cash flow from operating activities.

Additionally, our short-term cash flows are dependent on the timely collection of receivables from our customers and
co-owners. We actively manage this risk through credit management activities and, through the date of this filing
have not experienced any significant write-offs for non-collectable amounts. However, any sustained inaccessibility
of credit by our customers and co-owners could adversely impact our cash flows.

Due to these above factors, we are unable to forecast with certainty our future level of cash flow from

operations. Accordingly, we will adjust our discretionary uses of cash dependent upon available cash flow. Further,
we may from time to time seek to retire or rearrange some or all of our outstanding debt or preferred stock through
cash purchases, and/or exchanges, open market purchases, privately negotiated transactions, tender offers or
otherwise. Such transactions, if any, will depend on prevailing market conditions, our liquidity requirements,
contractual restrictions and other factors. The amounts involved may be material.
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Capital Investments

Our capital investments were $196 million and $1.6 billion for the six months ended June 30, 2016 and 2015,
respectively. Capital investments for the six months ended June 30, 2015 included $635 million, in total, related to
acquisitions from WPX Energy, Inc. and Statoil ASA. Our E&P segment investments were $193 million and $1.4
billion for the six months ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively. Our E&P segment capitalized internal costs of
$49 million for the six months ended June 30, 2016 compared to $165 million for the comparable period in

2015. These internal costs were directly related to acquisition, exploration and development activities and are
included as part of the cost of natural gas and oil properties.

The remaining funds, after debt reduction, from the equity issuance and the anticipated sale of the long-dated
undeveloped West Virginia acreage should enable us to supplement our 2016 capital budget, allowing us the
opportunity to complete many of our drilled but uncompleted wells and resume drilling on our high PVI projects.
Although our 2016 capital investment program is expected to be funded through cash flow from operations along with
our cash and cash equivalents, we have the financial flexibility to utilize borrowings under our revolving credit
facilities.

Financing Requirements

Our total debt outstanding was $5.8 billion at June 30, 2016, compared to $4.7 billion at December 31, 2015. Our
total debt net of cash and cash equivalents was $4.8 billion at June 30, 2016, compared to $4.7 billion at December 31,
2015. We have taken steps to reduce our total debt outstanding, which is discussed further below.

In July 2016, we consummated an underwritten offering of 98,900,000 shares of our common stock pursuant to an
effective registration statement filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, with net proceeds of the offering
totaling approximately $1,247 million after underwriting discounts and offering expenses. The proceeds from the
offering were used to repay $375 million of the $750 million term loan entered into in November 2015 and to settle
certain tender offers by purchasing an aggregate principal amount of approximately $700 million of our outstanding
senior notes due in the first quarter of 2018. The remaining net proceeds of the offering will be used for general
corporate purposes, including the repayment of additional indebtedness outstanding under the 2015 term loan, the
completion of wells already drilled or the funding of other capital projects.

At June 30, 2016, prior to the July 2016 equity offering and subsequent tender offers, our capital structure consisted of
89% net debt and 11% equity (including $998 million in cash and cash equivalents and excluding $36 million and $3
million of unamortized issuance cost and unamortized debt discount, respectively), compared to 67% net debt and
33% equity (including $15 million in cash and cash equivalents) at December 31, 2015.
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At July 19, 2016, we had a long-term issuer credit rating of Ba3 by Moody’s and a long-term debt rating of BB- by
S&P. Any downgrades in our public debt ratings by Moody’s or S&P could increase our cost of funds and decrease
our liquidity under our revolving credit facilities.

In June 2016, we reduced our existing $2.0 billion unsecured revolving credit facility down to $66 million and entered
into a new credit agreement for $1,934 million, consisting of a $1,191 million secured term loan and a new unsecured
$743 million revolving credit facility, which matures in December 2020. The $1,191 million secured term loan is
fully drawn, with approximately $285 million of this balance used to pay down the previous revolving credit facility
balance in its entirety. As of June 30, 2016, there were no borrowings under either revolving credit facility; however,
there was $169 million in letters of credit outstanding against the 2016 revolving credit facility.

Loans under the 2016 credit agreement are subject to varying rates of interest based on whether the loan is a
Eurodollar loan or an alternate base rate loan. Eurodollar loans bear interest at the Eurodollar rate, which is adjusted
LIBOR plus applicable margins ranging from 1.750% to 2.500%. Alternate base rate loans bear interest at the
alternate base rate plus the applicable margin ranging from 0.750% to 1.500%. The interest rate on the term loan
facility is determined based upon our public debt ratings and was 250.0 basis points over LIBOR as of June 30, 2016.
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Our 2016 credit agreement contains financial covenants that impose certain restrictions on us. Under our revolving
credit and term loan facilities, we must keep a minimum interest coverage of 0.75x in 2016, increasing by 0.25x
increments to 1.50x in 2019 and 2020. We are also subject to a minimum liquidity requirement of $300 million,
which could be increased up to $500 million upon certain conditions, as well as an anti-hoarding provision, requiring
unrestricted cash in excess of $100 million to pay down any amounts borrowed under the new revolving credit
facility. The financial covenant with respect to minimum interest coverage consists of EBITDAX divided by
consolidated interest expense. EBITDAX excludes the effects of interest expense, income taxes, depreciation,
depletion and amortization, any non-cash impacts from impairments, certain non-cash hedging activities, stock-based
compensation expense, non-cash gains or losses on asset sales, unamortized issuance cost, unamortized debt discount
and restructuring costs. Collateral for the new secured term loan is principally E&P properties in the Fayetteville
Shale area. This collateral also may support all or a part of revolving credit extensions depending on restrictions in
our senior notes indentures and requires a minimum collateral coverage ratio of 1.50x.

The existing unsecured 2013 revolving credit facility includes a financial covenant under which we may not issue total
debt in excess of 60% of our total adjusted book capital. This financial covenant with respect to capitalization
percentages excludes the effects of any full cost ceiling impairments, certain hedging activities and our pension and
other postretirement liabilities.

As of June 30, 2016, we were in compliance with all of the covenants of the term loan and revolving credit
facilities. Although we do not anticipate any violations of the financial covenants, our ability to comply with these
covenants is dependent upon the success of our exploration and development program and upon factors beyond our
control, such as the market prices for natural gas and liquids.

In November 2015, we entered into a $750 million unsecured three-year term loan credit agreement with various
lenders that was used to repay borrowings under the existing revolving credit facility. The interest rate on the term
loan facility is determined based upon our public debt ratings from Moody’s and S&P and was 250 basis points over
LIBOR as of June 30, 2016. The term loan facility requires prepayment under certain circumstances from the net cash
proceeds of sales of equity or certain assets and borrowings outside the ordinary course of business. In June 2016, the
2015 term loan agreement was amended to extend the maturity date, pending a certain repayment threshold. As a
result of our July 2016 equity offering, we repaid $375 million of the $750 million term loan, which had the effect of
extending its maturity from November 2018 to December 2020.

In January 2015, we completed concurrent underwritten public offerings of 30,000,000 shares of common stock and
34,500,000 depositary shares (both share counts include shares issued as a result of the underwriters exercising their
options to purchase additional shares). Net proceeds from the offerings totaled approximately $2.3 billion after
underwriting discount and expenses. Each depositary share represents a 1/20th interest in a share of our mandatory
convertible preferred stock, with a liquidation preference of $1,000 per share (equivalent to a $50 liquidation
preference per depositary share). The proceeds from the offerings were used to partially repay borrowings under a
$4.5 billion 364-day bridge facility that we entered into in December 2014 in connection with our acquisition of assets
in Southwest Appalachia, with the remaining balance fully repaid with proceeds from our January 2015 public
offering of $2.2 billion in senior notes.
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The mandatory convertible preferred stock entitles the holders to a proportional fractional interest in the rights and
preferences of the convertible preferred stock, including conversion, dividend, liquidation and voting

rights. Dividends are to be paid at a rate of 6.25% per annum on the liquidation preference of $1,000 per share and
can be paid in cash, common stock or a combination of both. Unless converted earlier at the option of the holders, on
or around January 15, 2018 each share of convertible preferred stock will automatically convert into between 37.0028
and 43.4782 shares of our common stock (and, correspondingly, each depositary share will convert into between
1.85014 and 2.17391 shares of our common stock), subject to customary anti-dilution adjustments, depending on the
volume-weighted average price of our common stock over a 20 trading-day period immediately prior to that date.

Our mandatory convertible preferred stock has the non-forfeitable right to participate on an as-converted basis at the
conversion rate then in effect in any common stock dividends declared and as such, is considered a participating
security. As such, it is included in the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share, pursuant to the two-class
method. In the calculation of basic earnings per share attributable to common shareholders, participating securities
are allocated earnings based on actual dividend distributions received plus a proportionate share of undistributed net
income attributable to common shareholders, if any, after recognizing distributed earnings.
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In January 2015, we completed a public offering of $350 million aggregate principal amount of our 3.30% senior
notes due 2018 (the “2018 Notes”), $850 million aggregate principal amount of our 4.05% senior notes due 2020 (the
2020 Notes”) and $1.0 billion aggregate principal amount of our 4.95% senior notes due 2025 (the “2025 Notes” and
together with the 2018 and 2020 Notes, the “Notes”), with net proceeds from the offering totaling approximately $2.2
billion after underwriting discounts and offering expenses. The proceeds from the sale of the Notes were used to
repay all principal and interest remaining outstanding under our $4.5 billion 364-day bridge facility, which was first
reduced with proceeds from our concurrent underwritten public offerings of common stock and depositary

shares. Proceeds from the sale of the Notes were also used to repay a portion of amounts outstanding under our
existing revolving credit facility. The Notes were sold to the public at a price of 99.949% of their face value for the
2018 Notes, 99.897% of their face value for the 2020 Notes and 99.782% of their face value for the 2025 Notes. The
interest rates on the Notes are determined based on our public bond ratings from Moody’s and S&P. Downgrades on
the Notes from either rating agency increase our interest costs by 25.0 basis points per downgrade level on the
following semi-annual bond interest payment. Based on the February and June 2016 downgrades from Moody’s and
S&P, our interest rates on these Notes will increase by 175.0 basis points effective July 2016. On July 20, 2016, we
used a portion of the proceeds from the July 2016 equity offering to settle certain tender offers by purchasing an
aggregate principal amount of approximately $700 million of our outstanding senior notes due in the first quarter of
2018.

Our derivative contracts allow us to ensure a certain level of cash flow to fund our operations. Excluding basis swaps,
at July 19, 2016, we had commodity price derivatives in place on 93 Bcf of our remaining targeted 2016 natural gas
production and 228 Bcf on our targeted 2017 natural gas production. The amount of long-term debt we incur will be
largely dependent upon commodity prices and our capital investment plans.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We may enter into off-balance sheet arrangements and transactions that can give rise to material off-balance sheet
obligations. As of June 30, 2016, our material off-balance sheet arrangements and transactions include operating lease
arrangements. There are no other transactions, arrangements or other relationships with unconsolidated entities or
other persons that are reasonably likely to materially affect our liquidity or availability of our capital resources. For
more information regarding off-balance sheet arrangements, we refer you to “Contractual Obligations and Contingent
Liabilities and Commitments” in our 2015 Annual Report.

Contractual Obligations and Contingent Liabilities and Commitments

We have various contractual obligations in the normal course of our operations and financing activities. Other than
the firm transportation agreements discussed below, there have been no material changes to our contractual
obligations from those disclosed in our 2015 Annual Report.

Contingent Liabilities and Commitments
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As of June 30, 2016, our contractual obligations for demand and similar charges under firm transportation and
gathering agreements to guarantee access capacity on natural gas and liquids pipelines and gathering systems totaled
approximately $8.6 billion, $3.3 billion of which related to access capacity on future pipeline and gathering

infrastructure projects that still require the granting of regulatory approvals and/or additional construction

efforts. This amount also included guarantee obligations of up to $861 million. As of June 30, 2016, future payments
under non-cancelable firm transportation and gathering agreements are as follows:

Infrastructure Currently in Service

Pending Regulatory Approval and/or Construction (1)

Total Transportation Charges

Payments Due by Period

Less

than1 1to3 3t05
Total Year Years Years

(in millions)
$ 5243 $561 $ 1,136 $ 883
3,338 13 231 452

5to8
Years

$ 852
672

More
than 8
Years

$ 1,811
1,970

$ 8581 $574 $ 1367 $ 1,335 $ 1,524 § 3,781

(1) Based on the estimated in-service dates as of June 30, 2016.
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Substantially all of our employees are covered by defined benefit and postretirement benefit plans. For the six months
ended June 30, 2016, we have contributed $6 million to the pension and postretirement benefit plans. We expect to
contribute an additional $5 million to our pension and postretirement benefit plans during the remainder of 2016. As
of June 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, we recognized a liability of $52 million and $51 million, respectively, as a
result of the underfunded status of our pension and other postretirement benefit plans. See Note 12 to the unaudited
condensed consolidated financial statements included in this Quarterly Report for additional discussion about our
pension and other postretirement benefits.

We are subject to litigation, claims and proceedings that arise in the ordinary course of business, such as for alleged
breaches of contract, miscalculation of royalties and pollution, contamination or nuisance. Management believes that
such litigation, claims and proceedings, individually or in aggregate and after taking into account insurance, are not
likely to have a material adverse impact on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows. Many of these
matters are in early stages, so the allegations and the damage theories have not been fully developed, and are all
subject to inherent uncertainties; therefore, management’s view may change in the future. If an unfavorable final
outcome were to occur, there exists the possibility of a material impact on our financial position, results of operations
or cash flows for the period in which the effect becomes reasonably estimable. We accrue for such items when a
liability is both probable and the amount can be reasonably estimated. For further information, we refer you to “Legal
Proceedings” in Item 1 of Part II of this Quarterly Report.

We are also subject to laws and regulations relating to the protection of the environment. Environmental and cleanup
related costs of a non-capital nature are accrued when it is both probable that a liability has been incurred and when
the amount can be reasonably estimated. Management believes any future remediation or other compliance related
costs will not have a material effect on our financial position or results of operations.

Working Capital

We maintain access to funds that may be needed to meet capital requirements through our cash and cash equivalents
and our revolving credit facility described in “Financing Requirements” above. We had positive working capital of
$687 million at June 30, 2016 and negative working capital of $314 million at December 31, 2015. The positive
working capital as of June 30, 2016 was primarily due to $998 million of cash and cash equivalents resulting from our
new term loan. The negative working capital as of December 31, 2015 was primarily due to a decrease in derivative
assets in 2015.

ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK.

Market risks relating to our operations result primarily from the volatility in commodity prices, basis differentials and
interest rates, as well as credit risk concentrations. We use fixed price swap agreements, fixed price options, basis
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swaps and interest rate swaps to reduce the volatility of earnings and cash flow due to fluctuations in the prices of
natural gas and interest rates. Our Board of Directors has approved risk management policies and procedures to
utilize financial products for the reduction of defined commodity price risk. Utilization of financial products for the
reduction of interest rate risks is subject to the approval of our Board of Directors. These policies prohibit speculation
with derivatives and limit swap agreements to counterparties with appropriate credit standings.

Credit Risk

Our financial instruments that are exposed to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of trade receivables and
derivative contracts associated with commodities trading. Concentrations of credit risk with respect to receivables are
limited due to the large number of our purchasers and their dispersion across geographic areas. No single purchaser
accounted for greater than 10% of revenues for the six months ended June 30, 2016. See “Commodities Risk” below for
discussion of credit risk associated with commodities trading.

Interest Rate Risk

AtJune 30, 2016, we had approximately $3.9 billion of outstanding senior notes with a weighted average interest
rate of 4.817%, $1,191 million of term loan facility debt with a variable interest rate of 2.94% and $750 million of
term loan facility debt with a variable interest rate of 2.93%. We currently have an interest rate swap in effect to
mitigate a portion of our exposure to volatility in interest rates.
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Expected Maturity Date

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 Thereafter Total
Fixed Rate Payments (1) $1 $ 41 $ 975 $ - $ 850 $ 2,000 $ 3,866
Weighted Average Interest 715 % 7.21 % 5.98 % - % 4.05 % 4.53 % 4.82 %
Rate
Variable Rate Payments (1) - - 750 - - - 1,941
Weighted Average Interest - % - % 2.93 % - % - % - % 2.94 %
Rate

(1) Excludes unamortized debt issuance costs and debt discounts.

Commodities Risk

We use over-the-counter fixed price swap agreements and options to protect sales of our production against the
inherent risks of adverse price fluctuations or locational pricing differences between a published index and the
NYMEX futures market. These swaps and options include transactions in which one party will pay a fixed price (or
variable price) for a notional quantity in exchange for receiving a variable price (or fixed price) based on a published
index (referred to as price swaps) and transactions in which parties agree to pay a price based on two different indices
(referred to as basis swaps). For additional information on our derivatives and risk management, see Note 7 in the
unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements included in this Quarterly Report.

The primary market risks relating to our derivative contracts are the volatility in market prices and basis differentials
for natural gas. However, the market price risk is offset by the gain or loss recognized upon the related sale or
purchase of the natural gas that is financially protected. Credit risk relates to the risk of loss as a result of
non-performance by our counterparties. The counterparties are primarily major banks and integrated energy
companies that management believes present minimal credit risks. The credit quality of each counterparty and the
level of financial exposure we have to each counterparty are closely monitored to limit our credit risk

exposure. Additionally, we perform both quantitative and qualitative assessments of these counterparties based on
their credit ratings and credit default swap rates where applicable. We have not incurred any counterparty losses
related to non-performance and do not anticipate any losses given the information we have currently. However, we
cannot be certain that we will not experience such losses in the future.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures.
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Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We have performed an evaluation under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures, as
defined in Rule 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act. Our disclosure controls and procedures are the
controls and other procedures that we have designed to ensure that we record, process, accumulate and communicate
information to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, to allow timely
decisions regarding required disclosures and submission within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and
forms. All internal control systems, no matter how well designed, have inherent limitations. Therefore, even those
determined to be effective can provide only a level of reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement
preparation and presentation. Based on the evaluation, our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer, concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of June 30, 2016 at a
reasonable assurance level.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)
under the Exchange Act) that occurred during the quarter ended June 30, 2016 that have materially affected, or are
reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II - OTHER INFORMATION

ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS.

Refer to “Litigation” and “Environmental Risk™ in Note 11 to the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements
included in Item 1 of Part I of this Quarterly Report for a discussion of the Company’s legal proceedings.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS.

Other than the following additional risk factor, there were no additions or material changes to our risk factors as
disclosed in Item 1A of Part I in the Company’s 2015 Annual Report.

Certain U.S. federal income tax deductions currently available with respect to oil and natural gas exploration and
production may be eliminated as a result of future legislation.

The elimination of certain key U.S. federal income tax deductions currently available to oil and natural gas
exploration and production companies has been proposed in recent years by members of the U.S. Congress and by the
President in his fiscal year 2017 budget proposal. These changes have included, among other proposals:

- repeal of the percentage depletion allowance for natural gas and oil properties;

- elimination of current deductions for intangible drilling and development costs;

- elimination of the deduction for certain domestic production activities; and

- extension of the amortization period for certain geological and geophysical expenditures.

In addition, the President’s fiscal year 2017 budget proposal includes the imposition of a new $10.25 per barrel fee on
certain oil production, to be paid by certain oil companies (without precise details regarding the implementation of
such fee). It is unclear whether these or similar changes will be enacted. The passage of these or any similar changes
in U.S. federal income tax laws to eliminate or postpone certain tax deductions that are currently available with
respect to oil and natural gas exploration and development could have an adverse effect on our financial position,
results of operations and cash flows.

ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS.
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Not applicable.

ITEM 3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES.

Not applicable.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES.

Our sand mining operations in support of our E&P business are subject to regulation by the Federal Mine Safety and
Health Administration under the Federal Mine Safety and Health Act of 1977. Information concerning mine safety
violations or other regulatory matters required by Section 1503(a) of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and
Consumer Protection Act and Item 104 of Regulation S-K (17 CFR 229.106) is included in Exhibit 95.1 to this
Quarterly Report.

ITEM 5. OTHER INFORMATION.

Not applicable.
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ITEM 6. EXHIBITS.

(10.1)
(10.2)*
(10.3)*

(10.4)

(10.5)

(10.6)

(10.7)

3l.1)*
(31.2)*
(32.1)*

(32.2)*

(95.1)*
(101.INS)

First Amendment to Southwestern Energy Company 2013 Incentive Plan. (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 20, 2016)

Retirement Agreement dated May 19, 2016 between Southwestern Energy Company and Jeffrey B.
Sherrick

Amendment to Awards Agreement dated May 19, 2016 between Southwestern Energy Company and
Jeffrey B. Sherrick

Amended and Restated Term Loan Credit Agreement, dated June 27, 2016 among Southwestern Energy
Company, Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative Agent, and the lenders from time to time party
thereto. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit A to Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form
8-K filed on June 27, 2016)

Credit Agreement, dated June 27, 2016 among Southwestern Energy Company, JPMorgan Chase Bank,
N.A., as Administrative Agent, and the lenders from time to time party thereto. (Incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 27, 2016)

Amendment and Restatement Agreement, dated June 27, 2016 among Southwestern Energy Company,
Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative Agent, and the lenders party thereto, giving effect to the
Amended and Restated Term Loan Credit Agreement. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the
Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 27, 2016)

Amendment No. 1 to Credit Agreement, dated as of June 27, 2016 among Southwestern Energy
Company, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent, and the lenders party thereto.
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit A to Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K
filed on June 27, 2016)

Certification of CEO filed pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of CFO filed pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of CEO furnished pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of CFO furnished pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Mine Safety Disclosure

Interactive Data File Instance Document

(101.SCH) Interactive Data File Schema Document
(101.CAL) Interactive Data File Calculation Linkbase Document
(101.LAB) Interactive Data File Label Linkbase Document

(101.PRE)

Interactive Data File Presentation Linkbase Document

(101.DEF) Interactive Data File Definition Linkbase Document

*Filed herewith

Signatures
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Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be

signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

SOUTHWESTERN ENERGY COMPANY

Registrant

Dated: July
21,
2016
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/s/ R. CRAIG OWEN

R. Craig Owen
Senior Vice President
and Chief Financial Officer
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